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Dear Shareholders and stakeholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Ta Yang Group
Holdings Limited (the “"Company”), | am pleased to present the
annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was primarily
engaged in (i) the designing and manufacturing of silicone rubber
products (“Silicone Rubber Business”); (ii) the provision of
international digital marketing services (“Digital Marketing
Business”); (i) the operation of retail business in the UK (“Retail
Business”); and (iv) the provision of healthcare and hotel services
(“Healthcare and Hotel Business”).

In 2024, the global economy experienced a gradual recovery in
overall growth rates after several years of turbulence. The trade
activities in major economies such as China, the United States,
and the European Union have been driven by gradual restoration
of international supply chains, the rebound in market demand, and
the change in trade policies among countries. As the Group's core
business, the Silicone Rubber Business has provided high-quality
silicone rubber products to customers in China, Japan, the United
States and Europe, maintaining stable levels in both domestic sales
and export shares. The overseas Retail Business, through continuous
operational exploration, completed an asset restructuring in the
second half of 2024. While ensuring sustained and stable operations,
it will leverage e-commerce models to expand its sales channels.
The Digital Marketing Business, as a new segment of the Group,
continued to provide efficient advertising and digital marketing
services for brands and clients. Looking back over the past year,
despite facing numerous uncontrollable external factors, the Group
actively pursued business development, continuously innovated and
broke through challenges, striving to maximize revenue and profits
through resource integration. For the upcoming year, the Group has
resolved to (i) broaden the range of silicone rubber products, expand
the application of new silicone technologies, and enhance brand
influence; (i) maintain existing customer resources, provide precise
advertising services and internet marketing solutions, and improve
segment profitability; and (iii) operate the overseas retail business
by leveraging the emerging advantages of overseas e-commerce
platforms to fully expand sales performance.
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TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the results of the Group
recorded: (i) revenue of approximately HK$970,061,000 (2023:
approximately HK$1,213,830,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 20.08% compared to the same period in 2023; (i) an
annual loss of approximately HK$53,139,000 (2023: approximately
HK$85,709,000), reflecting a reduction of approximately 38.00%
compared to the same period in 2023; and (i) a loss per share of
approximately HK4.87 cents (2023: approximately HK6.74 cents),
representing a decrease of approximately 27.74% compared to the
same period in 2023.

OUTLOOK

According to forecasts by the International Monetary Fund (IMF),
global GDP growth in 2025 is projected to be around 3.1%-3.3%,
showing an increase compared to 2024 but still remaining below
pre-pandemic levels. Among major economies, developed regions
such as the U.S., Europe, and Japan are expected to grow at less
than 2%, while emerging markets like Brazil, India, and Southeast
Asia are likely to maintain growth rates of 4%-5%. Additionally,
inflation and diverging global monetary policies may lead to interest
rate fluctuations. As a leading exporter of silicone products, China’s
export sales and profit margins of silicone sales will be influenced by
changes in the international economic landscape.

Amidst numerous uncontrollable external factors, the Group will
focus on strengthening its core silicone business, ensuring product
quality and production efficiency while maintaining existing customer
relationships and actively developing new high-quality clients. The
silicone segment will consolidate its technological advantages,
leveraging cutting-edge expertise and premium products to sustain
market share. At the same time, the Group will continue to promote
green and intelligent manufacturing practices, aligning with global
carbon neutrality goals by advancing emission reductions and
resource recycling in its factories.

Concurrently, the Group is actively exploring potential business
opportunities driven by digital marketing technologies. As of 31
December 2024, the Group has started to launch live-streaming
operations in UK, with plans to establish a Multi-Channel Network
(MCN) business. The UK MCN operations will synergize with the
Group's existing digital marketing ventures, creating mutual
empowerment. By capitalizing on the global live-streaming trend, the
Group aims to build an influential streaming brand, generating new
revenue streams.
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Meanwhile, the Group will continue to operate the Retail Business in
the United Kingdom. It is believed that the retail segment will deliver
strong cash flow generation in 2025.

From the perspective of sustainable operation, the Group will
implement comprehensive management strategies, including
optimizing revenue structures, enhancing technological innovation,
maintaining supply chain stability, and strengthening its ESG
(Environmental, Social, and Governance) strategy. Additionally,
the Group will streamline its organizational framework, rationalize
its cash flow and capital structure planning, and improve capital
utilization efficiency to maximize the net profit.

The Group will continue to optimize the existing business structure
and actively seek for new potential businesses to improve
performance and maximize returns. Should there be any progress,
the Company make further announcements in relation to such
potential business opportunities as and when appropriate.

FINAL DIVIDEND

No dividend for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil) is
recommended by the Board.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our sincere
appreciation to the support and trust of our business partners and
Shareholders for their support. | would also extend my gratitude and
appreciation to all the Directors, management and staff for their hard
work and dedication throughout the year.

Shi Qi
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Shi Qi, aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director
on 6 April 2016. Ms. Shi is the Chairlady, and a member of each
of the executive committee of the Company (the "Executive
Committee”), the nomination committee of the Company (the
(“Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee of
the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”). She has obtained
a master’s degree of business administration from Centenary
College, New Jersey, majoring in finance in May 2009. She has more
than 11 years of experiences in corporate reorganization, corporate
and project financing, investments in real estate, securities and
non- securities assets and risk management. In 2009, she founded
Seven Ocean Investments Limited (“Seven Ocean”), and under her
leadership, Seven Ocean has developed from a small scale financing
company to a company that principally engages in providing
financing and corporate solutions and consultancy services, and
large scale medical and healthcare development projects. In 2015,
she invested in the development of Central Maine Healthcare
Institute, which delivers quality healthcare services in Auburn, Maine
(USA). She will also be responsible for the on-going management
and daily operation of the Central Maine Healthcare Institute. She
has also invested in the construction of the Central Leisure Park*
(FFRARBEAE) in Tongzhou Xincheng* (& JNETA), Beijing, a public
infrastructure covering an area of approximately 42.62 hectares and
providing sports, entertainment, medical and healthcare related
services. She was responsible for financing, devising the conceptual
design and the implementation plan and monitoring and managing
the progress of the construction. She will also be responsible for the
project’s subsequent operation and maintenance for 30 years.

Ms. Shi, the sole director and the ultimate beneficial owner of the
controlling shareholder of the Company, is deemed to be interested
in 796,875,490 Shares, representing approximately 60.67% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the date of this annual
report.
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Mr. Li Jiuhua, aged 61, was appointed as an executive Director, the
Chief Executive Officer and the chairman of the Executive Committee
on 1 November 2022. Mr. Li graduated from the Xiamen University in
the PRC with a bachelor degree in Finance in 2003, and obtained a
master degree in business administration from the Jiangxi University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC in 2011. He has over 36 years
of experience in the securities and finance industries. He was (i)
the deputy chief executive officer of China Huarong International
Holdings Limited, a subsidiary of China Huarong Asset Management
Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code
of 2799) from March 2017 to August 2017; (i) an executive director
of Zhong Ji Longevity Science Group Limited (“Zhong Ji", a company
listed on the Stock Exchange with stock code of 767) from September
2017 to January 2020, and also the chief executive officer of Zhong
Ji from October 2017 to January 2020; (iii) the chairman of Zhong
Bang International Holdings Limited and the assistant to general
manager for Jiangxi Ganjiang Traditional Chinese Medicine Branch
Chuangcheng Construction Investment Group Co., Ltd. (ZFas8;LH

Bl Al R I E LB AR AR from February 2020 to November
2021; and (iv) the executive director and chief executive officer of
Zhong Ji from December 2021 to April 2022.

Mr. Gao Feng, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 6 April 2016 and re-designated as an executive Director on
13 November 2019. He has more than 12 years of experience in
corporate management. He has been the general manager of Beijing
Zhongmei Zhengchen Construction Co., Ltd.* (db A & IF [R =%
FR 22 7)), which mainly engages in real estate and construction since
2012. He was the general manager of Beijing Kaiyun Zhifeng Industry
and Trade Co., Ltd* (t mEl:& Z 1 T & AR A7) from 2009 to 2012.
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TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip, aged 47, was appointed as a non-
executive Director on 3 August 2020. He has over 18 years’
experience in auditing, financial accounting and reporting. He worked
in BDO Limited and KPMG from 2005 to 2014 and from 2014 to 2019
respectively. His last position with KPMG was a senior audit manager.
He is currently the senior vice president at the group finance
department of Mason Group Holdings Limited, acting as the group
financial controller and oversees all functions of the group’s finance
department. He holds a bachelor of information technology degree
in data communications from Queensland University of Technology
in Australia, and a master of practising accounting degree from
Monash University in Australia. He is also a member of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia.

Mr. Han Lei, aged 55, was appointed as a non-executive Director
on 6 April 2016. He has more than 23 years of entertainment and
performing experience in the music industry and had received
numerous awards in the industry. He has participated in CCTV Spring
Festival Evening Galas, charity performances, cultural and tourism
promotion performances, etc. Other than his entertainment career,
he also actively participates in various political associations and
social campaigns. He was a member of the tenth session of All-China
Youth Federation (2 2 B & F 5t & €). He was appointed as the
“Celebrity of Health*" (& §E & A) by the preceding Kang Yi wang*
(B 5 #9) and the image ambassador in “Yao Yang” public pension
project* ([#2F5 | &EE Az 8 ) conducted by Red Cross Society of
China.

Mr. Gu Shixiang, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 28 December 2022. Mr. Gu graduated from Anhui
Agricultural University and has over 20 years of experience in
management. He was last employed by China Landlord Group
Limited as the chief executive officer.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Siu Tat, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 4 April 2022. Mr. Chan is the chairman of each
of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
and the Nomination Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Committee. He graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is a certified public accountant (practising) of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He is
currently an executive director of International Business Settlement
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 147)) from September 2020. He was a partner
and Chief Investment Officer in an international private equity fund
from 2007 to 2011. Prior to working in corporations, he had around
5 years of audit experience with an international accounting firm. He
pOSsesses over 26 years of experience in corporate restructuring,
financial capital planning and corporate management.

Ms. Wang Lina, aged 42, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 22 April 2020. Ms. Wang is a member of the
Audit Committee. She graduated from Shanghai Lixin University of
Accounting (/837 {2 €5 EFx) in 2005 where she studied foreign
accounting, and obtained her bachelor’s degree in accountancy from
Northeast Forestry University (BRIEMZEKER) in 2014. From 2005 to
present, she has been the manager of finance department and the
senior manager of investment department for Shanghai Guoteng

Zhirui Co. Ltd.* (- /8B EEIRRIHEBR A R)).

Dr. Feng Xin, aged 45, is currently the executive director and
general manager of Hainan Zhongji Zhengxin Private Equity Fund
Management Co., Ltd.* (B EIEELEESERFRAA]). He
obtained a Doctorate degree majoring in Litigation Law from the
People’s Public Security University of China in July 2012.

* For identification purpose only
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TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

BUSINESS REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was primarily
engaged in (i) the designing and manufacturing of silicone rubber
products (“Silicone Rubber Business”); (ii) the provision of
international digital marketing services (“Digital Marketing
Business”); (iii) the operation of retail business in the UK (“Retail
Business”);, and (iv) the provision of healthcare and hotel services
("Healthcare and Hotel Business”).

In 2024, the global economy experienced a gradual recovery in
overall growth rates after several years of turbulence. The trade
activities in major economies such as China, the United States,
and the European Union have been driven by gradual restoration
of international supply chains, the rebound in market demand, and
the change in trade policies among countries. As the Group's core
business, the Silicone Rubber Business has provided high-quality
silicone rubber products to customers in China, Japan, the United
States and Europe, maintaining stable levels in both domestic sales
and export shares. The overseas Retail Business, through continuous
operational exploration, completed an asset restructuring in the
second half of 2024. While ensuring sustained and stable operations,
it will leverage e-commerce models to expand its sales channels.
The Digital Marketing Business, as a new segment of the Group,
continued to provide efficient advertising and digital marketing
services for brands and clients. Looking back over the past year,
despite facing numerous uncontrollable external factors, the Group
actively pursued business development, continuously innovated and
broke through challenges, striving to maximize revenue and profits
through resource integration. For the upcoming year, the Group has
resolved to (i) broaden the range of silicone rubber products, expand
the application of new silicone technologies, and enhance brand
influence; (i) maintain existing customer resources, provide precise
advertising services and internet marketing solutions, and improve
segment profitability; and (iii) operate the overseas retail business
by leveraging the emerging advantages of overseas e-commerce
platforms to fully expand sales performance.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the results of the Group
recorded: (i) revenue of approximately HK$970,061,000 (2023:
approximately HK$1,213,830,000), representing a decrease of
approximately 20.08% compared to the same period in 2023; (i) an
annual loss of approximately HK$53,139,000 (2023: approximately
HK$85,709,000), reflecting a reduction of approximately 38.00%
compared to the same period in 2023; and (iii) a loss per share of
approximately HK4.87 cents (2023: approximately HK6.74 cents),
representing a decrease of approximately 27.74% compared to the
same period in 2023.
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Silicone Rubber Business

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Silicone Rubber
Business remained one of the Group’s primary revenue sources,
consistently providing stable cash flow. With over three decades
of expertise in silicone rubber production, the Group has focused
on high-standard manufacturing and delivering premium-quality
products, earning the trust of customers worldwide over the years.
As a traditional manufacturing operator, the Group operates two
factories located in Dongguan and Huzhou, China, which feature
expansive facilities and advanced machinery. Additionally, the
factories’ research and development teams have been dedicated to
exploring new applications of silicone materials across various fields,
integrating traditional silicone production with cutting-edge silicone
technologies. The primary products of the Silicone Rubber Business
include silicone components, medical devices, consumer electronics
and accessories, automotive parts, sports equipment components,
maternal and infant products, kitchenware, and beauty products. As
China is the world’s largest producer and exporter of silicone rubber,
its silicone products hold a significant share in the global market.
The Group is the only listed company in Hong Kong with silicone
rubber as its core business, which has enabled it to maintain strong
partnerships with numerous renowned brands over the years. The
Group continues to supply high-quality silicone rubber products to
major manufacturers, with its products distributed across multiple
countries and regions in Asia, Europe, and the Americas.

International Digital Marketing Business

The International Digital Marketing Business is a new segment that
the Group ventured into in 2023. Unlike traditional manufacturing,
digital marketing is a modern approach driven by the continuous
development of internet big data and artificial intelligence.
The growth of this business has been fueled by technological
advancements, changes in consumer behavior, and evolving market
demands. In recent years, an increasing number of consumers
prefer to choose online shopping as their primary daily purchasing
channel, while the usage and reliance on social media have grown
significantly. As a result, major brands and businesses have shifted
their marketing focus to mainstream social media platforms and
large e-commerce platforms.
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TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Digital Marketing Business adeptly addresses the internet
marketing needs of businesses by leveraging vast amounts of
customer data to analyze user behavior, interests, and preferences
across different demographics. This enables precise advertising
placements and personalized marketing strategies. In practice, digital
marketing has helped various businesses accurately target customer
groups and achieve profit conversion, making it one of the most
recognized marketing methods today.

The Group has invested in Jusheng Technology Co., Ltd. in 2023.
Jusheng Technology is a professional digital marketing service
company specializing in advertising agency services, media
operation consulting, and more. Its current clientele includes
businesses and brands from industries such as finance, gaming,
automotive, education, and fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG).
Jusheng Technology offers creative advertising content for online
platforms, campaign management, media placement channels,
and scenario-based marketing strategies, providing effective digital
marketing solutions to drive corporate sales. Since its establishment,
Jusheng Technology has delivered high-quality integrated marketing
services to, many well known domestic brands, including Jiangzhong
Group, Yunnan Baiyao, and Fan Deng Reading. For details of the said
investment, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 24 August 2023 and 28 September 2023.

As a new segment of the Group, the International Digital Marketing
Business has been steadily accumulating premium client resources
and gaining a deep understanding of customer needs. Its business
model has gradually matured, and the segment contributed
significantly to the Group's sales in 2024, becoming another pillar of
the Group's operations.

Retail Business

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group successfully
restructured and reorganized its UK retail operations. The UK
supermarket has been rebranded as Ekau (UK) Ltd, positioning itself
as a lifestyle supermarket. It offers a variety of selections of popular
food and daily necessities from China, Japan, South Korea, Southeast
Asia, and other regions. The product range includes food (such as
snacks, pastries, frozen foods, condiments, and fresh produce), daily
and personal care products, household cleaning supplies, and home
decor. Additionally, the supermarket provides fast food and specialty
beverages with Chinese, Japanese, and Korean flavors, bringing
authentic and diverse Eastern elements to local consumers.
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Healthcare and Hotel Business

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Healthcare and Hotel
Business has been identified as a segment of lower strategic
importance. Currently, operations in this segment are at a standstill.

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, the Group remains committed to driving growth and
innovation across its core business segments while exploring new
opportunities to enhance profitability and market presence.

Silicone Rubber Business

For a long time, as the world’s largest producer and exporter of
silicone, China has held a significant position in the global silicone
manufacturing market. Silicone is widely used in industries such as
electronics, healthcare, automotive, construction, and consumer
goods due to its excellent properties, including high-temperature
resistance, corrosion resistance, insulation, and biocompatibility.

In 2025, driven by high-tech industries such as new energy, 5G
communications, and medical devices, the demand for silicone
across various sectors is expected to continue rising. For instance, in
new energy vehicles, silicone is extensively used for battery sealing
and thermal management systems, while in 5G communication
equipment, it is utilized for insulating and protecting high-frequency
signals. The Group will actively respond to the changing market
demand for silicone products. While continuing to provide high-
quality silicone products to long-term clients, the Group will closely
monitor trends and developments in upstream and downstream
industries.

Therefore, the Group will further invest in the research and
development of new silicone rubber technologies, with a focus
on innovation, market expansion, and sustainable development
as its operational goals. In 2025, leveraging its existing advanced
manufacturing processes and robust internal control systems,
the Group will enhance the versatility, environmental friendliness,
diversity, and durability of its products. It will also comprehensively
upgrade and explore the demand for silicone products in emerging
industries, ensuring it remains at the forefront of technological and
market advancements.
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Digital Marketing Business

With the rise of short video culture, video advertising on social
media has become a new mainstream marketing method to attract
consumers. The Group’s Digital Marketing Business will continue
to serve various manufacturers and brands, providing customized
traffic delivery solutions for clients in need. By leveraging big data to
precisely target consumers, the Group aims to achieve the highest
conversion rates.

Additionally, the Digital Marketing Business will expand its service
offers, such as establishing long-term collaborations with influential
internet celebrities. These collaborations could utilize the credibility
of these influencers on social media platforms to conduct targeted
marketing and promotions for clients. Overall, internet marketing
and traffic delivery will evolve towards precision, personalization,
innovation, and immersive experiences.

The Group will closely monitor the development trends of the digital
marketing industry and adapt its strategies flexibly to keep pace with
the ever-evolving internet marketing landscape. By staying ahead of
industry changes, the Group aims to maintain its competitive edge
and deliver exceptional value to its clients.

Retail Business

After undergoing the asset restructuring of our retail operations in
the UK, the Group will continue to develop the existing supermarket
brand, diversify product categories, and refine our operational
systems. By reasonably reducing operating costs, we aim to achieve
expanded revenue. Our UK supermarket business has already
established a foundation in London, with a stable customer base
that possesses strong purchasing power. However, the presence
of other retail supermarkets in nearby areas has somewhat diluted
purchasing power. Therefore, the Group will focus on strengthening
product selection and understanding the consumption preferences
to enhance customer loyalty. We are committed to building a
premium brand image for our supermarkets in the long term,
leveraging a mature and efficient supply chain to bring popular
products to the UK market.
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Healthcare and Hospitality Business

In 2025, the Group will continue to integrate and dispose of related
assets in this segment.

Other Potential Business Opportunities

In recent years, the Group has been actively exploring new business
areas. As an important part of the Group’s strategic planning, the
UK entertainment live-streaming business began preparations at the
end of the year and is expected to officially launch in the second half
of 2025. With the growing attention on the live-streaming industry
overseas, the Group has keenly identified the growth potential of
the UK entertainment live-streaming market and has started laying
the groundwork for its MCN (Multi-Channel Network) business.
This business focuses on incubating high-quality entertainment
live-streaming content, aiming to create a widely influential live-
streaming platform through precise market positioning and localized
operational strategies. The launch of this business marks the Group's
further expansion into the digital content sector.

The development of the UK entertainment live-streaming business
will also create strong synergies with the Group's existing digital
marketing operations. On one hand, the MCN business will provide
the digital marketing segment with rich, high-quality content
resources, further enhancing the Group’s competitiveness in the
digital advertising space. On the other hand, the mature channels
and client resources of the digital marketing business will offer traffic
support and brand promotion advantages for the MCN business,
accelerating the growth of the entertainment live-streaming
operations.

In 2025, the Group plans to recruit and professionally incubate a
group of influential entertainment hosts through multiple channels.
By delivering high-quality content and precise traffic management,
the Group aims to rapidly increase user engagement and market
influence on the platform. Additionally, the Group will continue to
invest in technological research and development to optimize the
live-streaming experience, further enhancing user participation and
retention.

The Group believes that this business will become a new growth
engine and lay a solid foundation for its long-term development in
the digital content sector.
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TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
total revenue of approximately HK$970,061,000 (2023: approximately
HK$1,213,830,000), representing a decrease of approximately 20.08%
compared to the same period in 2023.

Silicone Rubber Business

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024, was approximately
HK$244,030,000 (2023: approximately HK$226,082,000), accounting
for approximately 25.16% of the Group's total revenue (2023:
approximately 18.63%).

Digital Marketing Business

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2024, was approximately
HK$627,161,000 (2023: approximately HK$912,058,000), accounting
for approximately 64.65% of the Group's total revenue (2023:
approximately 75.1%).

Retail Business

The retail segment showed notable growth, with revenue of
approximately HK$98,870,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024
(2023: approximately HK$75,674,000), accounting for approximately
10.19% of the Group's total revenue (2023: approximately 6.2%).

Healthcare and Hospitality Business

Performance in this segment remained weak, with revenue of
approximately HK$0 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:
approximately HK$16,000).

Gross Profit

For the year ended 31 December 2024, gross profit was
approximately HK$116,587,000 (2023: approximately HK$93,017,000),
representing a (significant) increase of approximately 25.34%
compared to the same period in 2023. The gross profit margin for the
year was approximately 12% (2023: approximately 7.7%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Other Income and Net Gains

Other income and net gains for the year ended 31 December 2024,
amounted to approximately HK$13,770,000 (2023: approximately
HK$42,404,000), a decrease of approximately 67.53% compared to
the same period in 2023.

Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the year ended 31 December
2024, were approximately HK$24,384,000 (2023: approximately
HK$35,839,000), a decrease of approximately 31.96% compared to
the same period in 2023.

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2024,
were approximately HK$120,611,000 (2023: approximately
HK$149,287,000), a decrease of approximately 19.21% compared to
the same period in 2023.

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded a
loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$63,632,000 (2023: loss of approximately HK$88,035,000),
representing a reduction in loss of approximately 27.72% compared
to the same period in 2023. The loss per share for the year was
approximately HK4.87 cents (2023: approximately HK6.74 cents), a
reduction in loss of approximately 27.74% compared to the same
period in 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s major source of
funds was cash generated from operating and financing activities,
and the Group’s liquidity remained stable compared with the
corresponding period in 2023.
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Cash and cash equivalents (HK$'000) RekBReEEWM(FHET) 11,924 28,024
Current ratio ML RS 0.74 0.75
Quick ratio T o gz 0.18 0.67
Gearing ratio* B A B & 6.00 3.03

* The gearing ratio of the Group was calculated by dividing total
borrowings by total equity.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operations, financial position, and prospects are subject
to various risks and uncertainties. The risk factors outlined below
may directly or indirectly cause the Group's operating performance,
financial position, and development prospects to differ significantly
from expectations or past performance. These factors are not
exhaustive, and there may be other risks and uncertainties not yet
identified by the Group or currently not apparent, but which may
become significant in the future.

Business Risks

In the long term, the performance of the Group's silicone rubber
business may be affected by fluctuations in raw material prices,
changes in market demand for finished products, and international
trade barriers. For example, the silicone rubber business requires
inventory of raw materials, and the Group has not entered into any
significant contracts to hedge against price fluctuations. Therefore,
any price volatility in raw materials could pressure the Group's
costs and affect the competitiveness of its products. Failure to
adapt to and successfully address changing demand and raw
material supply could adversely impact business performance and
development prospects. Additionally, some countries and regions
have imposed trade barriers on Chinese silicone products, such as
anti-dumping duties and technical trade barriers. The Group needs
to actively address these challenges by improving product quality,
strengthening brand building, and diversifying its markets.

The digital marketing business relies heavily on internet marketing
and traffic promotion as its primary source of revenue. It is
somewhat influenced by internet regulatory policies and depends
on the stability of client relationships. Therefore, the Group must
ensure compliance with regulatory rules, stay aligned with broader
marketing trends, and enhance its competitiveness and client
satisfaction.

As many products sold by the retail business are sourced from
overseas, the segment has high supply chain demands. Reliance
on imported products means that changes in logistics costs,
international situations, and tariff policies could affect product costs
and sales cycles. Additionally, the low entry barriers in the retail
industry result in intense competition, including price wars that may
compress profit margins. Exchange rate fluctuations may also impact
the profitability of the supermarket business.
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Industry Risks

All of the Group’s business segments operate in highly competitive
industries. The silicone rubber business faces competition not only
from other silicone rubber products but also from new material
products. As competitors expand product categories, reduce
prices, improve quality, or launch promotions, competition may
intensify. If the Group fails to compete effectively with existing or
new competitors, it may not be able to maintain its current business
scale and operating performance. Meanwhile, the digital marketing
business, being internet-based, could face significant operational
challenges if macro policies impose stricter regulations or higher
entry barriers on the internet marketing sector. Credit Risks As of
31 December 2024, the Group's total current assets amounted to
approximately HK$385,430,000, while total current liabilities were
approximately HK$520,443,000. The Group’s bank balances and cash
are tight compared to its current liabilities. If receivables are not fully
recovered, the Group may not have sufficient resources to repay its
short-term debts.

Event Risks

Event risks refer to risks arising from unexpected events such as
natural disasters or industrial accidents that could negatively impact
the Group's operating performance and financial position. Such
events may disrupt the Group’s operations, increase the prices of
raw materials and outsourced services, and exacerbate other risks
and uncertainties faced by the Group. Due to the unpredictability of
such event risks, there is no guarantee that the Group’s response
measures will be sufficient.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no change to the
authorised share capital of the Company which is HK$2,000,000,000
dividable into 20,000,000,000 Shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had issued a total of
1,313,467,000 Shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each, and all Shares
were fully paid and rank pari passu with each other in all respects.
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SUBSCRIPTION OF FEE SHARES UNDER
GENERAL MANDATE

On 22 November 2024 (after trading hours), the Company and MDK
Corporate Services Limited (“"MDK") entered into the agreement (the
"Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, and MDK has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for, 6,700,000 fee shares (the “Fee Share(s)”) at the
issue price of HK$0.12 per Fee Share, which shall be satisfied by
MDK by way of set-off against the service fee of HK$800,000 (the
“Subscription”).

On 10 December 2024, the Subscription was completed and
6,700,000 Fee Shares have been successfully subscribed by
MDK at the issue price of HK$0.12 per Fee Share pursuant to the
Agreement. As the proceeds from the issue of the Fee Shares under
the Agreement have been set off against the service fee, there is no
cash proceeds arising from the issue of the Fee Shares.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 22 November 2024 and 10 December 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR ADDITIONS
OF CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
significant investments, material acquisition or disposal of any
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures and affiliated companies
during the year ended 31 December 2024, nor were there any future
plans for material investments or additions of capital assets as at 31
December 2024.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Capital commitments contracted by the Group but not yet provided
for in the financial statements as at 31 December 2024 were
approximately HK$6.9 million (2023: approximately HK$5.1 million),
which was mainly related to the expansion of production capacity
of the Silicone Business. Such capital commitments will be financed
by the net proceeds from operating activities. As at 31 December
2024, certain land and buildings, investment properties and right-
of-use assets of the Group of approximately HK$98 million (2023:
approximately HK$116.3 million) were pledged to secure banking
facilities or bank and other borrowings granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

No material contingent liabilities of the Group were noted as at 31
December 2024 (2023: nil).

CURRENCY MANAGEMENT AND
TREASURY POLICY

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's cash receipts
were denominated in United States dollars (“USD"), HKD, Pound
Sterling (“GBP") and RMB, while the labour costs, manufacturing
overheads, selling and administrative expenses of the Group were
mostly negotiated, measured and settled in RMB. As at 31 December
2024, the majority of cash and cash equivalents were held in USD,
HKD and RMB. As the Retail Business in the UK has become one
of the principal businesses of the Group, it is expected that GBP
will constitute a key functional currency of the Group in the future.
Therefore, fluctuations of RMB and GBP will affect the Group’s
profitability. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
did not enter into any financial instrument for hedging purpose.
The Group will closely monitor the currency movements and take
appropriate measures to deal with such exchange-rate exposure.

The Group adopted a conservative approach to the cash
management and investment of uncommitted funds. Unused
funds were placed as short-term deposits with authorised financial
institutions in Hong Kong and the PRC.
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As the Group is committed to improving production capacity,
developing high-quality products, and expanding industry chain,
experienced workers, engineers and professionals are crucial to
the Group. The Group offers on-the-job training and encourages
staff to attend continuous professional training in order to enhance
their skills and knowledge. The Group also offers competitive
remuneration packages, including quality staff quarters, medical
care, insurance coverage and retirement benefits, to employees.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group employed 715 permanent and
temporary employees (2023: 717). The total salaries and related costs
for the year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$119.1 million (2023: approximately HK$115.9 million).

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain high standards of
corporate governance best suited to the needs and interests of the
Group as it believes that effective corporate governance practices
are fundamental to enhancing Shareholder value and safeguarding
interests of Shareholders and other stakeholders. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group’s business.

To the best knowledge of the Board, the Company has complied with
the applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2024, except for the
following.

Under Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent
non-executive Directors and other non-executive Directors, as equal
Board members, should attend general meetings of the Company
to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the
Shareholders. Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip and Mr. Han Lei, the non-
executive Directors, and Ms. Wang Lina, the independent non-
executive Director, did not attend the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 18 November 2024 due to their other work
commitment.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ transactions in the
securities of the Company. Specific enquiry has been made of all the
Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had fully complied
with the required standard of dealings and the code of conduct
adopted by the Company and there was no event of non-compliance
throughout the year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of
this report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition

As at 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, the Board
comprises the following three executive Directors, three non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors
(“INEDS"):

Executive Directors

Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlady)
Mr. Li Jiuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Gao Feng

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip
Mr. Han Lei
Mr. Gu Shixiang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Mr. Hu Jiangbing* (retired on 18 November 2024)
Ms. Wang Lina

Mr. Zheng Changxing (resigned on 18 February 2025)
Dr. Feng Xin (appointed on 18 February 2025)

The Company has maintained on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange an updated list of directors identifying their roles
and functions and whether they are INEDs. INEDs are identified as
such in all corporate communications that disclose the names of
Directors.

The biographical details of the Directors are contained in the section
headed Directors’ Profile of this annual report. Save as disclosed,
no Director has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships with other Directors.

* Mr. Hu Jiangbing retired as an independent non-executive Director and
has ceased to act as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Board with effect from 18 November 2024.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

=58

#HRY
RN-_E-_MFE+-_A=+—HAREEARER
B FEeENT=4HTEE - =23 EH
TEER-RBUIFNTES([BIEHITE
=)

BITES

wEL L (EE)
FNERE(TTHARE)
Sl EE

FHTES

RIZESEE
LA
R ST A

BYFHITES

RAERE

IEEE* (R T _WF+—A+/\BEE)
TEfzL
HEFEE(RZE-AF=_A+/\BET)
BB T(R_E_AF A+ \BEZE)

RRRERAR B AL N B2 Pt T8 & 3
MEBRLE - EPIIRAREOBE MBI
ERERBIFNITES - MERBESUSR
HABIBAT - NEBRIABLIFNITES
HE1D o

EENEEFABERANFRESHN & - &
FREREIN B EEREMERR G EME
% 215 RESEMBARIAABREIE -

* HITIREECRIEELIFNTES - I IBE
TEEEFMZERTEUARERZEG R
HEEEEBZKRE BT -NF+—A
TA\HRER



_B_DMEFEFER

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. All executive Directors, non-executive Directors and INEDS
bring a variety of experience and expertise to the Company. The
number of INEDS has met the minimum requirement of the Listing
Rules, and represents not less than one-third of the total Board
members. Further, at least one of the INEDS possesses appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and/or financial management
expertise.

The INEDs bring a wide range of skills and business experience to
the Group. They also bring independent judgment on the issues
of strategy, performance and risk through their contribution to
the Board meetings and to the Board’s committee meetings. The
Board has received from each INED the written confirmation of his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and
considers all of them to be independent having regard to (i) their
annual confirmation on independence as required under the Listing
Rules; (ii) absence of involvement in the daily management of the
Group; (iii) absence of any relationships or circumstances which
would interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment; and
(iv) absence of remuneration from the Company other than the
directors’ fee which is fixed, not equity-based and not performance-
related.

The Board has adopted the mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board will review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual
basis. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board reviewed
the above mechanisms and considered that the above mechanisms
are effective in ensuring that independent views and input are
provided to the Board.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All Directors (including non-executive Directors) were appointed for
a specific term. Formal letters of appointment or service contracts
sets out the key terms and conditions of their appointment were in
place. Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip, Mr. Han Lei and Mr. Gu Shixiang,
the non-executive Directors, have entered into formal appointment
letters for a term of one to three years subject to termination by
giving not less than one month’s prior written notice. Mr. Chan Siu
Tat, Ms. Wang Lina and Dr. Feng Xin the INEDs, have entered into
formal appointment letters for a term of one to three years subject to
termination by giving not less than one month’s prior written notice.
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According to article 84(1) of the Company'’s articles of association
("Articles”), at each annual general meeting (the "AGM") one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director
shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least
once every three years.

According to article 83(3) of the Articles,any person as a Director
either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the
existing Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until
the first AGM of the Company after his appointment and shall then
be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to the aforesaid provisions of the Articles, (i) Mr. Li Jiuhua,
Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip and Mr. Gu Shixiang will retire from office
as Directors at forthcoming AGM of the Company and, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election pursuant to article 84(1); and
(i) Dr. Feng Xin will retire from office as Director at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company and, being eligible, will offer himself for
re-election pursuant to article 83(3). The Company’s circular
containing detailed information of all retiring Directors pursuant to
the Listing Rules will be issued in due course.

Functions of the Board

The function of the Board is to guide the management to ensure
the interests of the Shareholders are safeguarded. The Board is
responsible for the oversight of the management of the Company’s
business and affairs with the goal of maximizing long term
shareholder’s value, while balancing broader stakeholder interests.

The Board has the following main duties:

to establish the Company’s purpose, values and strategy, and
culture;

o to determine material and significant corporate matters;
o to direct and supervise the businesses of the Group; and

o to ensure effectiveness on the Group's financial reporting and
compliance.
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The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for
implementing day-to-day operations and management of the Group's
businesses to the executive Directors and senior management, and
certain specific responsibilities to the Board committees. The Board
has matters reserved for its decisions and these include:

o long-term strategy and business plan;

o major capital projects, acquisitions or divestments;

o long-term and material funding decision;

o internal controls, risk management and compliance; and

° annual and interim financial results and shareholder
communications.

When delegating aspects of the management and administration
functions, the Board has given clear directions as to the powers of
management, in particular, where the management should report
back and obtain prior Board approval before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company. While
offering the management substantial autonomy to run and develop
the business, the Board plays a key role in structuring and monitoring
the reporting systems and internal controls.
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Board meetings and Board practices EESERNEESIEH
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Records BRENERESHESD R

The attendance of each Director at the Board meetings, the general RKREBZEHEHEZE T -_NWF+-_A=+—Hit
meeting and the Board committees’ (the “Board Committees” FEHEESeE RIEASLEEZES
including, the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the ([EEEZE€ | 2EHTEZEE BFXZ
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee) meetings E€ HFHEZESNREELLZEE)e 40BN
during the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the table SR TEX :

below:

Annual General

Meeting held
on
Audit  Remuneration Nomination 18 November
Committee Committee Committee 2024
R-B-NE
+-A+NR
BIMRE
BEAE
Executive Directors HTES
Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlad) ERART(ZE) 9/9 N/ATNEFR 1N 1N 7
Mr. Li Jiuhua TNERE(7THAEH) 99 N/ATEH NATER N/ATEF 7
(Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Gao Feng =15t 19 N/ATER NATER NATEHR 0/1

Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip REELE 7/9 N/ATER NATMER N/ANER 0/1
Mr. Han Lei BRiE 0/9 N/ATERR N/ATMER N/ATMER 0/1
Mr. Gu Shixiang BELE 6/9 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER 1

Independent non-executive  BIkHTES

Directors
Mr. Chan Siu Tat ROERE 8/9 4/ 1 1 17
Mr. Hu Jiangbing WIEEE(R-ZZNE 48 13 N/ATER N/ATER 0/1
(retired on 18 November 2024)  +—A+/\BE()
Ms. Wang Lina IEMLL 79 4/4 N/ATNEH NATNER 01
Mr. Zheng Changxing BEFEE(N-Z_1F 6/8 N/ARER N/ATER N/ATER "N
(resigned on 18 February 2025)  —A+N\BE(T)
Dr. Feng Xin BB (N -2-R% N/ATER N/ATEF N/ATEF N/AT B N/ATER

(appointed on 18 February 2025  —A+/\REZ{)
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Apart from the said meetings, matters requiring Board approval were
arranged by means of circulation of written resolutions of all Board
members.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision C.2.7
of the CG, the chairman should at least annually hold meetings with
the INEDs without the presence of other Directors (the “Chairlady
and INEDs"). During the year, one Chairlady and INEDS Meeting was
held.

The Chairlady is primarily responsible, with assistance of the
company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”),
for drawing up and approving the agenda for the Board meeting and
each Director may request to include any matters in the agenda.
At least 14 days’ notices are given to the Directors for the regular
Board meetings by the Company to facilitate their attendance. All
substantive agenda items with comprehensive briefing papers are
distributed to Directors at least 3 days before the Board meetings
SO as to ensure that the Directors may receive accurate, timely and
clear information to make informed decisions. For non-regular Board
meetings, reasonable advance notices are given.

The Board meetings are structured to allow open discussion. All
Directors participate in discussing the strategy, operational and
financial performance and internal controls of the Group. The Board
may, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional
advise in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense and
ensure independent views and input are available to the Board. The
Board may resolve to provide separate independent professional
advise to Directors to assist them to perform their duties to the
Company.

All Directors may obtain the advice and services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance and
regulatory matters. The Company Secretary is also responsible
for ensuring the procedures of the Board meetings are observed
and providing the Board with opinions on matters in relation to the
compliance with the procedures of Board meetings.
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If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter
by way of written resolution or by a Board committee (except if that
Board committee was specifically established for such purpose)
but by a physical Board meeting. The INEDs with no material
interest in the matter will attend the Board meeting to deal with the
matter as appropriate subject to the Listing Rules and the Articles,
as appropriate. Any Director who or whose associates have any
material interest in any proposed Board resolutions shall not vote (nor
be counted in the quorum) on the relevant Board resolutions.

All business transacted at the Board meetings and by written
resolutions were well-documented. Draft minutes are circulated
to the Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each
meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.
Minutes of the Board meetings and written resolutions are kept by
the Company and are available to all Directors.

Induction and Continuous Professional
Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure
that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s operations and
business and is fully aware of the director’s responsibilities under
the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

The Company will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors
to develop and refresh their duties and responsibilities.

The Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code
provision C.1.4 of the CG Code on Directors’ training. According
to the records maintained by the Company, all the Directors have
participated in continuous professional development on corporate
governance, updates on laws, rules and regulations and accounting/
financial/management or other professional skills to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and duties
of a listed company director during the year ended 31 December
2024.
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Attending training
seminars/
induction training/

Reading materials
HEEIIHEE

ABEHI, B EA R
Executive directors BITES
Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlady) MR (F/E) 4
Mr. Li Jiuhua (Chief Executive Officer) TRELE(TTHAEE) v
Mr. Gao Feng [S1-3eS v
Non-executive directors FHITES
Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip P& [E 5o A& v
Mr. Han Lei BREE v
Mr. Gu Shixiang A S v
Independent non-executive directors BIkHITES
Mr. Chan Siu Tat BRAESAE v
Mr. Hu Jiangbing (retired on 18 November 2024) T &£ (R Z U4 v/
+—A+N\HEMFE)
Ms. Wang Lina TRzt v
Mr. Zheng Changxing (resigned on BEELE(RZZ-RF v
18 February 2025) ZA+NBEHD)
Dr. Feng Xin (appointed on 18 February 2025) BB =hF v
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Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

The Company has renewed directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance for all the Directors and the senior management of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. The insurance
covers them against costs, charges, expenses and liabilities arising
out of the Company’s activities.

CHAIRLADY AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The roles of the chairman of the board and the chief executive
officer are segregated in order to reinforce their independence
and accountability. For the year ended 31 December 2024, Ms.
Shi Qi acted as the Chairlady while Mr. Li Jiuhua acted as the Chief
Executive Officer. There are clear demarcations of responsibility
and authority between the Chairlady and the CEO which ensure an
appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater
capacity of the Board for independent decision-making.

The responsibilities of the Chairlady include:

1. to ensure all Directors are properly briefed on matters to be
discussed at Board meetings,

2. to ensure all Directors receive adequate, accurate, clear,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner;

3. to provide leadership for the Board;

4. to ensure that the Board works effectively, performs its
responsibilities and discusses all key issues in a timely manner;

5. todraw up and approve the agenda for Board meetings taking
into account any matters proposed by the other Directors for
inclusion in the agenda;

6. to take primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate
governance practices and procedures are in place, and to
oversee implementation of the practices and procedures on
corporate governance,
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to give each Director an opportunity to express his/her
different views at Board meetings and to voice their concerns,
to encourage all Directors to fully contribute to the Board's
affairs and to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests
of the Company, and to allow sufficient time for discussion of
issues and to ensure that Board decisions fairly reflect Board
consensus,

to ensure that appropriate steps are taken to provide effective
communication with Shareholders and that their views are
communicated to the Board as a whole; and

to promote a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the
effective contribution of non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between executive and
non-executive Directors.

The responsibilities of the CEO include:

1.

to provide leadership for the management;

to implement and to report to the Board on the Company’s
strategy;

to oversee realisation by the Company of the objectives set by
the Board,

to provide all such information to the Board as is necessary
to enable the Board to monitor the performance of the
management;

to lead management of the Company’s relationships with its
stakeholders;

to put in place programs for management development and
succession; and

to establish and maintain proper internal controls and risk
management systems as well as disclosure controls and
procedures.
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MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

In general, the daily management and administration functions of
the Group have been delegated to the management except for
certain matters specifically reserved to the Board for decision. The
management supplied the Board with appropriate and sufficient
explanation and information through financial reports, business and
operational reports and budget statements, in a timely manner, to
enable them to make informed decisions.

In order for the Directors to make enquires where necessary, the
Directors are also provided with names and contact details of the
Company’s senior management and the Company Secretary to
facilitate Director’s access to senior management and the Company
Secretary.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The INEDs support the effective discharge of the duties and
responsibilities of the Board, and to bring independent views and
input to the Board.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2024. The
Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his/her independence, and the Company has assessed and
considered such INED to be independent in accordance with each
and the various guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements
will be granted to INED to avoid bias in their decision-making and
compromise their objective and independence.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties, the Board has
currently delegated specific functions to four Board committees.
They are the Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board
is responsible for the functions of risk management and corporate
governance functions. For the year ended 31 December 2024 and up
to the date of this annual report, the composition of each committee
are as follows:

Executive Committee

Mr. Li Jiuhua (Chairman)
Ms. Shi Qi

Audit Committee

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (Chairman)

Mr. Hu Jiangbing (retired on 18 November 2024)
Ms. Wang Lina

Dr. Feng Xin (appointed on 18 February 2025)

Remuneration Committee

Dr. Feng Xin (Chairman)
(appointed on 18 February 2025)

Mr. Hu Jiangbing (Chairman)
(retired on 18 November 2024)

Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Ms. Shi Qi

Nomination Committee

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (Chairman)

Mr. Hu Jiangbing (retired on 18 November 2024)
Ms. Shi Qi

Dr. Feng Xin (appointed on 18 February 2025)
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All the Board committees have clear written terms of reference
and have to report on their decisions and recommendation to the
Board. These written terms of reference are available for access at
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong and
each of the committee members was furnished with a copy of the
respective terms of reference. The written terms of reference of the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee are also available on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

All business dealt with by the Board committees were well-
documented. All minutes of the Board committee meetings record
in sufficient detail of the matters considered and decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by members of the Board committees
or dissenting views expresses. Draft and final versions of minutes are
sent to all members of each respective committee for their comment
and records respectively. Final versions of the minutes are kept by
the Company and are open to inspection by members of the Board
committees at any time.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently comprises two members, both of
which are executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Jiuhua and Ms. Shi Qi.
Mr. Li Jiuhua is the chairman of the Executive Committee.

Responsibility of the Executive Committee

The Executive Committee’s responsibilities include, among others,
the following:

to set strategies, policies, plans and operational directions for
the Group;

o to manage day-to-day financial and business affairs of the
Group;

o to approve projects not exceeding a monetary amount
pre-determined by the Board;

o to manage funds, bank facilities, loans, inter-company loans of
the Group;

o to manage the share option scheme of the Company.
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Major works done by the Executive Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the major works done by the
Executive Committee were summarised as follows:

o managed day-to-day operation of the Group's businesses;

o managed overall financial performance of the Group in
fulfillment of strategy, plans and budgets,

o managed the Group’s capital budgets and expenditures;

o managed relationship with important stakeholders of the
Group; and

o managed the share option scheme of the Company.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, all of
which are INEDs, namely Mr. Chan Siu Tat, Ms. Wang Lina and Dr.
Feng Xin. Mr. Chan Siu Tat is the chairman of the Audit Committee,
who has appropriate professional qualifications and experience in
accounting matters. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the existing external auditors of the Company.

Responsibility of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include, amongst others, the
following:

o to report to the Board on effective financial reporting controls,
internal controls and risk management;

o to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual report and interim report, and to review significant
financial reporting judgements contained therein;

o to oversee the Company'’s relationship with the external
auditor, review auditor’s letter of engagement and
make recommendations to the Board on appointment,
re-appointment and removal of external auditor,;
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o to review and monitor external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards;

o to review external auditor's management letter and any
material queries raised by the auditor to the management and
the management’s response;

J to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement
of external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or
dismissal;

o to develop and implement policy on engaging an external
auditor to supply non-audit services; and

o to review the financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems (including the adequacy of resources, and the
effectiveness of the financial and internal audit function).

The Audit Committee has the following veto rights. The Company
cannot implement any of the following matters which have been
vetoed by the Audit Committee:

o to approve any connected transaction within the meaning of
the Listing Rules which requires an independent Shareholders’
vote (unless the approval of such connected transaction is
made conditional on the obtaining of the approval of the INEDs
and the independent Shareholders); and

o to employ or dismiss the Group's financial controller or the
internal audit manager or persons holding similar positions.
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Major works done by the Audit Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the major works done by the
Audit Committee were summarised as follows:

o reviewed with the management and the external auditors (if
applicable) on the interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2024 and the annual results for the year ended 31
December 2024, and related announcements including the
related disclosures, the integrity of financial reporting and
the accounting policies adopted by the Group prior to the
submission to the Board's approval;

. discussed with management on significant judgments affecting
Group's consolidated financial statements;

o reviewed and discussed the risk management and internal
control report including the status of implementing
recommendations in previous report;

o reviewed, assessed the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's risk management and internal controls;

o considered the re-appointment of the external auditor;

o reviewed and monitored the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness during the audit process;
and

. reviewed and monitored the external auditor’'s non-audit
services.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 4 meetings of the
Audit Committee were held for, inter alia, reviewing the Group’s
interim and annual results, the Group's financial reporting and
compliance under the CG Code, the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems, and considering the
re-election and the change of auditor of the Company, the individual
attendance records of each Director at the meeting of the Audit
Ccommittee is set out on page 30 of this annual report.

The external auditor and the internal audit adviser of the Company
also attended meetings of the Audit Committee by invitation.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
a majority of which are INEDS, hamely Dr. Feng Xin (INED), Mr. Chan
Siu Tat (INED) and Ms. Shi Qi (executive Director). Dr. Feng Xin is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

Responsibility of the Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include, among
others, the following:

o to recommend to the Board the policy and structure for all
remuneration of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company;

o to review the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board's corporate goals and objectives,

o reviewing and making recommendations to the Board the
compensation, if any, payable to the Directors and senior
management of the Group in connection with any loss or
termination of office or appointment;

o to determine, with delegated responsibility, the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management;

o to recommend to the Board’s approval the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;

o to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved
in deciding his own remuneration; and

o to review and approve matters relating to share option
schemes of the Company in accordance to chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.
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Major works done by the Remuneration Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the major works done by the
Remuneration Committee were summarised as follows:

J conducted the annual review of the remuneration for all
Directors (including the executive Directors), based on
remuneration policies and annual performances;, and

o approved terms of service contracts of the executive Directors
and senior management.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, since there was no share
option granted under the Share Option Scheme (defined hereunder),
no material matter relating to the Share Option Scheme has been
reviewed by the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 1 meeting of the
Remuneration Committee were held, the individual attendance
records of each Director at the meeting of the Remuneration
Ccommittee is set out on page 30 of this annual report.

Remuneration policy

The Company has adopted and updated a remuneration policy for
the Directors and senior management. The remuneration for the
executive Directors and senior management may comprise basic
salary, bonus, share options and pensions. Apart from basic salary,
executive Directors and senior management are eligible to receive
a discretionary bonus taking into account factors such as market
conditions as well as corporate and individual’s performance.
The remuneration of non-executive Directors may comprise basic
salary without equity-based and performance-related components,
and should be reviewed annually with reference to comparable
companies and market condition. Remuneration adjustments may
be made, after taking into account performance of the individual,
contribution, responsibilities, and reference to comparable listed
companies in Hong Kong.
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The following table illustrates the elements of remuneration of TERHBATESTMNSLETEAENTFHE

executive Directors and senior management. e
Remuneration Purpose Reward Policy details
e B 3] BURFE
Basic Salary To reflect the market value of e Cash payment ° Reviewed annually

each individual Monthly ° Compare against selected
comparable companies

. Market trend

e REEEA TS EE . BHEM . FERH
e BHA o  HEFHAILLRARIELL
e  THBH
Discretionary Bonus To motivate employees to help e Cash payment o Individual performance
the Company achieve high o Annually ° Market condition
levels of performance and to o The Group performance
achieve individual performance relative to corporate
goals targets
BITETEAL HEETIHHARREREK o ReXf e HAXREH
THHEERERBARREER o HF o WHRR
e  HRRBIEEEMNAEE
B
Pension To provide appropriate and . Cash payment . MPF scheme
competitive post-retirement . Monthly
benefits
RKE RUEEERBEBRFNRKE o  BREXN o  BERAE
=Rl s BfF

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration  RIEEEEATAIMTRIGXEENSE - B
of the members of the Board and the senior management by band &K EREEREEENEE-T_MF+=A
for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below: =tT—HIEEENFMSBSESHIINT

Number of

Remuneration bands (HK$) Individuals
HENEE (BT) AL

0-1,000,000
1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
>2,000,000

s AN W
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
a majority of which are INEDs, namely Mr. Chan Siu Tat (INED),
Dr. Feng Xin (INED) and Ms. Shi Qi (executive Director). Mr. Chan Siu
Tat is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

Responsibility of the Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee’s responsibilities include the following:
o to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;

o to review and make recommendation to the Board on the
succession plan for the Directors, in particular, the Chairman/
Chairlady and the CEO;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and to select or to make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships;

o to assess the independence of INEDS;

o to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors;
and

o to review the Board Diversity Policy (defined hereunder) as
appropriate, and review the measurable objectives that the
Board has set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy and
the progress on achieving the objectives.
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Major work done by the Nomination Committee

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the major works done by the
Nomination Committee were summarised as follows:

o reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board;

o reviewed the Director retirement and rotation arrangement in
the 2023 annual general meeting;

o assessed the independence of INEDs; and

o reviewed the Board diversity policy, the measurable objectives
that the Board has set and the progress on achieving the
objectives.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, 1 meeting of the
Nomination Committee were held, the individual attendance records
of the each Director at the meeting of the Nomination Committee is
set out on page 30 of this annual report.

Nomination policy

The Company has adopted and updated a nomination policy for the
Directors. The Nomination Committee and the Board shall consider
the following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

character and integrity;,

o willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a Board member and other directorships and significant
commitments;

o possessing core competencies that meet the needs of the
Group;

o the Board diversity policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Company for achieving diversity on the Board;

and

o the independence in case of an INED.
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For appointment of a new Director, the Nomination Committee
shall, upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new Director
and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, evaluate such candidate based on the criteria set out in
the nomination policy. If the process yields one or more desirable
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference
check of each candidate (where applicable). The Nomination
committee shall make recommendation to the Board in respect of
the appointment of appropriate candidate for directorship.

For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for election as
a director at the general meeting of the Company, the Nomination
Committee and the Board shall evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out in the nomination policy whether such
candidate is qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the
Nomination Committee and the Board shall make recommendation
to Shareholders in respect of the proposed election of director at the
general meeting.

For re-election of a Director at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring Director including his/her attendance of
Board meetings and, where applicable, general meetings, and the
level of participation and performance on the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall also review and determine whether the retiring
director continues to meet the criteria as set out in the nomination
policy. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to the Shareholders in respect of the proposed
re-election of Director at the general meeting.

Board diversity policy

The Company recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board to
enhance its performance. Accordingly, the Company adopted and
updated a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”)
which aims to set out the approach to achieving diversity for the
Board. The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new Directors
from time to time to ensure that it has a balanced composition of
skills, experience and expertise appropriate to the requirements of
the businesses of the Company.
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The Board Diversity Policy is reviewed annually. The Nomination
Committee will consider certain measurable objectives for achieving
diversity on the Board and make recommendation to the Board. For
the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were fulfilled as at the date of this
annual report:

three Directors are INEDS, as compared with the objective of at
least one-third of the Directors should be INEDs;

one INED has obtained accounting or relevant financial
management professional qualifications, as compared with the
objective of at least one INED should have such qualifications;

seven Directors are male and two Directors are female
(representing approximately 22% of the total ten Directors), as
compared with the objective of no single-gender Board; and

all Directors have 8 years or more of experience in the industry
he/she is specialized in, as compared with the objective of at
least half of the Directors should have such experience.

As at the date of this annual report, other factors which are non-
measurable but also important to the diversity of the Board are as
follows:

five Directors are within the age range of 40-49, three Directors
are within the age range of 50-59, and one Director are within
the age range of 60-69; and

one Director serves the Board for less than one year, three
Directors serve the Board for over two years but less than
three years, and five Directors serve the Board for over three
years.
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Gender diversity

The gender ratio in the Board as at the date of this annual report
was 3.5 (7 males: 2 females), while the gender ratio in the workforce
of the Group as at 31 December 2024 was approximately 1:1 (363
males: 352 females). As at this moment, the Company aims to
achieve a Board and a workforce (including senior management)
without single-gender, but recognises that the gender diversity at
the Board level can be improved given that the majority composition
is male. The Company will ensure there is a gender diversity when
identifying director candidate and recruiting employees so that there
is a pipeline of female employees, management and Directors in
near future. On the other hand, more resources will be invested in
training female employees who have long and relevant experience
in the business of the Group, with the aim of promoting them to the
management or Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for, amongst other things,

o developing and reviewing the policies and practices of the
Company on corporate governance,

o reviewing and monitoring the policies and practices of the
Company on compliance with legal and regulatory requirement;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

o reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report contained in
annual reports.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board has reviewed the
corporate governance function of the Company, as well as the CG
Code’s compliance practices of each Director and the Board as a
whole.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of financial statements for the relevant accounting periods which
give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position, results
of operations and cash flows. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors have applied
applicable accounting policies, adopted appropriate accounting
standards and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The responsibilities of the Group’s external auditors, CL Partners,
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements are set out in
the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 80 to 87 of this annual
report.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

CL Partners, being the auditor of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in
the auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2024 as set out in this annual report. For
a detailed statement of the reporting responsibilities of CL Partners,
please refer to the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of
this annual report.
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For the year ended 31 December 2024, CL Partners is appointed as
the Group’s auditor until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual
general meeting following the resignation of Elite Partners CPA
Limited with effect from 17 June 2024. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 are audited by
CL Partners. The remuneration paid/payable to CL Partners and
its affiliates in respect of their audit and non-audit services are as
follows:
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2024

—EoQmE

HK$'000

FiET

Audit services Ei RS 1,750
Non-audit services ST IRTE =
Total et 1,750

The remuneration of the audit and the non-audit services are
determined with reference to, among others, commitments and
workloads of the services, urgency and time-requirement of the jobs,
complexity of the underlying transactions and quality of the final
service results.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that CL
Partners be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. There is no
disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the
re-appointment of CL Partners.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Xu Jiayuan (“Ms. Xu") is the Company Secretary. Ms. Xu does
not act as an individual employee of our Company, but as an
external service provider in respect of the appointment of Ms. Xu as
the company secretary of the Company. The primary contact person
at the Company is Ms. Shi Qi, the Chairlady of the Board.

During the year and up to the date of this annual report, Ms. Xu
was responsible for providing advice to the Board on corporate
governance matters. Ms. Xu has confirmed that she has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training as required under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2024.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has established
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems, which are reviewed annually. The management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of such
systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its
duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the risk management
and internal control systems are described in the sections below:

Risk management system

The Group adopts a risk management system which manages
the risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

o Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives
and risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

o Evaluation: Analyze likelihood and impact of the risks and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

o Management: Consider risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and continuously monitor the
residual risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in 2024 and save as
disclosed in this annual report, no significant risk was identified.
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Internal control system

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (“COS0") 2013 framework. The framework
enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding effectiveness
and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. The components of
the framework are shown as follow:

o Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and
structures that provide the basis for carrying out internal
controls across the Group.

o Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for
identifying and analyzing risks to achieve the Group’s
objectives, forming a basis for determining how risks should be
managed.

o control Activities: Action established by policies
and procedures to help ensure the implementation of
management’s direction to mitigate risk in order to achieve
objectives.

° Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls.

o Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal controls is present and
functioning.
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In order to enhance the Group’'s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness
and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group adopts and
implements an inside information policy and procedures. Certain
reasonable measures have been taken from time to time to ensure
that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a disclosure
requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

o The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis, and employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

In order to promote transparency and accountability, the Group
implements a whistleblowing and anti-corruption systems and
arrangements. Employees, suppliers, customers and business
partners of the Group can raise concerns, in confidence and
anonymity, about possible malpractice or improprieties in financial
reporting, risk management, internal control or other matters.
Depending on the then situations, whistleblowers may contact the
management, the Chairlady, the CEO and/or the INEDS, and suitable
following-up actions may be taken.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in 2024, no
significant control deficiency was identified.
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Internal audit function

The Group currently does not have an internal audit department, but
has engaged an external advisor to provide internal audit services
which cover independent analysis and appraisal of adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control.
In light of the corporate structure and operation procedures, as well
as the relevant risks, the Board, as well as the Audit Committee are
of the view that the existing practice is able to provide an internal
audit function which is consistent with the Group’s requirements.
The Group will review and consider to establish an internal audit
department as and when it thinks necessary.

Effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring that a review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board'’s review,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and
extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and the
Group's ability to respond to changes in its business and the external
environment; (i) the scope and quality of management’s ongoing
monitoring of risks and of the internal control systems; (iii) the
extent and frequency of communication of monitoring results to the
Board which enables it to assess controls of the Company and the
effectiveness of risk management; (iv) significant control failures
or weaknesses that have been identified for the year ended 31
December 2024, and the extent to which such failures or weaknesses
have resulted in unforeseen outcomes or contingencies; and (v) the
effectiveness of the Company’s processes for financial reporting and
Listing Rules compliance.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company engaged
JC Consultancy Services Limited to conduct risk management
and internal control review of the Group’s operation and made
recommendation to Board accordingly. JC Consultancy has,
among other things, enquired, interviewed and discussed with
the management, and observed and inspected the actual control
procedures. Based on the report issued by JC Consultancy, the
Board, as well as the Audit Committee considered that the key areas
of the Company's risk management and internal control systems are
reasonably implemented and the Company has compiled with the
requirements of the CG Code in respect of risk management and
internal control.
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The Board, as well as the Audit Committee, concluded that the
risk management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. It is also considered that the resources, staff qualifications
and experience of relevant staff were adequate and the training
programs and budget provided were sufficient.

The risk management and internal control systems, however, are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely
and effective communication with Shareholders and investors. The
Board also recognises that effective communication with investors is
the key to establish investor confidence and to attract new investors.
Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining high degree of
transparency to ensure investors and Shareholders are receiving
accurate, clear, comprehensive and timely information of the
Group via the publication of annual reports, interim reports, press
announcements (“Corporate Communications”).

Corporate Communications issued by the Company are available
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange and in
both English and Chinese versions to facilitate their understanding.
A section titled “Investor Relations” is available on the Company’s
website which provides contact details to allow Shareholders to
contact the Company easily. Enquiries from institutional investors
and analysts on the Group's strategy, operations, management and
plans are welcome.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the investor relation activities
of the Company include:

o attending to telephone enquiries from analysts and fund
managers,

o updating the Company'’s website regularly;
o holding annual general meeting;

o disclosing information on a timely basis via the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SHAREHOLDER AND INVESTOR
RELATIONSHIP POLICY

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company reviewed and
updated its policy for communication with its Shareholders and
investor relations. Having considered (i) practices and procedures
to convene the general meeting of the Company; (ii) practices to
publish and update information of the Company; and (iii) feedbacks
from Shareholders and investors, especially absence of material
complaint from the Shareholders, the Company is of the view that its
policy for communication with its Shareholders and investor relations
is effective for the year ended 31 December 2024. The Shareholder
and investor relationship policy were summarised as follows:

Rights of shareholders

The right to attend the general meeting and to receive
information

The general meetings of the Company provide opportunity
for Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors.
The Chairlady and the chairlady or chairman of the Board
committees will attend the general meeting to answer
Shareholders’ questions. In their absence, she/he should
invite another member of the committee or failing this her/
his duly appointed delegate, to attend. These persons should
be available to answer questions at the general meeting. The
chairman of the independent Board committee (if any) should
also be available to answer questions at any general meeting
to approve a connected transaction or any other transaction
that requires independent Shareholders’ approval. The external
auditor of the Company will also attend the annual general
meeting to answer questions about conduct of the audit,
preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, accounting
policies and auditor independence.
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The right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of
the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionists themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed by the
Company.

The voting powers at the Shareholders' meetings

Every Shareholder has the right to vote at the Shareholders
meetings subject to provisions of the Listing Rules and the
Articles.

The power to elect and re-elect Directors and auditor

The Shareholders could hold individual Directors (or the Board
as a whole) to account for their actions by voting against
their re-election. The Articles provide at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of 3, the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

For the Directors who retire by rotation, and if they wish, they
may submit themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting. The retiring Directors are eligible for re-appointment
to the office. Without the prescribed approval of the
Shareholders, the Company shall not agree to any provision
under which a Director’s term of employment exceeds or may
exceed three years.

The Shareholders also have the right to approve (or reject) the
appointment of the auditor each year. The Company may by
a resolution passed at a general meeting remove the auditor
despite any agreement between the auditor and the Company
or anything in the Articles.
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e  The right to receive information of the Company

The Company shall keep Shareholders informed of certain
developments and to obtain Shareholders approval for certain
transactions in accordance with the Listing Rules. In these
cases, the Company must communicate with its Shareholders
and seek their support.

e  The right to communicate with the Company

The Chairman/Chairlady or the executive Director should
ensure that the views of the Shareholders are communicated
to the Board as a whole and the Chairman/Chairlady or the
executive Director should discuss strategy and governance
with major Shareholders.

Non-executive Directors should be given the opportunity to
attend general meetings with major Shareholders, and should
be expected to attend general meetings if requested by major
Shareholders.

Shareholders’ enquires

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings
to the Company’s registrar, Union Registrars Limited at Suites
3301-04, 33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King's Road,
North Point, Hong Kong.

Shareholders and the investment community may at any time make
a request for the company’s publicly available information. They may
also put forward proposals at the general meetings. The designated
contacts and addresses for making enquires and submitting
proposals are:

Contact: the Board of Directors
Fax: 28511038
Email: TaYang1991@tayanggroup.com

Address: 22/F, H Code, 45 Pottinger Street, Central, Hong Kong
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Effectiveness of general meetings

Shareholders should be given the opportunity to send in written
questions before the meeting. There should be a circulation
of a brief summary of points raised at the general meeting to
all Shareholders after the event. The Board should dispatch a
circular accompanying the general meeting notice, which contains
comprehensive information on the business to be transacted at the
meeting, together with summary procedure governing voting at the
general meeting and frequently asked questions regarding voting
procedures.

The Company should arrange for the notice of the annual general
meeting and the related papers to be sent to the Shareholders at
least 21 days before the meeting. For other general meetings this
should be at least 14 days in advance.

Resolution

At any general meeting there should be a separate resolution to each
substantially separate issue. The Company should avoid bundling
resolutions unless they are interdependent and linked forming one
significant proposal.

Proxy arrangement

For each general meeting, proxy appointment forms should provide
Shareholders with the option to direct their proxy to vote either for or
against the resolution or to withhold their vote. The Company should
ensure that all valid proxy appointments received are properly
recorded and counted.

Result of general meetings

The Company should announce the poll results as soon as possible
and in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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COMPANY WEBSITE

The Company’s website is www.tayanggroup.com.

Information submitted by the Company to the Stock Exchange is
also posted as soon as practicable on the Company’s website. All
presentation materials provided in relation to the Company’s annual
general meeting and results announcement each year should be
made available on the Company’s website as soon as practicable
after their release.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has updated a policy on payment of dividends
(the "Dividend Policy”) in compliance with the CG Code,
which establishes an appropriate procedure on declaring and
recommending the dividend payment of the Company.

The Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders by
way of cash or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.
It is the policy of the Board, in recommending dividends, to allow
the Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits, and at the
same time, to ensure the Company to retain adequate reserves for
future growth.

Factors to be considered

The Company'’s decision to declare or to pay any dividends in the
future, and the amount of such dividends will depend upon, among
other things, the current and future operations, financial condition,
liquidity position and capital requirements of the Group, as well as
dividends received from the Company’s subsidiaries and associates,
which in turn will depend on the ability of those subsidiaries and
associates to pay a dividend. In addition, any final dividends for a
financial year will be subject to the approval of the Shareholders.

General Principle

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the
laws of Hong Kong, the Listing Rules, the Articles and any applicable
laws, rules and regulations.
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Review of the Dividend Policy

Whilst this Dividend Policy reflects the Board's current views on the
financial and cash-flow position of the Group, the Board will continue
to review this Dividend Policy from time to time and the Board may
exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify this Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and necessary.
There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in any
particular amount for any given period. The Dividend Policy shall in
no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that any dividend will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no
way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the constitutional documents during the
year ended 31 December 2024. A latest version of the Company’s
constitutional documents are also available on the Company’s
website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements for the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. For the
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group was principally engaged
n (i) the designing and manufacturing of silicone rubber products;
(i) developing international digital marketing services; (iii) operating
retail business in the United Kingdom; and (iv) providing healthcare
and hotel services.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
Note 43 to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
the financial position of the Company and of the Group at that date
are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 88 to
95 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Discussion and analysis of business review, including a discussion
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred since
the end of the financial year and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, are set out in the sections
headed “Chairlady’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of
this annual report. These discussions form part of this report of the
Directors.
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Report of the Directors
ES58WHS

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
its employees, providing quality services to its customers and
enhancing cooperation with its business partners.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners to achieve its long-term goals.
Accordingly, senior management have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business update with them
when appropriate. For the year ended 31 December 2024, there
was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
business partners.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group recognizes the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risks of non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on the business
and operation of the Group. There was no material breach or non-
compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2024.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group understands the importance of environmental
sustainability and protection and has adopted policies on pollution
prevention, preservation of natural resources and adherence to
environmental laws and regulations. Discussions on the Group'’s
environmental policies, relationships with its key stakeholders,
and compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group can be found in the Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be published by the Company.
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Report of the Directors
ES58WHS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance through its continuous effort in improving the
business practices. Details about the principal corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out in the section
titled “Financial Summary” of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2024.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution comprise the share
premium account, less accumulated losses.

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the section
titled "Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity”, together with
relevant notes to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no change to the
authorised share capital of the Company which is HK$2,000,000,000
dividable into 20,000,000,000 Shares in the par value of HK$0.1 each.

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$8,000
(2023: HK$8,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares of the
Company.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in Note 19 to the consolidated
financial statements.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 24% (2023: 31%) of the
total revenue of the Group and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 11% (2023: 14%) of the total revenue.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 84% (2023: 97%) of the
total purchase of the Group and the largest supplier accounted for
approximately 70% (2023: 80%) of the total purchase.

None of the Directors or any of their associates (as defined under
the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company's issued
share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31
December 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 13 December 2018, the Company adopted the share option
scheme (“Share Option Scheme”) which has been approved by
the Shareholders. The major terms of the Share Option Scheme were
summarised as follows:

1. Purpose

The purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to recognise
and acknowledge the contributions to those who had made,
may have made or will make contributions to the Group. The
Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Persons (defined
hereunder) opportunities to have personal stakes in the
Company with the view to achieving the following objectives:

(@ motivate the Eligible Persons to optimize their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group; and

(b) attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-going
business relationship with the Eligible Persons whose
contributions are or will be beneficial to the long-term
growth of the Group.
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2.

Participants

The administration committee ("“Administration
Committee”), currently comprising Ms. Shi Qi and Mr. Li
Jiuhua, may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take
up options to subscribe for Shares (the “Eligible Person”):

(@ any full time employee or director of any member of the
Group and any entity(ies) in which the Group holds any
equity interest (“Invested Entity");

(b) any part time employee of any member of the Group and
Invested Entity;,

(c) any supplier, distributor, service provider, customer of
the member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(d any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
holder of any securities issued by any member of the
Group;

(e) any consultant or adviser of or to any member of the
Group who has provided services to such member of
the Group in accordance with the terms of a contractual
relationship entered into between the consultant or
adviser with such member of the Group;

(f)  any consultant, adviser, manager, officer or entity that
provides research, development or other technological
support to the Group or Invested Entity; and

(8 such other persons who in the sole opinion of the
Administration Committee from time to time, will
contribute or have contributed to the Group.
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Total number of shares available for issue

The total number of Shares may be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 87,117,800 Shares, representing 10% of
the total issued Shares as at the date of passing the relevant
resolution to approve the Share Option Scheme. The maximum
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue
from time to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from time to
time, unless approved by the Shareholders in the manner as
stipulated in the Share Option Scheme.

For any grant of options to a substantial Shareholder or an
INED or any of their respective associates, the total number
of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant must not:

(@ exceed 0.1% of the total number of Shares in issue; and
(b) have an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares on the date of each grant, in excess of

HK$5,000,000.

Unless such grant of options is approved by the Shareholders
at a general meeting.
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Acceptance and exercise of options

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the offer of grant of the option.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance
of the offer of grant of an option and shall be received by the
Company within such time as may be specified in the offer of
grant of the option, which shall not be later than 28 days from
the offer date.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day after the date on which
the offer for the grant of options is accepted but shall end in
any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the
option subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.
Unless otherwise determined by the Administration Committee
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee,
there is no minimum period required under the Share Option
Scheme for the holding of an Option before it can be exercised.

Subscription price

The subscription price shall be determined by the
Administration Committee in their absolute discretion and
notified to the participant (subject to any adjustment made
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme) and shall be at least the
highest of:

(@ the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date,
which must be a trading day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5

trading days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c)  the nominal value of a Share.
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7. Performance target

Unless the Administration Committee otherwise determined
and stated in the offer of the grant of options to a grantee, a
grantee is not required to achieve any performance targets
before any options granted under the Share Option Scheme
can be vested in, or exercised by, the grantee.

8. Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option
Scheme is adopted. Accordingly, the remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme was approximately 3.7 years (i.e. until 13
December 2028).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, no options or securities
had been granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the
Share Option Scheme. As at 1 January 2024, 31 December 2024
and the date of this Annual Report, there was no outstanding
option under the Share Option Scheme.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of these related party transactions constitutes connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction which is required
to be disclosed under the Listing Rules. The Directors confirm that
the Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
under review.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

7. # ju=] jT‘T

BIFEEZBERERERREHBR
BTARANBEOTHA - TRERA
KA ESRITERBBRE SR E M
EREAER - BAEEREFEERRE -

8. MBHRIESTEIBVHARR

BT B B R ERTEER A E B
BET10OFHRERN—EAN - At - B
EAEBTFEHNAIIF(NERE S
“N\FE+ZA+=H) -

BE_ZT-_NEF+_A=t+—HL#HF
B - SEREEEOES IR 176
BUBSRE 2 KRB BIRERES - K=
Z-_WE-A—H ZZE-WFE+=A
=t BRAFHRAH - BARE A
AR R ARTTIE RO BB A -

FiERRXAKREER S

AEBBE_T_ME+_A=1T—HILFE
RIRE D R BB BN AR & M H R M 5E40

ZEHETRIBBEBRRE LTRAATH
BHREXZHUFEMERS - EFWER - K
ARREEFEADET EHRAE14AZR
WERE -



_B_DMEFEFER

Report of the Directors
ES58WHS

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Shi Qi (Chairlady)
Mr. Li Jiuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Gao Feng

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip
Mr. Han Lei
Mr. Gu Shixiang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Mr. Hu Jiangbing (retired on 18 November 2024)

Ms. Wang Lina

Mr. Zheng Changxing (resigned on 18 February 2025)
Dr. Feng Xin (appointed on 18 February 2025)

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles and the Listing Rules, Mr. Li
Jiuhua, Mr. Chan Tsun Hong Philip, Mr. Gu Shixiang and Dr. Feng Xin
will retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence from the Group, and as at the date of this report
still considers them to be independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Company are set out on pages 8 to 11 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not terminable within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DISCLOSURE OF CHANGE IN
INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES

Mr. Hu Jiangbing retired as an independent non-executive Director
and has ceased to act as the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Board with effect from 18 November
2024.

Mr. Zheng Changxing has resigned as an independent non-executive
Director with effect from 18 February 2025.

Dr. Feng Xin has appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee with effect from 18 February 2025.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in information of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company up to the date
of this annual report which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors of the Company are recommended
or determined (in the case of executive Director) by the
Remuneration Committee, decided by the Board, and authorised by
Shareholders in the annual general meeting, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance, experience,
responsibility, workload and comparable market securities. No
Director is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration. Details of
the remuneration policy for the Directors of the Group are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report under the heading “Remuneration
Policy”.

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is reviewed
regularly by the management. Remuneration packages are structured
to take into account the merit, qualifications and competence of
individual employees as well as the general market conditions.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors of the Company and
the five highest paid individuals of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
Statements.
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Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 13
December 2018, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2024 was the Company or any of its associated corporations a party
to any arrangement, which enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors
or their spouses or children under 18 years of age was granted any
right to subscribe for any Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any of its associated corporations.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS OF
LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted the Model Code to regulate the Directors'
securities transactions. The Company had made specific enquiry of
all Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model Code for
the year ended 31 December 2024, and they all have confirmed their
respective full compliance with the required standard set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

There was no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance
to which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest whether
directly or indirectly, existed at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2024.
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CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, at no time during
the year ended 31 December 2024 had the Company or any of
its subsidiaries entered into any contract of significance with the
controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries, nor had any
contract of significance been entered into for the services provided
by the controlling Shareholders or any of their subsidiaries to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of the Company, the applicable laws
and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
or any of them may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in
their offices. The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of
the Group, in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of the Company’s activities for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 13
December 2018, no equity-linked agreements that have, will or may
result in the Company issuing Shares or that require the Company
to enter into any agreements that have, will or may result in the
Company issuing Shares were entered into by the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2024 or subsisted at 31 December 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they have taken or deemed to
have under such provision of the SFO), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as
follows:

Long positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company

Nature of interest

EEME

Ms. Shi Qi (Note 2)

HeE L (Hat2) RS

Beneficial owner
EmilA A

Mr. Hu Jiangbing (Note 3)
RIS e (H723)

Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e.
1,313,467,000 Shares) has been used in the calculation of the
approximate percentage.

2. Lyton Maison Limited, a limited company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and solely owned by Ms. Shi Qi, was interested in
796,875,490 Shares. Of the 796,875,490 Shares held by Lyton Maison
Limited, 654,810,600 Shares were charged to Mason Resources
Finance Limited, which was indirectly wholly-owned by Mason Group
Holdings Limited.

3. Mr. Hu Jiangbing was an independent non-executive Director and has
retired on 18 November 2024.

Interest of controlled corporation
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the
Directors and the chief executive of the Company or their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) had any interests and short positions
in any Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which each of them has taken
or deemed to have taken under the provision of the SFQ); or which
were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered into
the register referred to therein; or which were required, pursuant
to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being Directors or chief executive of the
Company had, or were deemed to have, interests or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO; or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the
general meetings of the Company:

Nature of interest

EEME

Beneficial owner
EnEEA

Lyton Maison Limited (Note 2)
Lyton Maison Limited( #/z£2)

Mason Resources Finance Limited
(Note 2)
ERERVBEBERAE(ME72)

in shares

Mason Group Holdings Limited (Note 2)

EREEERERAR (ME2) AR

Person having a security interest
RIRG P HEBEERER 2 AL

Interest of controlled corporation
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Notes:

1. The total number of issued Shares as at 31 December 2024 (i.e.
1,313,467,000 Shares) has been used in the calculation of the
approximate percentage.

2. Lyton Maison Limited was interested in 796,875,490 Shares. Of the
796,875,479 Shares held by Lyton Maison Limited, 654,810,600 Shares
were charged to Mason Resources Finance Limited, which was
indirectly wholly-owned by Mason Group Holdings Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
are not aware of any other person, other than the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO; or who is directly or indirectly, interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at the general meetings of
the Company or options in respect of such share capital.

COMPETING INTERESTS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors are not
aware of any business or interest of the Directors, the substantial
Shareholders of the Company or any of their respective associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) that competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interests which any such person has or may have
with the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2024, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities (including the sale of treasury shares).
As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There were no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
Shareholders unless otherwise required by the Stock Exchange.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of
reference (as amended from time to time) in compliance with the
Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Company and
discussed auditing, financial reporting, risk management and internal
control matters. The annual results of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited. The Audit Committee
has reviewed the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2024, and is of the view that the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the statutory provisions
and sufficient disclosures have been made.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be held
on Friday, 27 June 2025. A notice convening the AGM, together with
a circular therefor, will be dispatched to the Shareholders, and will be
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company in
the manner as required by the Listing Rules in due course.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 24 June 2025 to Friday, 27 June 2025, both days inclusive
during which no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM or any adjournment
thereof, all transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant
share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the
Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Union Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:00 p.m. on Monday, 23 June 2025.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board are not aware of any significant event which had material
effect on the Group subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the
date of this report.

CHANGE OF AUDITOR IN THE PRECEDING
3 YEARS

Elite Partners CPA Limited has resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 17 June 2024. The Board has resolved to
appoint CL Partners CPA Limited (“CL Partners”) as the new auditor
of the Company with effect from 17 June 2024 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Elite Partners CPA Limited.

CL Partners shall hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting pursuant to the articles of association of the
Company. A resolution to re-appoint CL Partners as the auditor of
the Company for approval by the Shareholders will be proposed and
passed at the forthcoming AGM.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2024 have been audited by CL Partners, who will
retire and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-appointment
at the AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the AGM for the
re-appointment of CL Partners as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Shi Qi
Chairlady

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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To The Shareholders of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ta Yang
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 88 to 217,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“"HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAS") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$53,139,000 during the year ended 31 December 2024 and, as
of that date, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$135,013,000. These conditions indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The directors of the Company
are considering a number of financing measures as set forth in note
1 to improve the Group's liquidity and financial position and consider
that the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to fulfil its financial obligations as and when they fall
due in the foreseeable future upon successfully implementing these
measures. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

FAEEI%FEIA

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional FIRBEZEZEAXRMNEEHEmS @ B
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 1B ZAMHEMGE AT BEREAFAEZNS
financial statements of the current period. These matters were 18 - ZEZERERMERBEEATERRE
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial ~ RFtitbH A E REFETRIER - BRMATESY
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we  ZEEBEIREHEBFER -

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

RREREE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets relating to the
cash-generating unit of healthcare and hotel services
HERREAERENBESEEECEENY
¥ WEREEAREREEE RENE

We had identified the impairment assessment
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets relating to the cash-generating unit of
healthcare and hotel services as key audit matter
due to the significant judgement involved by the
management in impairment assessment. In view of
the financial performance of the cash-generating
unit of healthcare and hotel services, the Group
performed impairment assessment on the relevant
cash-generating unit at the end of the reporting
period.
BMEEEERELEERENREELEENEH
B - BRE AR R AR A E 2R ERT A
RlABREZSIE  RESERBEENREN GRS
REAHE ZEREERRBRAEERSHRSEE
BAMBKRER X BEEERRSHRERBRGE
A BAETTRERTAY

The Group's property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets of healthcare and hotel services
stated at net carrying amounts of approximately
HK$31,253,000 and HK$46,337,000 respectively as at
31 December 2024.
EEEERRBROAERB 2WE - WE RZHE N
MERREER-—ZS-_NF+_A=+—HERmF
B9 Bl A#931,253,0007 7T % 46,337,000/ 7T ©

For the impairment assessment, the Group
appointed an independent external valuer to
assess the recoverable amounts of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets relating to
the cash-generating unit of healthcare and hotel
services.

HBENEmMS - EXEEZRB I HEMET
EBRREEERENECEEELABNY
¥ BERREARCEREEE Z FIWEISEE -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BN BN AR RAREREE

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets relating
to the cash-generating unit of healthcare and hotel services
included the following:
BMEBERERBERGHRGEESUFHEANYDE - BE
REEA RS AEEE CRENE CEZEFBE N SIE -

- understood the key controls over management'’s
impairment assessment.
THRERBERENGOBERITESIER

- discussed with management whether any impairment
indicator exists and basis for the impairment
assessment.

BEIR E e D FEERESR RIERBE R EZE o

-  evaluated the competence, capacities and objectivities
of the independent external valuer taking account its
experience and qualifications.

MBS INEBEER CER C eI REEMN - WEEH

- assessed the methodology used and the appropriateness
of the key assumptions adopted in the valuation.
FHMEPTA A EREEMRA ARBRREREE

- checked, on sampling basis, the accuracy and relevance
of the input data used.
?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%&ﬁ IR PR A A SR A BUR ) EHEVE FIAE Y
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RRELER

Revenue recognition of online marketing solution
services
R R HER T RIS R FER

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recognised revenue of approximately
HK$627,161,000 for the provision of all-in-one online
marketing solution services, which is recognised
on gross basis (the “online marketing solution
services”).
HE_ZT-_MF+-_A=1T—HLtFE &
EMEH - UAREEHRRATERBERER
627,161,000/8 T i am (IR AR s AL E TR ) ([ 4R £
SHERR T REREE D) -

%
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&

The determination as to gross or net basis used is
based on the assessment as to whether the Group
acts as a principal or an agent in the transaction,
taking into account the nature of specified
services and whether the Group obtains controls
of the specified services before transferring to
advertisers (the “principal-agent assessment”).
In the principal-agent assessment, the indicators
considered by management of the Company
(“management”) mainly include (a) whether
the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to provide the specified services; (b)
whether the Group has inventory risk before the
specified services transferred to a customer; and (c)
whether the Group has discretion in establishing the
prices for the specified services.
BEEEAABLFEAEDENTMN E5ERK
PHEBIERZRALNREA - Wit RIBAREH
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BB N ABRREREER

Our audit procedures in relation to revenue recognition of
online marketing solution services included the following:
BMEBR - EHBAT RRBH B RERZ EZEFEET
P &IE -

- understood the key controls over management’s

principal-agent assessment, including management'’s
approval and review of sales contracts.
THREREEEBHZEA - REAFTHOBERIZESE
i BIEEEEHEESONIERER -

- discussed with management and understood the

indicators and judgement which management
considered and applied when performing principal-agent
assessment under different circumstances.
HEREM®R W THRINERERTRIBN NEETER
FEA — I AR FTE 8 S e AR 0118 Ko 11l -

- checked the online marketing solution services

transactions, on a sample basis, for the key indicators
that management considered in the principal-agent
assessment to the relevant evidence, including the
relevant sales contracts (focusing on scope of service
and pricing terms), reports/screenshots generated
from data management platform which manages
advertisement creation and placement, and contracts of
traffic acquisition from media partners. Also interviewed
the Company’s key employees and observed the
process on how they created and placed advertisement
on the data management platform for the selected
customers.
RERERZTAA-—REBAFEFRZEENEZEEM
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

RREXSER

We focused on this area due to the significant -
management’s judgements involved in determining
the Group's role as a principal or an agent and hence
the gross or net basis used in revenue recognition
of online marketing solution services which will have
a significant impact on the presentation of revenue
and related cost in the consolidated financial
Statements.

BMAIHEREENETE BEXRBIEREZTAL
REANAGKIREREREHE - gL
R RIRFH W= R AT A BB IOF A E R
G H W AR AR RS B SRk 8 2 51K
Eve-Z K

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

FAESEILFEIA =)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
KA EZNAIEABEREREE

for the above samples selected, we considered whether
the judgements made by management in assessing
gross versus net basis would give rise to indicators of
possible management bias.

PRLMBEOBRATS BMZEREEETHAERTF
BEEMELMABSSEEE

EIEERAMNIR o

Based on the above, we considered that the management’s
judgements applied in the revenue recognition of online
marketing solution services using gross or net basis are
supportable by the evidence obtained.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
iS necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the Group's consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purpose of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charge with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

CL Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lee Wai Chi
Practising Certificate Number: P07830

Hong Kong
28 March 2025
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TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
moiEmE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EBoNEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
Revenue & 9 970,061 1,213,830
Cost of sales SHE KA (853,474) (1,120,813)
Gross profit EA 116,587 93,017
Other income and net gain HALYRA R IR F5E 11 13,770 42,404
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAY (24,384) (35,839)
Administrative expenses THAX (120,611) (149,287)
Finance costs BE AR 12 (28,281) (30,549)
Impairment losses under expected credit FEEE EEEBER TRIE
loss model, net of reversal B8 - HIRREE (9,406) (4,347)
Loss before tax MR RIEE (52,325) (84,601)
Income tax expense FriSHifx 13 (814) (1,108)
Loss for the year FREE 14 (53,139) (85,709)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTALEEFRESE :
Owners of the Company KATEBA (63,632) (88,035)
Non-controlling interests IR 10,493 2,326
(53,139) (85,709)
Loss per share BREE

Basic and diluted (HK cents) AR N EEE GBI 16 (4.87) (6.74)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

moBmMEMERNGR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 HZE—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—E-NE —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEIT FAT
Loss for the year FERER (53,139) (85,709)
Oother comprehensive (expense)/ Hih2m(FX), W
income
Item that will not be reclassified TeREEENHEEEEMNIEAER ¢
subsequently to profit or loss:
Fair value loss on financial assets BN ES R FEMEREA
at fair value through other EENSIEEN AT EEE
comprehensive income (2,302) (200)
ltems that may be reclassified AREZRBEHDEEBEMNER -
subsequently to profit or 10ss:
Exchange differences arising on BMEBINEBEENEL =5
translation of foreign operations 21,699 17,667
Release of exchange reserve upon oS B B A R IR R R O 3 A
disposal of subsidiaries 2,603 -
24,302 17,667
Other comprehensive income FREMZEKA
for the year 22,000 17,467
Total comprehensive expense FREEMAZEE
for the year (31,139) (68,242)
Attributable to: AT AL HEG
Owners of the Company KAREBA (43,754) (69,568)
Non-controlling interests R 12,615 1,326
Total comprehensive expense for FREMBEAREEE
the year (31,139) (68,242)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
g

O IR &R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 W—Z—p&E+—-A=+—H

2024 2023
—EBoNEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WEKEE 19 46,203 68,387
Right-of-use assets FREEE 20 65,399 121,789
Investment properties "EME 21 16,000 21,000
Goodwill [GES 22 20,552 22,718
Financial assets at fair value through BAHEYBRIEEAM
other comprehensive income FEBEARIER
ERMEE 23 11,203 2,957
Financial assets at fair value through BATEYRILEEZER
profit or 10ss EENCRIEE 24 - 495
Interests in associates REFE R RIS 25 - -
Deferred tax assets RIETIREE 35 400 441
Loan receivables EWER 28 54,566 52,435
Deposits bigera 27 16,268 15,927
Total non-current assets JEMBNEELE 230,591 306,149
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 26 30,673 38,074
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 AR K H A
U8 27 286,122 276,971
Loan receivables W E R 28 56,711 49,968
Bank balances and cash IRITHEHBEIRE 29 11,924 28,024
Total current assets MEVEERE 385,430 393,037
current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables BB SRR R EA
FERTRIR 30 327,014 344,280
Income tax payables FERFTIS L 14,886 16,711
Borrowings B 31 164,392 148,351
Lease liabilities HEAE 32 14,151 17,291
Total current liabilities mEN B ERRE 520,443 526,633
Net current liabilities REBAEFE (135,013) (133,596)

Total assets less current liabilities EEABERRBERS 95,578 172,553
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

O SRR &R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 RZ=Z=WF+=A=+—H

2024 2023
—ENE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital A% 33 131,347 130,677
Reserves ey (99,999) (56,245)
Equity attributable to owners of the KATVEE NE(EREZ
Company 31,348 74,432
Non-controlling interests Eeuliig T 44 (949) (6,856)
Total equity KA 30,399 67,576
Non-current liabilities EARBER
Borrowings B 31 17,909 10,760
Lease liabilities HEAaGE 32 8,680 54,865
Deferred income IRIEUA 34 1,601 1,760
Deferred tax liabilities ELRIBEE 35 1,959 2,784
Convertible bond AR (E 5 36 35,030 34,808
Total non-current liabilities IEMBE BB 65,179 104,977

95,578 172,553

The consolidated financial statements on page 88 to 217 were HF88EEF2I7EMNGAMBKHRERNEEES
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 R =ZZT=—HF = A=+ /\B#LE X E#EHE

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: WHTIESREESE -
Shi Qi Li Jiuhua
R FhE
Director Director

EF EF
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TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RO lED

'H' 2L =4
Z\ moin

BER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZE—NMF+-A=+—HIFE

Share
capital

&

Share
premium

Other
reserve

RiRE
HKS000

Exchange
reserve

Eifif

Attributable to owners of the Company
ADTRTARRE
Investments  Properties
revaluation revaluation  redemption
reserve  reseve  reserve
RE hg -03
BitEE  EfRE  RERR
HK$'000 HKS000 HK$ 000
TRL Th Thn

Capital

(Note )

Statutory
surplus
reserve
EERS

Convertible

bond equity Accumulated

resenve

THERS
L
HKS 00

losses

2itER
HKS 000

Sub-total

Non-

controlling
interests

it
HKS 000

A1 January 2023 WZF-=F-A-A 130677 761380 (5,081) 13218 4283 6739 200 399 - [9135360) 137,463 (1,083) 136,380
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - - - - (803) (#8039 23 (85,709
Exchange diferences arising on HEBISRELNEN 2R

translation of foreign operations - - - 18,667 - - - - - - 18,667 (1,000) 17467
Fairvalue loss on financial assets atfairvalle  BATEIIEIELR2ENG

through other comprehensie ncome KRB REENATERR - - - - (200) - - - - - (200) - (20
Total comprehensive income/(expense) EneEhE /()88

forthe year - - - 18,667 (200 - - - - (88,035) 69,568) 13% (68.242)
Recogition o equity companent of BATARESESDA W)

convertible bond (note 36) - - - - - - - - 6537 - 6537 - 6537
Acauiston of a subsidiary (note 38) I E-EHEAR(HES) - - - - - - - - - - 70%) 709
At31 December 203 RF-ZE+f=1-A 130677 761380 (5,081) 101,88 (0483 6739 200 399 6537 (1001571 7432 (6,85¢) 61576
A1 January 2024 R-E-mE-A-A 130,677 761,380 (5,081) 141,885 (4,483) 6,739 2,420 35,929 6,537 (1,001,571) 74,432 (6,856) 61,576
Loss forthe year EhEE = = o = = - - - - (63632) (63632 10493 (53,139
Eichang differences arsing on AEBIERBLNERER

transltion of foreign operations - - - 19,577 - - - - - - 19577 2122 21,69
Fairvale loss on financial assets atfarvalle.  ZATEIIETEEH2ERER

through other comprehensive income REMSHERNATEES = = = = (2,302 = = = = = (2302 = (2.302)
Release of exchange resenve upon disposal of  HEHBATBEREREE

subsdiaries (Vote 39) (%) - - - 2603 - - - - - - 2603 - 2,603
Total comprehensive income/(expense) EneEhE/ ()88

forthe year - - -2 (2,302) = = = - (63632)  (a3a7se) 12815 (31139)
Issuance ofstiares (Note 33) BRAHED) 670 - - - - - - - - - 670 - 670
Disposalof subsicaries (ote 39) HENBRAHRY) - - - - = = = = = = = (6,708 (6,708)
At31 December 2024 i el e 131347 761,380 (5,081) 164,065 (6,785) 6,739 2420 35929 6,537 (1,065,203) 31348 (949) 30399
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

Notes:

a.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the difference between the capital
contribution received from/(paid to) a non-controlling interest of a
subsidiary and the increase/(decrease) in its shares of net asset value
of that subsidiary.

Capital redemption reserve

Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the shares
repurchased which has been paid out of the distributable reserves of
the Company.

Statutory surplus reserve

As stipulated by regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC"), the Company's subsidiaries established and operated in the
PRC are required to appropriate 10% of their after-tax-profit (after
offsetting prior year losses) as determined in accordance with the PRC
accounting rules and regulations, to statutory surplus reserve until the
reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. The transfer to
this reserve must be made before distribution of a dividend to equity
OoWners.

Investments revaluation reserve
Investments revaluation reserve represents the change in fair value of

equity investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

wi -

a.

AFKEZRERLT
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TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mOREME%R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

2024
—EomE

HK$'000

FET

2023
—E=F
HK$'000
T

OPERATING ACTIVITIES R TEE
Loss before tax FRAEAIEE (52,325) (84,607)
Adjustments for: FATSEEDLHE
Amortisation of deferred income RIE U A B 5 (130) (132)
Depreciation of property, plant and Y - BB MERETE
equipment 9,452 11,206
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEENE 19,331 18,430
Dividend income from financial REEAFES R EMEE
assets at fair value through other W NEIERN & REE ER BIWA
comprehensive income (65) (194)
Fair value loss on investment properties &Y A FEEE 5,000 -
Finance costs BhE A 28,281 30,549
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries RPNl e = (2,086)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BRERBEAR
equipment and right-of-use assets FRAREEENRE (15,570) (29,606)
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition U —REIRT B A B AR B UREE U e
of a subsidiary (317) -
Written off of other receivables TR EL A FE L R IE 13,375 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEM B AR/ EE 6,142 -
Loss on disposal of an associate & —REE A RIRER = 4,812
Loss on disposal of financial assets HERATFEYRI I8 MR
at fair value through profit and loss TRIEERNEE 495 -
Government grants BT & (6,777) (318)
Impairment losses under expected credit FEERE EF8E X T RERE
loss model, net of reversal MR E R 9,406 4,347
Interest income F 2 WA (8,017) (6,192)
Impairment loss on interest in associates B Z N BIER AR EEE 515 -
Operating cash flows before movements 2EESEBHANEERERE
in working capital 8,796 (53,785)
Decrease in inventories FERD 2,408 22,325
(Increase) decrease in trade and other FEWCE 55 BR 51 I Bt PR W5k 1E
receivables ()R (1,223) 85,523
Decrease in trade and other payables FERTE 5 BR51 I EL A FE S SR IB R (24,089) (52,856)
Cash (used in) generated from operations (FR) kB RLFHNIE S (14,108) 1,207
Tax paid =ANEAE (2,910) (2,300)
Net cash used in operating activities ARKLIENRLTE (17,018) (1,093)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mOREMER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 HZE—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant

REEE
HEWE - BB RREHFTSRIEA

2024
“ENEF

HK$'000

FET

and equipment 35,506 67,465
Interest received from bank deposits IRITIF R E U F B 50 69
Investment in associates WE—HE AR (515) -
Purchase of financial assets at fair value ~ BEERAFEHBRI ALt EE

through other comprehensive income WEHANRENSREE (10,601) -
Dividend received from financial assets & A FEFIBRI/E E At 2 FEUEE A

at fair value through other RENSREEDBIRE

comprehensive income 65 194
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE  WENREE

equipment (12,363) (5,136)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value B E 1R A FEYI| BRI E B2 NERIER

through profit or loss SREE = (495)
Net cash inflow (outflow) on acquisition — UWEE—REIMBAFMRLREACRL)

of a subsidiary et 230 (12,750)
Net cash outflow on disposal of HEMBARRIRES L8

subsidiaries (1,672) -
Increase in loan receivables FEUE FRIE N (19,505) (17,880)
Net cash (used in) generated from (AR RERE TINS5

investing activities (8,805) 31,467
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REES
Cash received from government grants ~ SUWHFBIRE 6,777 318
Repayment of lease liabilities EEHEaE (20,982) (13,422)
New borrowings raised MEEER 67,159 37,336
Issue of convertible bond BT RES - 40,000
Interest paid EASFLE (8,340) (18,239)
Repayment of borrowings BEFER (41,206) (75,524)
Net cash generated from (used in) XRE(AR)MEISHHNRLSEE

financing activities 3,408 (29,531)
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH RERBEESZEY R )HNFELE

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (22,415) 843
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S{MNRERREZEY

BEGINNING OF YEAR 28,024 24,005
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXSEHTE

RATE CHANGES 6,315 3,176
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT H#&NBRESRBRESEEY &

END OF YEAR, REPRESENTED BY

Bank balances and cash RITHEBRNIIRS 11,924 28,024
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TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Its ultimate holding company
is Lyton Maison Limited which is incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the "BVI") and its ultimate controlling party is
Ms. Shi Qi, the Chairlady of the board of directors (the “Board”)
and an executive director of the Company. The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in the “Corporate Information” section
to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in manufacturing and sale of
silicone rubber and related products, providing retail services,
healthcare and hotel services and provision of online marketing
solution services.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA"). In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company. As the Company is listed in Hong Kong, the
directors of the Company (the "Directors”) consider that it is
appropriate to present the consolidated financial statements in
HKS.

1.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately HK$53,139,000
(2023: HK$85,709,000) during the year ended 31 December
2024 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$135,013,000 (2023: HK$133,596,000). In
preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity of the
Group and its available sources of finance to continue as a
going concern. The Directors considered that it is appropriate
to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Certain measures have been and are
being taken to manage its liquidity needs and to improve its
financial position, including but not limited to the following:

()  The Group has undrawn credit facility amounting to
approximately HK$130,000,000 from a financial institution
for its working capital requirements for the next
18-months from 21 March 2025 which will be drawn as
and when required;

(i) Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group obtained and drew down loans with a principal
amount totaling approximately HK$11,600,000, carrying
an interest rate ranging from 5.50% to 6.10% per annum
from banks, available for the Group's working capital and
financial obligations. The credit facilities will mature 12
months after the end of the reporting period;

(i)  The Group will continue to carry out cost control
measurement in forthcoming years, including but
not limited to reduce discretionary expenses and
administrative costs. On the other hand, the Group will
continue to explore various strategies to improve the
Group's operating cash inflows including putting extra
efforts in the collection of trade receivables; and

(iv)  The Group will explore possible fund-raising opportunities
including but not limited to issuance of new shares, right
issues or open offer and issuance of convertible bond
where appropriate.

1.

AFKEZRERLT
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ISR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS
OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

In light of the measures and arrangements as described above,
the Directors consider that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to meet their financial obligations as they fall
due for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern
basis, adjustments would have to be made to restate the
values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for
any further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-
current assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities,
respectively. The effects of these potential adjustments have
not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

(@) Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the Group’s annual periods beginning on
1 January 2024 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance Arrangements

HKFRS 7

—IRERREREE 2
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B RAIRREANERE - P REED
BENEDRIGIERBEE R ABERN
DHERRDEERAE ZFEEHE
MR EL R RRNER A M BFHREA -

EARRET R A E ST BB Al 3 ¥k

SRS SHER

(@) PNEFEZRHIEWAELNEZE]
SR RS EN S5 ER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ISR R M5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 HZE—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. FERFRSTREEST &8 IR
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS SESFHE(2)
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS (b) ENafhiBEAREBIFE] K
Accounting Standards in issue but not yet KT ESBUFRSES
effective st 28|
The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting RAFERERKIET BBV B RE
Standards in the current year has had no material impact QG ERT EH ANEEBRFE
on the Group's financial positions and performance for RBAFENMBRLRKRER,
the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set R FE PSR TE TR EK
out in these consolidated financial statements. EWN-7Z
The Group has not early applied the following new and RNEBEWERFEAUTEEME
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have MR EBRIR] REEFT BB
been issued but are not yet effective: R EER

Effective for
annual periods

beginning on
or after
RUTHHBAR 2%
FRNEERRENR
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an A date to be
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture determined
BB wERER KEERABENASaErEENEEL SN FEHH
F10ERBEEET TE
AR 285R IS ET
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
BB EHERIE2158H) Rz AR —E-RF
CH —A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and Amendments to the Classification and 1 January 2026
HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments
BB EmEERIFEIR eRITADERGENERT TECREF
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. MEMTRIREIEITEBUREER
AMENDMENTS TO HKFRS SHEAIG S8 2
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS (b) EREhiBiaREBRFET R

Accounting Standards in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards mentioned below, the Directors
anticipate that the application of all of the other new
and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will
not have material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 sets out requirements on presentation and
disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
reguirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals
in the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures
on management-defined performance measures in
the notes to the financial statements and improve
aggregation and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and
HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also
made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will
be effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027, with early application permitted. The
application of the HKFRS 18 is not expected to have
material impact on the financial position of the Group.
The Directors are in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of HKFRS 18, but is not yet in a position to
state whether the adoption would have a material impact
on the presentation and disclosures of consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHIREHR

INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain investment
properties and financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technigue. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value and
a valuation technigue that unobservable inputs are to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation
technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition the results
of the valuation technigue equal the transaction price.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;,

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
company:

. has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT-_MF+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liguidation.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing
subsidiaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any)
are derecognised. A gain or l0ss is recognised in profit or 10ss
and is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (i) the carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to
that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS
Accounting Standards).

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills, knowledge,
or experience to perform the related processes or they
significantly contribute to the ability to continue producing
outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot be
replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to
the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed must meet the
definitions of an assets and liability in the Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statement (replaced
by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
October 2010).

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

° liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date;
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard; and

. lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16 Leases) as if the acquired leases
were new leases at the acquisition date, except for
leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12
months of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying
asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
the net of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s
net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured
at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT-_MF+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EBASHIERER (2
INFORMATION (continued)
Goodwill pee

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as establishment at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group's cash generating unit (“CGU") (or groups
of CGUSs) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and
not larger than an operating segment.

A CGU (or groups of CGUSs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more frequently
when there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
CGU (or groups of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period. If
the recoverable amount of the CGU (or groups of CGUS) is less
than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill and then to the
other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit (or groups of CGUSs). Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within the
Group of CGU, the attributable amount of goodwill is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the CGU (or
CGU within a group of CGUSs), the amount of goodwill disposed
of is measured on the basis of the relative value of the
operation (or the CGU) disposed of and the portion of the CGU
(or the group of CGUS) retained.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. &

INFORMATION (continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The result and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method, an investment in associates in
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associates. Changes in net assets of the
associates other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes resulted
in changes in ownership interest held by the Group. When
the Group’s share of losses of an associate exceeds the
Group's interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within
the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.

INFORMATION (continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment is tested for impairment in accordance with HKAS
36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its carrying amount.

Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any assets,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment 10ss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the
recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate on the same basis as
would be required if that associate had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the
gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification
adjustment) upon disposal of the relevant associate.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
adjustments are made to make the associate’s accounting
policies conform to those of the Group when the associate’s
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the
equity method.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition

(a)

(b)

(c)

Revenue from manufacturing and sale of silicone
rubber and related products

The Group engages in sales of goods and concluded that
the Group acts as the principal for such transactions as it
controls the specified goods before they are transferred
to the customer after taking into consideration indicators
such as the Group is primarily responsible for fulfilling
the promise to deliver the goods and the Group has
inventory risk. When the Group satisfies the performance
obligation, being at the point the goods are delivered to
the customers, the Group recognises trading revenue in
the gross amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled as specified in the contracts.

Revenue from retail services

Revenue from retail services is recognised at a point in
time when the services are rendered. A receivable is
recognised by the Group when the services are rendered
to the customers at which the right to consideration
becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time is
required before payment is due.

Revenue from healthcare and hotel services

Revenue from healthcare and hotel services is
recognised when the services are rendered.
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3. EASHBEEERN®)

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(d)

Revenue from provision of online marketing
solution services

The Group generates revenue primarily from providing
online marketing solution services. The method the Group
recognises revenue from its online marketing solution
service business is affected by the role under each
particular contract with customers. For contracts where
the Group acts as a principal, the Group recognises
revenue on a gross basis, while for contracts where the
Group acts as an agent, the Group recognises revenue
on a net basis. In determining whether the Group is
acting as a principal or as an agent in the provision
of online marketing solution services, it requires the
Group’s management'’s judgements and considerations
of all relevant facts and circumstances, including but not
limit to (a) whether the Group is primarily responsible for
fulfilling the promise to provide the specified services;
(b) whether the Group has inventory risk before the
specified services has been transferred to a customer
or after transfer of control to the customer; and (c)
whether the Group has discretion in establishing the
prices for the specified services. Specifically, for all-
in-one online marketing solution services, the Group
recognises revenue on a gross basis. When the Group
provides services to customers which are charged based
on the time advertised under the cost-per-click (“CPC")
or optimised-cost-per-mille (“OCPM") model, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
control of the services.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(d)

Revenue from provision of online marketing
solution services (Continued)

The Group provides one-stop online marketing solutions
services, including traffic acquisition from top media
platforms (i.e. online publishers), content production,
big data analysis and advertising campaign optimisation,
to the Group’s advertisers. The Group charges the
advertisers primarily mainly based on CPC or OCPM and
recognise revenue when specified action, such as click-
throughs, is performed. Online publishers may also grant
to the Group rebates in the form of prepayments for
future traffic acquisition or in cash mainly based on the
gross spending of the advertisers.

While none of the factors individually are considered
presumptive or determinative, in these arrangements
the Group is the primary obligor and responsible for (i)
identifying and contracting with third-party advertisers
which the Group views as customers, the Group
is primarily responsible for delivering the specified
integrated services to the advertisers; (i) bearing certain
risks of loss to the extent that the cost incurred for
producing contents, formulating advertisement campaign
and acquiring user traffic from media platforms cannot
be compensated by the total consideration received
from the advertisers, which is similar to inventory risk;
and (i) performing all the billing and collection activities,
including retaining credit risk. The Group bears the
sole responsibility for delivering content integrated
and fulfilment of the advertising and has control in the
specified service before that service is delivered to the
advertiser and act as the principal of these arrangements
and therefore recognises revenue earned and costs
incurred related to these transactions on a gross basis.
Under these arrangements, the rebates earned from the
media partners are recorded as a reduction of cost of
services.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EBASHIERER (2
INFORMATION (continued)
Leases HE
Definition of a lease HECEZR

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are
accounted on a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably
expects that the effects on the consolidated financial
statements would not differ materially from individual leases
within the portfolio.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

Short-term lease and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to lease that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It
also applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value
assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received,

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed lease payments (including
in-substance fixed payments).

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the date of reassessment; or

o the lease payments change due to changes in expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All of the Group’s leases are classified as
operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model. Rental income is
presented under “other income and net gain”.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT-_MF+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period/year.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented
under “other income and net gain”.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution plans/state-managed
retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave in
the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for
that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee
benefits (continued)

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of the estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the recognition
good consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Income tax expense (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interests in associates, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT-_MF+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Income tax expense (Continued)

For the purpose of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the lease liabilities and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax
asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss
except when they relate the items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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122 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land and
buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position as cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any
recognised impairment loss. Costs include any costs directly
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as "right-of-use assets"
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

If a property becomes an investment property when there is
a change in use, as evidenced by end of owner-occupation,
any difference between the carrying amount and the fair
value of that item at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in properties
revaluation reserve. The properties revaluation reserve in
respect of that item will be transferred directly to accumulated
losses when it is derecognised.

Depreciation is recognised so as write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ISR R M5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or 0ss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held on earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected from
its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the different between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included
in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is
derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ISR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense
in the period in which it is incurred.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are calculated using weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs
of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Costs
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL,
except that initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE
3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.

INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

()  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

AFKEZRERLT

FASHICRER 2

s TR
EMEEE)
EHEEMSERAKTE(E)

EATER  SREERTFESR

o BAXERREMALE %

s RUIPHEAFBAARE—HEE
MEBMERIAZHEE R
AEBTHERERENRRN @ %

o  ARWETERABEAEHMIAZ
PTAETHE -

SESN - 20 A SR [ A R HRCSH 1 4R TE 1
ARG ERRAFEINRLEREMEE
WHNREAENSREE HATE
SRR FEtE 2 N B IB 5T 8 & E R K IE
MAEEHEAC - AR ATTE -

() BESHRARFESWA
HRRBHKA T EN S REEN
A BUATHE B BRI ROEHER o
B AAS BUE E AR E (B 1R
BERMEFE - EERDREER
ENEREERN - RERNRE
ERENEREEMNS @ B TER
SHRENSRAEBERMEEN
BIENAERAERF R - 8
BREERENERTAEFERRS
A EABEReREETBHR
SERE - BRI B RABBNERE
BEETEMEETBLREEREN
BEHERARcEMEERREE
FER BRI R ER -

127



128 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and
losses arising from change in fair value recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve; and are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal
of the equity investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in “other income and
net gain” line item in profit or loss.

Financial asset at FVTPL

Financial asset that does not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other income and net gain” in line item.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT-_MF+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHBEREE =

INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loss
("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to impairment
under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables, other receivables,
deposits, loan receivables and bank balances). The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting period to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents
the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from
default events that are possible within 12 months after the end
of the reporting period. Assessment are done based on the
Group'’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
end of the reporting period as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on these
assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and/or collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Company measures the 10ss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the end of the reporting period with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #ZE—

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including
the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.

INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower,

e abreach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider,

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #ZE—

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward- looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis to cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped on the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or 10ss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables, and loan receivables, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT-_MF+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3.

INFORMATION (continued)

FASHICRER 2

Financial instruments (Continued) ERTEH#E)
Financial assets (Continued) ERMEEE)
Derecognition of financial assets AU TR A

The financial asset is derecognised only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it
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transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and K*Bfﬁﬂ&&ﬁaﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ TR
rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. FRIFEREREE -
On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which PR IERER NS BTV ERRNIEE A

the Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred accumulated losses.

Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
borrowings and convertible bond are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

A financial liability is derecognised when, and only when, the
Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial
liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is
recognised in profit or 10ss.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any indication
that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment
loss.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which
the assets belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are allocated
to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be established, or otherwise they are allocated
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the CGU or a group of CGUS to
which the corporate assets belongs, and is compared with the
carrying amount of the relevant CGU group of CGUS.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT-_MF+-_A=+—HIFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EASHE®RSR#)

INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to
a CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of the corporate
assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that group
of CGUs, with the recoverable amount of the group of CGUSs.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have
been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of CGUs. An impairment |0ss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under another standard,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease under that standard.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is
material).

Convertible bond

Convertible bond issued by the Group that contain both the
liability and conversion option components are classified
separately as financial liability and equity on initial recognition
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset
for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity instruments is
classified as an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component is
determined using the prevailing market interest of similar non-
convertible debts. The difference between the gross proceeds
of the issue of the convertible bond and the fair value assigned
to the liability component, representing the conversion option
for the holder to convert the convertible bond into equity, is
included in equity (convertible bond equity reserve) and is not
subsequently remeasured.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

SABHBERER )

e

AREBERBEEMHAAERGEAELME
EEME METEEREJREEKE
Mz sE A SEART R T2 BHER
T RleHhSErEERERERZE
EREREE - WEEZEHEEEEX
ABBIRIEMETE 2 X HBRETIR -

ERSBRENEEANREHRETR
BEEMBRENRERSS  EPFE
HETERNRRETARREE - B
BERETHREEEMBEARESRE
AER HEAESAZRERERENE
E(HEEZKEEENTEBEX) -

OJRAR &%

AEBAETEEABRARES D
ZABBEFREANZTHFEERTIN
ke@BEEETAZ EENVIATE
RENPRALBAERAENES - K5
BATHERSLEMSREERIRETE
BEZARA AT #G TAEE ZBK
Mg RS TA -

MNEHERE - BESH R FEREMU
TABBEBERNTISMNEETE - %
TARRESFNAERAERAERE
BEAIHIFEZEANZRGEREA
5 AR AE B L R an RO R ARHE ) RT A
o (IREEFRARFE) A - BTHE
TTREEFNE -



_B_DMEFEFER

AFKEZRERLT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ISR R M5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continued)

Convertible bond (continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bond is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The equity component, representing
the option to convert the liability component into ordinary
shares of the Company, will remain in convertible bond equity
reserve until the conversion option is exercised (in which
case the balance stated in convertible bond equity reserve
will be transferred to share premium. Where the option
remains unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated
in convertible bond equity reserve will be released to the
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss upon conversion or expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bond are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible bond using the
effective interest method.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and
disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future period.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. SZ&3JIERz {45t A0ARAE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the Directors have made in the
process of applying the Group's accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in
the consolidated financial statements.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
Statements:

Determination of revenue recognition of online
marketing solution services on gross or net basis

As disclosed in note 9, the Group provides online marketing
solution services to its customers, which involve the
assessment of revenue recognition on a gross or net basis,
i.e. principal vs. agent assessment models. The Group follows
the accounting guidance for principal-agent considerations
to assess whether the Group controls the specified service
before it is transferred to the customer, the indicators of which
including but not limited to (a) whether the Group is primarily
responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified
services; (b) whether the Group has inventory risk before
the specified services has been transferred to a customer;
and (c) whether the Group has discretion in establishing the
prices for the specified services. Management considers the
above factors in totality, as none of the factors individually are
considered presumptive or determinative and applies judgment
when assessing the indicators depending on each different
circumstances.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. 285 ¥IERz &5t A0ARAE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting
policies (Continued)

Determination of revenue recognition of online
marketing solution services on gross or net basis
(Continued)

The Group is primarily obligated in a transaction, and has
latitude in establishing prices and selecting publishers, or
has several but not all of these indicators, the Group records
revenues of online marketing solution services on a gross
basis.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the Directors have reviewed the Group'’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group’s investment
properties are held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. The
Directors have determined that the presumption that the
carrying amounts of investment properties measured using
the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is
rebutted. The Group has recognised deferred tax liabilities of
approximately HK$1,959,000 (2023: HK$2,784,000) on changes
in fair value of investment properties.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of resulting
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Rebates from media partners

Media partners may grant the Group rebates in various forms.
The Group records such rebates as reduction of cost of services
under gross basis (where the Group acts as principal). The
rebates earned by the Group from media partners come with a
variety of structures and rates, which are primarily determined
based on the contract terms with these media partners, their
applicable rebate policies, the business performances of the
Group and the discretionary incentive programs as set up by
the media partners (or their authorised agencies).

The Group accrues rebates from media partners based on
evaluation as to whether the contractually stipulated thresholds
of the Group’s spending on traffic consumption are likely to
being reached, or other benchmarks or certain prescribed
classification are likely to be qualified. This determination
requires significant judgment and estimation. In making this
judgment and estimation, the Group evaluates based on the
past experience and regular monitoring of various performance
factors set within the rebate policies. Such rebates as a
percentage of gross spending of the Group and the advertisers
may fluctuate and are reviewed and adjusted from time to time.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

The impairment loss of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets was recognised for the amounts
by which the carrying amounts exceed their recoverable
amounts, in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
when impairment indicator is identified on those assets. The
recoverable amounts have been determined based on value
in use calculations and fair value less cost to sell. The value in
use calculations require the use of estimates such as the cash
flows projections and pre-tax discount rates. In determining
the fair values, an independent professional valuer assesses
the significant unobservable input by reference to market data
and takes into consider certain estimates of market conditions.

Details of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed in
note 19.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT-_MF+-_A=+—HIFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4. 285 IERz &5t 0ARAE

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Provision of ECL for trade and other receivables, and
loan receivables

Management determines the provision for trade receivables
based on the ECLs which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. Management also determines the
provision for other receivables and loan receivables based on
the ECLs which use either 12-month or lifetime ECLs depending
whether the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. The loss allowance for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rate.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group'’s historical credit loss rates appropriately adjusted
in accordance with current economic conditions, customer-
specific conditions and forward-looking information to estimate
the ECLs for the impairment assessment.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade and other
receivables, and loan receivables are disclosed in note 27 and
note 28 respectively.

Estimated impairment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the CGU (or group
of CGU) to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the
higher of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal.
The value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from CGU (or a group
of CGUs) and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or upward
revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss or further
impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill
is approximately HK$20,552,000 (2023: HK$22,718,000) (No
impairment loss was recognised for the years ended 2024
and 2023). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 22.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(Continued)

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the
valuation performed by independent professional valuers. The
determination of the fair value involves certain assumptions of
market conditions which are set out in note 21.

In relying on the valuation report, the Directors have exercised
their judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation
is reflective of the current market conditions. Changes to
these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values
of the Group's investment properties and the corresponding
adjustments to the amount of gain or l0oss reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The Directors have performed internal assessment on
macroeconomic environment through performing sensitivity
analysis in relation to the Group's investment properties.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of the Group's
investment properties is HK$16,000,000 (2023: HK$ 21,000,000).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank balances
and cash, lease liabilities, borrowings, convertible bond, and
equity attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves. The Directors review the
capital structure on a regular basis. As a part of this review, the
Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issue and the
issue of new debts.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

6.

EMTH
Rt T RevE5!

2024 2023
—EBoWEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Financial assets SREE
At amortised cost (including bank balances & #E Ak AN (B 3EERTT
and cash) BHIES) 289,193 302,411
Financial assets at FVTOC] BATEYRIAEMEE
WaRNEENEMEE 11,203 2,957
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATEVERIEEZER
BRI RMEE = 495
Financial liabilities SRIEE
At amortised cost TREESH AR 363,850 329,506

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial
assets at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
receivables, bank balances and cash, loan receivables,
deposits, borrowings, convertible bond and trade and other
payables (including trade payables, accrued expenses and
other payables). Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HFEEREEBEREER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by several
subsidiaries of the Company in currencies other than those
subsidiaries’ functional currencies. In addition, certain portion
of the financial assets at FVTOCI, trade and other receivables,
deposits, bank balances and cash, trade and other payables
and borrowings are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the entities to which they relate.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting
date are as follows:

AEBEHRZEEER - BBERRR
BARRZHENBARNSBENIEE
BN EBETHHERRE - It
Sh - T AFEFIRL AR M EE R EA
REMNEREE  BRE SRR LEM
FEWRIR ~ T RITHEBRERS B
158 5 Pl % B L AL A5 R 3B A B £ 3R
BETEHATIAEREEREERH AN
M EREEHE

AEBUINEHENEBEERARR
HEAMMREENT

Assets Liabilities
BE =K
2024 2024
—EoMEF —E-mE
$'000 $'000
Fx Frx
United States Dollars En([Ex])

("US$") 38,421 37,711 1,689 1,124
Pound Sterling (“GBP") ES (R 35-3)) 70 2 - -
New Taiwan Dollars Fek(Henl)

(“NTD") 3,057 2,957 = -

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the Directors continuously monitor the related
foreign currency exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

REE B AW EINE LR o AW
EEREESARNERR - XHERE
RIE BB AINE EBETTE -
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7.

SRS HREMIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in
US$, GBP and NTD.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2023: 5%) increase and decrease in functional currency
of the relevant group entities (i.e., mainly HK$ and RMB)
against the relevant foreign currencies, 5% (2023: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated items and
adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 5% (2023: 5%)
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number below
indicates an increase in loss for the year and decrease in
other comprehensive income for the year where respective
functional currency strengthens 5% (2023: 5%) against the
relevant currency. For a 5% (2023: 5%) weakening of respective
functional currency against the relevant currency, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the loss for the year and
other comprehensive income for the year, and the balances
below would be negative.

TEF A=t HIEFE

7.

i EREIEBIRRECR 2)

BRED

AEBEIBATRET &
KB E

B N e B

TRAVNAEBMEABEEEENIEE
EE(EZABTRARE) S EBEN
MY BE A R BR5% ( Z = =F : 5%) M
BRE - 5%(ZZE =4 : 5%) ARMAF*
TEIE A B 1EH A RN & B [E R 65 P
AMSEREL R W AEEBHINEE
RABAREEBNTMN -  MREDTE
@%u&h%ﬁﬁ#ﬁﬂ%&%rﬁa NIz
MEFERINS%( - T - =4F : 5%) B EHFHE
HERFRIEE E’Jé%ﬁ TR IE S
TERBERFRE2 RSN EE
MEEEBEEAESAENR(ZE ==
F 1 5%)RFEVIE AN Ko e FE o iWHERETD
BEEM RSB ESN( = =F ¢
5%)  AIEIFEBERFRNEMEEmE
BRRERERAROFZE - M~ XHEH
BlBEH -

uUs$ GBP NTD
Ep e e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T
Loss after tax bR & EE

—-2024 — - T 1,534 3 -
—-2023 ——E-=4F 1,528 - -

Other comprehensive income HE 2 mEEs
—-2024 ——ZTJOF - - 115
—-2023 ——E-=4F - - 148
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. HFEEREEBEREER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In view of the pegged rate between HK$ and US$, the Directors
do not expect there is a material effect by any changes in
movement in value of US$ against HKS.

In the Directors’ opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the
year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed-rate loan receivables, lease liabilities, borrowings and
convertible bond. The Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances and
variable-rate borrowings. The Group cash flow interest rate risk
is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on
Prime Lending Rate arising from the Group's Hong Kong dollar
denominated borrowings of approximately HK$27,565,000
(2023: HK$34,500,000). The Group manages its interest rate
exposures by assessing the potential impact arising from
any interest rate movements based on interest rate level
and outlook. The management will review the proportion of
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are
within reasonable range.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rate for non-derivative instruments
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end of
the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points (2023: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates have been 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December
2024 would increase/decrease by approximately HK$115,000
(2023: approximately HK$144,000).
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its
investments in listed and unlisted financial assets at FVTOCI.
The management manages this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risks. In addition, the
Group has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk
and will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to equity price risks at the end of the reporting
period.

If the prices of the respective equity securities have been
5% (2023: 5%) higher/lower, investments revaluation reserve
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$560,000 (2023:
HK$147,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of financial
assets at FVTOCI.

7.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. MiEERERBIEREER2)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss
to the Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by
the counterparties is arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The Group does
not provide any guarantees that would expose the Group to
credit risk.

In order to minimize the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 55% (2023:
56%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 December 2024.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 35% (2023: 24%)
and 54% (2023: 52%) of the total trade receivables are due from
the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

EaRR KBTS
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL. The Group determines the expected credit losses on
debtors with significant balances individually and/or by using
a provision matrix, grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics by reference to past default experience and
current past due exposure of the debtor. As part of the Group's
credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’ past due
status to assess the impairment for its customers because
these customers consist of a large number of customers with
common risk characteristics that are representative of the
customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost of effort. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are assessed
collectively based on provision matrix:

7.

MR EEREIRBIRRIEGE 2)
EaRRNRIETE )

REWEZERME  AKEEHERE
B BHREERESRNECIE - BE
BHENEREEERTEEERERRE -
RER B B BB B KA R e I MR S )
ETHEBEEERR SRAREL2R
FEWRBR BB E 1B X E ATE B R R
MisH O HEEEERREEY EBE
EEBEEEHAEEER - EAAKHEE
ERBREEN D - ARERAEK
BRFHBSMATEEEPORE - R
ARzEEPaRE ARG ARRRER
MEPAK - MazERERSERE
BEPRBA KGRI A R HIRIED
BES o ARt E R IR BB MR R TERT
FHANBEBEMBEORGEE X
EANBTNBERARE HEAER
MRTIEMEERHEL R - DETIERE
2 EE itma - PARER AT A E R UK
FRFAERERERY -

TEREHAREASERERBREESE
FHERERE ZERREERRAER -

Average loss rate Gross carrying amount Loss allowance
Rzl B HREEAR BERE

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
“ECRE —To=F ZBCME o= ZBCME —TC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THL THET THT THET THT
Current (not past due) AR E) 0.80% 0.85% 17,218 22111 137 187
1-90 days past due BHE1E90H 1.60% 1.80% 24,922 25,676 399 462
91-180 days past due #H91E180H 5.47% 6.32% 12,710 9,783 695 619
Over 180 days pastdue I H3iEA180H 100% 100% 4,760 4,479 4,760 4,479
59,610 62,054 5,991 5,747
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

The Group determines the provision for other receivables
and loan receivables based on the ECLs which use either
12-month or lifetime ECLs depending whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition. The loss
allowance for financial assets are based on assumptions
about risk of default and expected loss rate. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the
inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s
historical credit loss rates appropriately adjusted in accordance
with current economic conditions, customer-specific conditions
and forward-looking information to estimate the ECLs for the
impairment assessment.

The credit risk on short-term bank deposits and bank balances
is limited because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties
default on their contractual obligations resulting in financial
losses to the Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures
are primarily attributable to trade receivables and other
receivables, loan receivables, deposits and bank balances.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its
financial assets.

7.

i 3% MR ER BRIk 2
EERRKRET &)

AEERBEHEEBBEBETEMEK
AN EWEREE  AREREER
BEARBEAXFESRRNEREES
1B ARIURRNEERR B Vs ERIK
ELHRBERN - MEEBRRET
ERNBEORRREHERRNRR
AEEEFEEZEFRRMEBRENE
BWABER  REAKENELEEE
BERURBENLENRR - FFARB
AEAEEERETEE BHEERH
B - AEEDRERHETREEEEE -

HREFTHREBEREEFRRER
TREENFRMRT - BULERRITE
RAMIRITRBOEERRBR -

EERBIEASENS F I RERTE
BHEBMYARBEERMBEKZAE
o ARBEZEERREERRERER
B 5 8RR L E A EROR - AR
FARRRITHE S - NEBYEFA IR
B EMEERANEEESRE
EZHBEERR



B FEFR K¥gE@EBRERL23 153

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wn © B 5 H R bI 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—Z—MM&+_-A=+—HILFE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 7. MEEREREREIEREE 2
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk mensE & kR
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors RERRDESRERME @+ AEBEER
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed RekREEEY  UHHEZFRER
adequate by the management to finance the Group's EBRAETHKE - 7%$’§li‘«%’fktﬁ
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash B WHERSRERDHZLE -
flows. The management monitors the utilization of borrowings. BEERERMER - Ti%?ﬁ”ﬁ%l
The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual THEENBRTAOIBER - XFE
maturity for its financial liabilities. The table includes both BHERASRERE « WA SRIEZ
interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest BRI ERGE - AR SEIRMERR
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived B R Rt E o

from interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

More than More than
Weighted one year two years
average Within but not but not Total
interest one year or exceeding more than More than  undiscounted Carrying

ratt  ondemand two years five years fiveyears  cashflows amount
—-ENEE  WEMLE AEHRE

METIRE -ERARER TEAmE ot ckik:3 RENE hEAR KA

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

ThT Th Th Th Th Thr

At 31 December 2024 RZE-mE

tZA=1-H
Tradeand other payables  BRESEZR
EthERFE N/ARER 146,519 - - - 146,519 146,519
Borrowings &3 9.03 176,527 2,564 15,870 - 194,961 182,301
Convertible bond THRER 10 4,000 44,000 - - 48,000 35,030
327,046 46,564 15,870 - 389,480 363,850
Lease liabilties fgak 6.88 13,955 7,956 1,175 - 23,086 22,831
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=f
+ZB=1-H
Trade and other payables  FERE Bt
EthERFE NATER 135,587 - - - 135,587 135,587
Borrowings GE 1034 162,151 3545 - 11,804 177,500 159,111
Convertible bond MkkES 10.00 4,000 4,000 44,000 - 52,000 31,808
01738 7545 44,000 11,804 35,087 39,506

Lease liabilities HERE 637 20359 17685 %773 19,508 8,325 7215
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

8. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL 8. EMTANATA

INSTRUMENTS

Except for the financial assets at FVTOCI and financial assets at br TPtz AT ES R A EMEE
FVTPL as stated below, the Directors consider that the carrying WaENEENSRE ERIZAFENE
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at WHEBZNEENESREEN EFR
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements were 7 ARG E M RIRE R A AR
approximate to their fair values due to their immediate or NemEERSRMBENRINEHRR
short-term maturities. IH - MZEeREERERARENE

AEEEQNFERE -

The following table provides an analysis of financial assets that TEREENRSREPARERETEZ D
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period FEFENSMEESNT - HRELRSE
for recurring measurement, grouped into level 1 to 3 based on ERETERZATFENBREES A
the degree to which the fair value is observable in accordance F—EZE-

to the Group's accounting policy.

Fair value as at Fair value as at Valuation
31 December 31 December  Fairvalue  technique(s)
2024 2023  hierarchy and key inputs
—g-mF z

=%
+tZA=t-H EERER
WAYE AVEER TERARE

Financial assets

SREE
Listed equity securities classified as financial HK$3,057,000 HK$2,957,000  Level 1 Quoted bid prices in active
assets at FVTOCI markets

B REATEIIRLE A 2 ERENE 3,057,000 1t 29570008 F—[E REMISMREAE
BNERMEEN EMRAE

Unlisted equity investments classified as HK$8,146,000 - level3 Market approach - Based on
financial assets at FVTOCI P/E multiples of listed entities

PEARLTES I E M2 ERE AR 8,146,000 1T - $ZE in similar industry with
BHemEENFE EMREARE consideration of marketability

discount (key unobservable
inputs: the higher P/E ratio, the
higher the fair value)
mas—RERUTE LTRSS
MIAREY  WERTHR

B (EETAREHA
%%iﬁ%%@%*ﬂ$ﬁ@
=
Participating life insurance classified - HK$495,000  Level 3 Quoted price by the
as financial assets at FVTPL insurance company
PEARLATEFRITEZAREN SR - 4950008 E=E RBRAFFTRER
BENHIRE
There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy REE-ZTH i&_giiiﬂ—:ﬂ
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. =tT—RLEFE A TEEBRZEIE

ERCIEEEC
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 HZE—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

9. REVENUE

Revenue represents fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and for goods sold and services rendered in the
normal course of business to customers, net of discounts and
sales related taxes.

Revenue recognised for the year are as follows:

9. W&m
WaEE W B EREEERSB
BRAEPHEEmARRERRBHOA
HE - HIBRITI RS EARRNIR

FARRHWRLAT -

2024 2023
—EBoNEF o =F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET THET
Revenue Wz
Sales of silicone rubber and related HEMER MARMEEM—
products - point in time RE—EFE 244,030 226,082
Retail services — point in time TERKG —RNE 2 98,870 75,674
Online marketing solution services — R IHERR T RS —
point in time RE—EEE 627,161 912,058
Healthcare and hotel services — over time BERREE SR E RS —
R — BRI ] - 16
970,061 1,213,830
Notes: Kt -
(@) Transaction price allocated to unsatisfied long-term (@) PEEXRBITROBGHINIZER
contract
The Group generally enters into goods and services contract of AEER R LS FEREFEILELN
the above mentioned segment with customers for a contract HRAER - FENERRRBEEH -
term less than one year. Therefore, the Group has applied the It AEEEERESMEREERE
practical expedient permitted under HKFRS 15 not to disclose 1SSEFTATNERER TS TTHRE
the transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied performance AETREKBHEENRHER -
obligations.
(b) Assets recognised from costs to fulfil a contract (b) BETEHNRTERANEE
While providing all-in-one solution service to customers, the AEBERTEIRE R RR

Group may incur fulfilment costs including production cost of
short video, etc. However, considering that the service is usually
satisfied in a short period, the Group did not capitalise assets
recognised from costs to fulfil a contract.

T - AIREREABEE R BUERAS
BHIRA - AT - ZEEBIRBBAESE
REHEIRER - REBEWAREEITE LK
AHERNEEEANL -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION 10. REP&EE

The Group's reportable and operating segments, based on
information reported to the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM"), being the chief executive officer of the Company,
for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment (with a focus on the type of goods or services
delivered or provided) are as follows:

(@) Silicone rubber and related products — manufacturing
and sale of silicone rubber and related products;

(b)  Retail services — providing retail services in the United
Kingdom (the “UK"),

(c)  Healthcare and hotel services - providing healthcare and
hotel services in the PRC; and

(d  Online marketing solution services — provision of online
marketing solution services in the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
commenced the business engaging in online marketing
solution services in the PRC through acquisition of a subsidiary
as disclosed in Note 38, and it is considered as a new
reportable and operating segment by the CODM.

No operating segment identified by the CODM has been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable segment of the Group.

REZHRTIBLERRE([TEEE
REE |) (AIARRB 2 ITHRAREL) AETT
BRNEMERRFENER (IR
NEMHREHRREHEL) - REEWF
EMPAEEDEETIAT

(@) MEBNMERER - RENRHFEEER
KAERAEm

() TEEBY-HRE(RE])RHT
IR

(C) EEERRME RIBEE BRTS — A Bt
BERELBEERS : &

() AR EZHARRTTRRG — N EIE
AR E LR IR -

BE T -_=%+-_A=+—8I%F
[E - WM ESSETIHE - AEEBE BRI
E—HNBARMERPRENER LS
SHEEAT RREHER  WEFZEE
RIREBRBITHA] 2| BALEDEL ©

REFAKENA 2 /R0 5K - LHEE
BEBLERREMROELNHE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 HZE—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. pEp&Rl =)
Segment revenues and results pak b €AY NE S
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenues and results INTAREEZRAIZHRREE D HE D
by reportable and operating segments. R e R FEE DT o
2024 —EBUEF
Silicone Online
rubber and Healthcare marketing
related Retail and hotel solution
products services services services Total
EBX BEAER ol
HERER ZERY BERE BRTREE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TRT THET FHET THERT
REVENUE e
External sales HMEE 244,030 98,870 - 627,161 970,061
Segment results DEEE 13,050 1,444 (7.992) 3,781 10,283
Unallocated income RAOWMA 15,246
Unallocated expenses ROWHAZ (77,854)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (52,325)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

10. REp&Rl =)

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

ﬁ%ﬂ”&ﬁ&%mﬁ(/%)

2023 —E-=fF
Silicone Online
rubber and Healthcare marketing
related Retail and hotel solution
products Services Services services
HEBR BERER glreai
HEBER TERE EERE  BRARRE ‘
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT THT THT AT T
REVENUE e
External sales HINEE 226,082 75,674 16 912,058 1,213,830
Segment results EIES 11,242 (26,619) (11,176) 6,512 (20,041)
Unallocated income AABEWA 3317
Unallocated expenses AAWEAT (67,877)
Loss before tax BGERIEE (84,601)

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment results
represent profit earned by/(loss from) each segment without
allocation of certain other income and net gain, directors’
emoluments and central administrative expenses. This is the
measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Segment revenues reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no inter-
segment sales during the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023.

REDMOSTRRENEESHBR
MHE - DR FAREY EORE T H M
WAR W FRE - EEME MPRITH
FXEERT - &5 BREEmEE T, (E
EMER) WHE/RTEIREERRE
HETTERD B M RRFEOAE -

EG0PaR: 6 Ta@l\*ﬁ%ﬁ%iﬁ’]
H&/WE’\E&i_?_Pﬂi&_ -=
TZA=1— Etirjﬂﬁ’\“ﬁ?%ﬁ/ﬁ"
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZE—MF+-A=+—HIFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
by reportable and operating segment:

10. 5380&

S #)

PEEKEE

AT RAEERAIZRELEDHED
MEERBEDN

2024
—E-UE —E-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET T
Assets BE
Silicone rubber and related products =B R ARREE R 235,928 239,211
Retail services TEIRS 19,232 72,937
Healthcare and hotel services BEREDEE RS 100,739 113,273
Online marketing solution services R B ERRA T R AR 114,032 123,670
Total segment assets DEEERE 469,931 549,091
Unallocated corporate assets AOBRRIEE 146,090 150,095
Consolidated total assets REBERE 616,021 699,186
Liabilities =L
Silicone rubber and related products =B R AREE @ 210,596 151,115
Retail services TERSG 3,450 64,158
Healthcare and hotel services BB R 2 OB B BRTS 213,560 236,998
Online marketing solution services i AR T R AR 79,925 128,589
Total segment liabilities DEEERRE 507,531 580,860
Unallocated corporate liabilities KoL ARIBE 78,091 50,750
Consolidated total liabilities e BERE 585,622 631,610

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and E‘JEE”%?"*H%IE&EA“*BZFEJ 3L E R
allocating resources between segments: ms :

BRIEAFRAZEMEE(BEEREAYT
BRI HMEE R EARIER
SREE  REEQRMNERE &
FAR %E& S - e - Hity
}TEJ‘ISZ/TAIE ETRWERARIRIT
HERRIRE)IN  FIBEEMSE

EMEAT B

. all assets are allocated to operating segments other than °
assets for corporate use including financial assets at
FVTOCI, interests in associates, certain furniture, fixtures
and equipment, deposits, other receivables, certain loan
receivables and bank balances and cash; and

BRARBE(RRAIRERES &
TRAFAXEEMENS Iﬁ)?l\'
FERBEANEERENE -

° all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other °
than corporate liabilities including convertible bond,
certain accrued expenses and other payables.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. RE&ER =)
Other segment information Hith N EPE

Silicone Online
rubber and Healthcare ~ marketing
related Retail  and hotel solution
Unallocated products Services services services Total

EBR BRRR  RLEH
A2k HEEm  FERE REERE MRAREH st
HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
TRT TRT TRT TRT TRT TRT

Year ended 31 December BZ-Z-m%E

2024 TZR=t+-HL%EE
Amounts included in the A5 H&&50 7 WEE

measure of segment SIENEE

results or segment

assets:
Additions to property, plant ~ FENE - BERRE

and equipment 651 3,984 7,697 - 31 12,363
Depreciation of right-of-use  FREEENE

assets 5,104 7,838 4,789 1,163 437 19,331
Depreciation of property, plant 9% - BERRAETE

and equipment 1,229 5,635 1,675 842 71 9,452

Impairment losses (reversal of  FEMA T & BREAMFALREE
impairment losses) under EEENETRE
expected creditlossmodel  BRE(ERERESE)
recognised in respect of:

- Trade receivables ~ERE ZER - 190 168 - - 358

- Other receivables — it R 2,794 (781) = = = 2,013

- Loan receivables ~-EWER 5,047 1,988 - - - 7,035
Written off of other receivables  #RE tEIZIA = 13,375 = = = 13,375
Finance costs RERA 4,907 6,161 2,778 14,296 139 28,281
Interest income MEBA (5.479) (1,949) (558) (11) (20) (8,017)

Gain on disposal of property, ~ HEWE - BERZEUR
plant and equipment and REREENYE
right-of-use assets = = = (15,570) - (15,570)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 HZE—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

10. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Other segment information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December
2023

Amounts included in the
measure of segment
results or segment
assets:

Additions to property, plant
and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use
assets

Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment

(Reversal of impairment losses)
impairment losses under
expected credit loss model
recognised in respect of:
- Trade receivables
- Other receivables
- Loan receivables

Finance costs

Interest income

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment and
right-0f-use assets

Unallocated
RAR
HK$'000
T
BE-Z-=fF
TZAZ+-HILEE
SASHEER T HEE
GTEHEE .

RENE - BERR

409
FREEENE
4,800
nE - BEREENE
1319
FATSEEANESE
BERERETH(EE
REBE)FESSE :
~EREHER -
— At IR 7,401
~EUER (5857)
BARA 5323
FlEMA (5,605)
LEME - BERRE
NREBREEENNE

Silicone
rubber and
related
products
EB R
HEER
HK$'000
THL

314

8,405

7,709

(2,467)
3,740
1,046
5,157

(31

10. pEp&ER=#)
HithpEpE} &)

Retall
Services

TERS

HK$'000
A7

4,370

43873

1,305

484

951
(632)

Healthcare
and hotel
Services
BERE

Online
marketing
solution
Services

REERY @R

HK$'000
57

786

18,855
(20)

(29,600)

HK$'00

G —
BT

302

87

Total
ECh

HKS'000

=
BT

5136

18,430

11,206

(1,983)
1141
(4,811)
30,549
(6,192)

(29,606)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

10.SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 10. pEp&Rl =)
Revenue from major products and services FE2EERMIREKRS
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from sales AEBERIDEFPHELTEZEMRIE
of its major products and provision of services to external HARTEET R AT T -
customers:

2024 2023
—EomE —F_=F

HK$°000 HK$'000
TAET TAT

Consumer electronic devices peripheral HESTRERZER

products 235,586 222,765
Keypads for computers and notebooks EFEPE FRLLC b 312 146
Lifestyle products A RE M 4,606 1,809
Mobile phone peripheral products FHEEEM 143 254
Automotive peripheral products B ERER 3,121 898
Other products HAhZEm 262 210
Provision of healthcare and hotel services IRt BB RiE &B/E RS = 16
Retail services ZERE 98,870 75,674
Online marketing solution services &R AR T RS 627,161 912,058

970,061 1,213,830
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #ZE—

10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information

The Group’s operations are principally located in the PRC, the
UK and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers based on the location of the customers and
information about its non-current assets by geographical
location of the assets are detailed below:

TEF A=t HIEFE

10. REp&Rl =)
ih(@ B

AEENEETEVNTE  KEKE
7 e

AEBREFAEME D 2 KEBINEEE
PRl mER MIZEENRE D ZIER
BEEBRFINT

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

REIEEF R FRBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-IEF —ECNE T =fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FAT FHET FAT
The PRC (excluding o (B BBRIN)

Hong Kong) 748,061 1,039,111 180,579 203,498
Hong Kong BB 123,130 99,171 16,522 27,752
Europe B 98,870 75,548 1,335 48,283

970,061 1,213,830 198,436 279,538

Non-current assets exclude financial assets at FVTOCI, financial
assets at FVTPL, interests in associates, deferred tax assets
and goodwiill.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the total
sales of the Group in the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 are as follows:

Customer A* BPA*

FRDEETNBRBRAFEIIRLEE
hemBENEENEREE BHQTF
BRI EBREANRENEHEE  ©
B NRNER  BERAEENEE -

FE2EFER
RBE-_FT-_MFR-_FT_=F+—-A

=t— EIJJ:$F£ KEEAREEHER
REEL10%H) P RV M ER DI T

2024
—ECImEF

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
T

HK$°000
TR

109,880 182,906

*  Revenue from online marketing solution services.

* REREEHEBERT RIRBERE -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

11.0OTHER INCOME AND NET GAIN

Other income and net gain for the year are as follows:

11. Efthlix A B2 UXz 528
FREMBA R FEDT -

2023
—E=F

HK$'000
TAET

Other income and net gain E A A RN EFEE
Interest income FLEWA
— Loan receivables — ERER 7,967 6,123
- Bank deposits — SRITF 50 69
Total interest income FEW N HERE 8,017 6,192
Dividend income from financial assets at REZAFERIL A
FVTOC! HAb 2 EW AR
SREERSKA 65 194
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEMZE - BERBREAR
equipment and right-of-use assets FRAREEENRE 15,570 29,606
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries FEEHET B R RIS - 2,086
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of ~ YtE—FRIM B A RIHEE
a subsidiary (Note 38) Wi W R (113238) 317 -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) HENBRARIREE
(K17#39) (6,142) -
Loss on disposal of an associate (Note 25) & — M E A TR EE
(K17225) = 4,812)
Loss on disposal of financial assets at fair HERAFEYRILEEZE
value through profit or loss NEENESREENEE (495) -
Written-off of other receivables R B Ath B IR R IR (13,375) -
Exchange gain, net B 5 W 2 8 5,486 4,492
Fair value loss on investment properties HEMERNRNTEESE
(Note 21) (H1at21) (5,000) -
Impairment 10ss on interests in associates BN & B RE SR (E BT 18 (515) -
Government grants BT &
— Amortisation of deferred income — FRIRE U A SH
for the year 130 132
— Government grants (Note a) — BB & (ffita) 6,777 318
Net rental income (Note b) e YA TR (A a2b) 964 785
Sale of scrap materials HEBEEME 1,148 514
Others Hth 823 2,897

13,770 42,404
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #ZE—

11.0OTHER INCOME AND NET GAIN (Continued)

Notes:

(@  The amounts represent unconditional grants from government

TEF A=t HIEFE

for subsidising the operations of the subsidiaries in the PRC.

() Ananalysis of the Group’s net rental income is as follows:

1. EUR ARS8
Hist

@)

(b)

BRFIERRTREEDTEMNME LT

PRAE)

BENEGEHDE -

AEEHESWAFEOINLT

2023
T =F
HK$'000
T
Gross rental income AW AmBzE 964 785

Less: Outgoings incurred for investment B RERNEEESBARNIRE

properties that generated rental YIERTH R BFX
income during the year = -
Net rental income WA FEE 964 785
12. FINANCE COSTS 12. R& 7R

2024
—EomE

HK$'000
TR

2023
—E-=4F
HK$'000
FHET

Interest on: T EENFE
Borrowings B 20,246 24,838
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,813 4,366
Convertible bond AT ES 4,222 1,345
28,281 30,549
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. PFRiSTRAX

2024 2023
—BCORF —E-F
HK$‘000 HK$'000
FExT FAETT

Current taxation RIEATRIE

Provision for the year REERE

- PRC Enterprises Income Tax — SR 55 220
— UK Corporate Tax —HEPER 1,552 880
1,607 1,100

Deferred taxation IEERIE
Current year (Note 35) NEE (H17735) (793) 8
814 1,108

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the
consolidated financial statements since the Group has tax
losses brought forward of approximately HK$76,079,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$91,778,000) to set off
against current year's assessable profits.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Group is not subject
to any income tax in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

Taxation arising in the UK is calculated at the rates of 19% (2023:
19%).

HRAEBRREBEE ST _NE+ = A
—t+t-HLFEHBREEELEED
76,079,000/ 0 ( —ZZE = =4 : 91,778,000
B E AT ENERBAF -t s
PERA BT RERATIR BB ST -

RENSHERABRELHS ([ XBA
ZEB )RR TOER - A EEBES
WHBHEREBELHEBNTAHRE
Bi -

EREELANHRIBERIONHREAE (=
T-=4F 1 19%) °
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 HZE—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

13.INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 13.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss

FRiSTRMZ =)
BERBECERERE([LEREH
BN RO EFEBEAEBIES - b EK
B A T MR 1T R 49 525% o

FAMBHRAXBERBRRERMENK
BATE RS R T

as follows:
2024 2023
—EBolEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FETT
Loss before tax FRA AR (52,325) (84,601)
Tax credit at rates applicable to loss REAREHAEEER
before tax in the jurisdictions concerned BRIAIE BN EAER
BIGE R (11,847) (19,761
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BERBTMARN B2
purposes (9,147) (7,748)
Tax effect of expenses that are not AR M2
deductible for tax purposes 19,730 14,116
Utilisation of tax losses previously not BT I BRI IS EE
recognised (10,212) (3,848)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTEE BN G2 12,290 18,349
Income tax expense for the year FRMEHEX 814 1,108

Details of deferred taxation are shown in Note 35.

SEIETE IR R I SR PHRESS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

14.LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. FAEIE

2024 2023
—BoEF —Eo=F

HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Loss for the year has been arrived at after  FREHE JHEHIBRIA T &IE ¢

charging:
Auditor's remuneration ZE R &
— Audit services —FET RS 1,750 1,280
Cost of inventories sold (Note) BEFENARA ) 243,916 226,099
Traffic acquisition and monitoring costs EERENEEES
(included in cost of sales) (FrASHERAN) 609,558 894,714
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 19,331 18,430
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - BEREETE
equipment 9,452 11,206
Directors’ emoluments (Note 18) BEME(WiF18) 6,930 7,840
Staff costs (excluding directors’ BIRA(TBEESEHE)
emoluments) (Note 17) (H1a£17) 112,129 108,181
Note: Cost of inventories sold includes approximately HK$61,610,000 M- BETFENANREEFTEHR -
(2023: HK$69,350,000) relating to written off of inventories, BEINRA - M- BERZER
staff costs, depreciation of property, plant and equipment and ErFRAEEENTESANESE
depreciation of right-of-use assets, and such amounts are also 4761,610,0008 T (Z T = = F :
included in the respective total amounts disclosed separately 69,350,000/ ) + BEALEINERT

above. AR EXBIHENEBAER -



B FEFR

AFKEZRERLT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SRS HREMIEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #ZE—

ll"

15. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period.

16.LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss for the
year attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

TEF A=t HIEFE

15.

16.

iR
RBE-T-_MFR-T-=4F1+_A
=t- aiﬁﬁlﬁiﬁikﬁﬁ%&
AIRE - B3RS WA R R RS
RS, -

SREIE

BREABRNVENBE_T_OFR
ZEC=F+ A=+ —HILEFEARR
ABBEARLGFANBERAECETER
RE I AT E

2024
—E-ME
Loss for the year attributable to owners RAREE AL FAERE
of the Company (HK$'000) (F%&7T) (63,632) (88,035)
Weighted average number of ordinary BT B InkE T2
shares in issue ('000) (F) 1,307,170 1,306,767

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
conversion of the Company’s outstanding convertible bond
since their assumed exercise would result in a decrease in 10ss
per share.

HE_T-_NWFRER-_T-=-F+=A8
=+—HIFE SRESHEENTE
WARBRARNBE BT EREFNE
%o REAABRATERRERSTRER
W e
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17. 8THR (M BEEEHE)

17.STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

2024 2023

—EE —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e BB R EAMER 101,388 98,559
Performance related bonuses FRIRAEREIEAL 922 46
Retirement benefit schemes contributions  RIRIEFIET 21K 9,819 9,576
112,129 108,181

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution
schemes under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance which are available to qualified employees.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of
the subsidiaries in independently administered funds. Monthly
contributions made by the subsidiaries are calculated based
on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs or fixed
sums as stipulated under the relevant requirements, with
maximum relevant income level for contributions of HK$30,000
monthly.

BENMBARREEERNUEATES
A EIRDI A6 B R B R MR
g ZEFENEERBLEEESH
B ENBRARNEESH - MEBAR
BRARERFMRANE T B LR
R AR E AT AR Y B E SRR AR H R o fit
B U AKF LR &5 A 30,0008
T e
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

17. 8THR (M BEEEHE)

17.STAFF COSTS (EXCLUDING

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (continued)

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group participate in respective
government retirement benefit schemes (the “Schemes”)
whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the
Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the eligible
employees. Contributions made to the Schemes are calculated
based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs
as stipulated under the requirements in the PRC. The relevant
authorities of the PRC are responsible for the entire pension
obligations payable to the retired employees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the UK are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the government of the UK. The subsidiary is
required to contribute certain percentages of payroll costs to
the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

(&)

RETEBRAERNMAG - RAEEAOK
[~ B2 S HE B BT AR K AR A AT &
(IZE8 1) MEBARAMRILRZS
AHEEHH R - BAEEREBRMNRIKE
MIRHES - MRS EELOERTD
B BARGIRTAER T ANE T
BALEE - FEARERBARRK
BEXNEZERAKS -

AEBEBENBARME T RRER
& B Bl B IR KR A AT 8/ K
g o MERRIARIERARN—E L
FER R FFT B FR - A BEAREE
T o NEBERKBNE EROME—FE
EERIEEMHRRK -
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18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 18. EFRiTH @S
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s (a) ESNTHRARNE
Emoluments
Directors’ and chief executive officer's emoluments for REERBEALMHANEEER
the year, disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing AIRPIEENES RITHEHNS
Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, are as T
follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-ZE-_WE+-A=+—HL
FE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and other  Discretionary schemes
benefits bonus  contributions Total
e 2E BIRER
ik RER Mista HE o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TiEr T TR
Executive directors; HTEE
shiQi i35 - 3,582 - 18 3,600
Gao Feng =1 - 1,500 - - 1,500
LiJiuhua FhE - 1,462 - 18 1,480

Non-executive directors:  ¥HTES

Han Lei BE - = = - -
Chan Tsun Hong Philip BEE - = - - -
Gu Shixiang g2 - = = - -

Independent non-executive B FHTEES !

directors:

Zheng Chang Xing Bax (i)

(Note ) = - - _ _
Wang Lina IEH 120 - - - 120
Hu Jiangbing IR 110 - - - 110
Chan Siu Tat BRbE 120 - - - 120

350 6,544 = 36 6,930
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18. EEBRiTHAFEME =)

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(@)

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s

Emoluments (Continuead)
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Fees

e
HK§'000
TEL

(a)

Salaries,
allowances
and other
benefits

&
RE AR
HK$'000
TEL

SESRITHREME &)

HE-Z-=—F+=-A=+—AH1F
FE
Retirement
benefit
Discretionary schemes
bonus  contributions Total
RN
By TEAL HEe EH)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT Titn T

Executive directors: HITES:

Shi Qi jie) - 4,444 - 18 4,462

Gao Feng R - 1,500 - - 1,500

LiJiuhua FnE - 1,500 - 18 1518

Non-executive directors: FHTEE:

Han Lei #a - - - - -

Chan Tsun Hong Philip BIEE - - - - -

GU Shixiang Bt - - - - -

Independent non-executive B FEHTEE

directors;

Zheng Chang Xing (Note i) BEZ (M) - - _ _ _

Wang Lina IEH 120 - - - 120

Hu Jiangbing IR 120 - - - 120

Chan Siu Tat Bz 120 - - - 120
360 7,444 - 3 7,840

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
for their services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were for their services as Directors and its subsidiaries, if

applicable.

The independent non-executive directors” emoluments

shown above were for their services as Directors.

ERBITE RS IR FEM
HEBEARNARANEEEHE BN
ARG S A ©

BERTESNOME IR SE
REENMBAR(NER) EXR
HH R S A

BB IFMITES M E TR
FEREFRHEARIEM AT -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

18. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 18. EFRiTH@FEME )

OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s (a)
Emoluments (Continued)

Note:

(i) Appointed on 6 June 2023.

No Directors and the chief executive officer waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during both years.

(b) Five highest paid individuals emoluments (b)

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group, three (2023: three) were Directors whose
emoluments are set out above. The emoluments of the
remaining two (2023: two) highest paid employees are as

ESRITHRYEME @)

REEFE  SESEERITHRALR
MEXREREEFANE -

hERsSHALME

AEBLERRFALT =45
TTO=F I ZR)REFR KE
MBS EN EX - B I mA(=F
—ZHE - MB)RaTEENME

follows: O
2024 2023
—E-MF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHxT THET
Salaries, allowances and other e RN REMEF
benefits 2,737 3,360
Performance related bonuses EiEe - -
Retirement benefit schemes RIREFIET B
contributions 36 36
2,773 3,396
The emoluments are within the following bands: MleEEmT

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F

Number of Number of
employees employees

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001% 7T 21,500,000/ 7T
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7T £2,000,0007 7T

BEAH BE A
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 HZE—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. 1% - BiEkRIE

Furniture,
Properties Motor Plantand fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
held for own vehicles machinery equipment  improvements in progress
B HER B %E
ARNE HE e Rk HENEEE HBIE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T B B Thn Thn BT
Cost A
Asat 1 January 2023 RZE-=F-f-H 62,144 6,966 138,751 64,621 43452 45 315979
Exchange realignment ERHRE (299) 2 23 (148) () 0 (530)
Additions HE - 461 il 1322 3232 - 5136
Acquisition of a subsiciary (Note 38)  WE—TEHBAE W) - - - 32 - - 3
Transfer &3 - - - - TE) (¢36) -
Disposals/Write-off e /i (15,155) (374) (4,548) (1,469 (37 - (21917)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZBZ=E+ZA=1-H
1 January 2024 R-E-PmE-F- 46,691 6,626 134,301 64,558 46,724 = 298,900
Exchange realignment EREE (679) (45) (1,088) (895) (908) - (3,615)
Additions HE - 288 2,308 2913 6,854 - 12,363
Acquisition of a subsiciary (Note 38) - W —TEMBR M%) - - 691 250 - - 941
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39~ HEMBRA(239) = (599) = (6,725) (10932) - (18,256)
Disposals/Write-off HE /M (8,688) (323) (10,104) (6,741) (34) - (25,890)
As at 31 December 2024 RZZ2-ME+=A=1-A 31,324 5947 126,108 53,360 41,704 - 264,443
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE
Asat 1 January 2023 R-2-=F-A-H 7,664 4,406 118,845 56,647 36,247 - 223809
Exchange realignment Eing (182 (1) ®) (45) 79 - (325)
Provided for the year EpRE 1070 64 1577 2167 2738 - 11,206
Disposals e (1,880) (374) (1,255) (514) (154) - #177)
As at 31 December 2023 and RZEZZFTZR=1-A
1 January 2024 k-F-mE-f-H 6,672 4,685 122,159 58,255 38,742 - 230,513
Exchange realignment Eime (164) (33) (703) (686) (634) = (2,220)
Provided for the year MG 843 607 3,926 1479 2,597 - 9,452
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) ~ HEMBAR M) = (207) - (2312) (802) - (3321)
Disposals e (1,280) (263) (7.977) (6,636) (28) - (16,184)
As at 31 December 2024 H=#-mF+=A=1-8 6,071 4789 117,405 50,100 39,875 - 218,240
Carrying amount REE
As at 31 December 2024 W-B-mE+-F=t-A 31,2583 1,158 8,703 3,260 1,829 - 46,203

As at 31 December 2023 RZBZ=E+-A=1-H 40,019 19 12,142 6,303 7982 - 68,387
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

Properties held for own use situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term of lease
and their estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years
after the date of initial recognition.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except
for construction in process, are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives less residential values as
follows:

Estimated useful life

fhat A e A S B
Motor vehicles 5 years
AE 5%
Plant and machinery 10 years
i K e 2s 105

Furniture, fixtures and equipment
B B REE

Leasehold improvements
HEWFEERE

3E104F

Retail services

The Group resulted a segment loss on retail services of
approximately HK$26,619,000 during the year ended 31
December 2023. The Directors considered an impairment
indicator existed and carried out an impairment assessment on
the CGU of retail services.

At 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment with carrying amount of approximately
HK$8,730,000 related to retail services segment have been
determined based on their value in use. The Group estimates
the value in use based on cash flow projection which derived
from financial budgets, approved by the management of
the following 5 Years using a pre-tax discount rate of 14%.
There was no impairment considered necessary of provide in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2024: Nil).

310 10 years

19. 1% ~ BEKRIB=)

ME L ERHER R RERERD
MR B E (45 Al E A A I (R AN TR
HIR50F M) EE EFTEITE -

BREZTREI - U EWE - BFEERE
T8 B A B AORIR A Nl AT A R
MREEENE

Residual value
FerEE

10%

10%

10%

Shorter of the lease term and 5 to 10 years -
HHANSZE10F - RS E A%

BERE
HE-_ZT-_=-F+-_HA=+—HLHF
B ASERTEERBEIEESEHBE
184726,619,000/8 7T ° &HRATFERE
DR WHEERBHIRECEEEGE
ITRAERTY ©

RZEBE-_=F+-"A=+—H " REE
%9 /38,730,000%8 L ZE R D 56 B
B BEREENTKESEDR
BEERAEEET - FASBEREERE
HENRRAFHBBEENR S RERE
BlEETERER  FRMMAMEERA
UW% BE-_ZE-_=F+_HA=+—HIt
FE HZEeVBRRPUIBRERAETE
SHERENRE(ZZEME - &) -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 HZE—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)
Healthcare and hotel services

The Group resulted a segment loss on healthcare and hotel
services of approximately HK$7,992,000 (2023: HK$11,176,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Directors
considered an impairment indicator existed and carried out an
impairment assessment on the CGU of healthcare and hotel
services.

At 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount of property,
plant and equipment with carrying amount of approximately
HK$31,253,000 (2023: HK$40,019,000) under this segment
have been determined based on their fair value less cost
of disposal. The Group uses direct comparison to estimate
the fair value less cost of disposal of the assets which is
based on the recent transaction prices for similar properties
adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the property.
There was no impairment considered necessary of provide in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

The carrying value of properties held for own use shown above
comprises of:

Medium-term lease FHEIEE
- PRC —

19. 1% ~ BEKRIB=)

BERRLBIERS

HE_Z-_MF+_A=+—HLILHF
B AEERBERENAERESE
BB D B 47,992,000 (-2 - =
F 1 11,176,000/87T) - EERAFER
BEFR - WS ERE OB ERBHIR
SEABLMETRERTG -

RZEBE-_WME+_A=+—8  Zof
BREEX A31,2530008 (=& ==
F 1 40,019,000 70 ) I - E k&
EOTRESEERELATFERLE
FRANETE - ANEBFE B EEZLEA AR
BENAFEBREERA - IENE
LMERTBETZEREE  UTHWE
ME - EMEHFETHAE BEZZT
“NE+-—AZ+—RHIEFE  KAH
BREPWERR AT ZTIRBEOR
B(ZE-=F &)

LS ER R ENREERR

2024
—ElmEF

HK$'000
FTERT

31,253 40,019

As at 31 December 2024, properties located in the PRC under
medium-term lease with carrying value of approximately
HK$31,253,000 (2023: HK$40,019,000) have been pledged to
secure other borrowings (Note 31) granted to the Group.

RZE-_WMFE+-_A=+—H ' E@
fE4731,2530008 L (=T = =& :
40,019,000 7e) iz A P B IR IE R B &
BENYES TER  (EALXEBEE
REMETHFES) HER -
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

20.[EHiE&S=E

Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
HELih HEWE et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAIT FHIT
Cost 5%
As at 1 January 2023 R-ZE=-=F—H—H 97,779 80,473 178,252
Additions NE - 17,254 17,254
Acquisition of a subsidiary W iE —REN B AR
(Note 38) (H1:#38) - 833 833
Disposal/Written off HE s (28,118) - (28,118)
Exchange realignment M H 531 2,160 2,691
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=F
and 1 January 2024 +=ZA=+—-HBHR
“E-E—-A—H 70,192 100,720 170,912
Additions NE - 9,117 9,117
Disposal of subsidiaries L EHTE AR
(Note 39) (K15#39) - (50,446) (50,446)
Disposal/Written off &M (11,998) = (11,998)
Exchange realignment M 5, (1,043) 766 (277)
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-—mE
+=BA=+—H 57,151 60,157 117,308
Accumulated depreciation ZEiHiFE
As at 1 January 2023 R-EBE-=F—H—H 13,547 20,325 33,872
Disposal/Written off HE W (3,325) - (3,325)
Charge for the year FAHR 1,679 16,751 18,430
Exchange realignment b AR (208) 354 146
As at 31 December 2023 R-TBE-=F
and 1 January 2024 +=A=+—-HBE
—E-mFE—-H—H 11,693 37,430 49,123
Charge for the year F AR 1,257 18,074 19,331
Disposal of subsidiaries HEWB QR
(Note 39) (K15£39) - (14,266) (14,266)
Disposal/Written off HE e (1,768) - (1,768)
Exchange realignment (RIS (368) (143) (511)
As at 31 December 2024 R-ZEBE-_ME+—A
=+—H 10,814 41,095 51,909
Carrying amount BRMEE
As at 31 December 2024 R-E-_ME
+=—HA=+—H 46,337 19,062 65,399
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=F

+=A=+—H 58,499 63,290 121,789
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20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the total cash
outflow for leases amounted to approximately HK$20,982,000
(2023: HK$13,422,000).

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended 31
December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$9,117,000
(2023: HK$17,254,000) due to new leases of office premises
with the lease term of 5-9 years (2023: 5-9 years).

Retail services

The Group resulted a segment loss on retail services of
approximately HK$26,619,000 during the year ended 31
December 2023. The Directors considered an impairment
indicator existed and carried out an impairment assessment on
the CGU of retail services.

At 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of right-of-use
assets have been determined based on their value in use. The
Group estimates the value in use using a pre-tax discount rate
of 14%. There was no impairment considered necessary of
provide in the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2024: Nil).

Healthcare and hotel services

The Group resulted a segment loss on healthcare and hotel
services of approximately HK$7,992,000 (2023: HK$11,176,000)
during the year ended 31 December 2024. The Directors
considered an impairment indicator existed and carried out an
impairment assessment on the CGU of healthcare and hotel
Services.

At 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount of right-of-use
assets have been determined based on their fair value less
cost of disposal. The Group uses direct comparison to estimate
the fair value less cost of disposal of the assets which is
based on the recent transaction prices for similar properties
adjusted for nature, location and conditions of the property.
There was no impairment considered necessary of provide in
the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: Nil).

As at 31 December 2024, leasehold land located in the PRC
under medium-term lease with carrying value of approximately
HK$43,136,000 (2023: HK$55,237,000) have been pledged to
secure other borrowings (note 31) granted to the Company.

TEF A=t HIEFE

AFKEZRERLT

20. [EHIES=E 2

BHE_Z_WWF+-_A=+—8I1IF
€ - ER € R85 5420,982,0008
TT(ZE =4 : 13,422,000/ 7T) °

HE-_FT-_NWF+-_A=+—HILHF
e ﬁﬁﬁﬁéé“?mi'bui’]7%9117ooo,a
(=T =4 : 17,254,000/ T )
REAFABHASEIF(ZT-=F -519@
RIFTIMAZEMERE -

BRI

HE—_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—HLHF
B AEERZTERE S EBEEDBE
184926,619,00087C - EERBIFERE
R THEERBHBESEESE
TTRERS °

R-ZF_=—F+-_A=1+—H8 E£H#%
éf?ﬁ’]"fﬂﬁl@ﬁ%ﬁiaffﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ{gfﬁﬁ-%

o ARERBIE A 14% R B AT RE IR R fhFHE
ﬁﬁfﬁfﬁ BE_ZT_=F+-_A=1+—
BIEFE  GAUMBRRPALBERRR
FEEREOHE( T -MF - 8) -

SRR NIBISIRES

HE-_T-HmOF+-_A=1+—HILHF
B AEBERBEREROERSE @
ﬁ?ﬁa‘ﬁ\ﬁﬁﬁﬂ?ﬂ%’]ZgQZ,OOO/ETE(— ==
F 111,176,000 L) - EERABFLM
BEFR - WHEHRRERDOERSHIE
SEAEBMETRERG -

RZE-_WMFE+_A=+—8  FRA#
BEMNAWRESEEREELQAFERL
ERAETE - AEEFAEELBAG
STEEMAFERBERA -t ER
BUMEMLBEIZEREE - WY
EHE  UBERIEGETAE - ESZI:
Z_MF+-_A=Z+—HILEFE
B 75 3R 3% I B 1 R %mx.:ﬂﬂ?éﬁﬂ’]
BE(ZEZ=F  £]) -

RZEZ_WF+ZH=+—H0  EE
B A 4431360008 T(ZF = =F :
55,237,000/ 70 ) "L A R Bl AR 5 R HAFR &
BENBEELME FIRIF - (EAARQF
PR HAb g SR (M EE3 1) BIHELR ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

21.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

21. IR&ME

HK$'000
TR

FAIR VALUE DFE
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and R-—E-_=F—H—HQ8"
1 January 2024 —E-=F+-A=+—HEK
—EoF—HA—H 21,000
Fair value changes recognised in profit and loss RIERERO QT EZE) (5,000)
As at 31 December 2024 RZZEZE+—A=+—H 16,000

@)

All of the Group's property interests held under operating
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
purposes are measured using the fair value model
and are classified and accounted for as investment
properties. The fair value of the Group's investment
properties as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was arrived
at on the basis of valuations carried out at the date by
Sinoappraisal Advisory Limited respectively, independent
firms of qualified professional valuers not connected
to the Group, who have appropriate qualifications and
recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties
in Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair
value of investment properties is a level 3 recurring fair
value measurement. There were no transfers between
level 1 and level 2, or transfer into or out of level 3 during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

There has been no change from the valuation technigue
used in the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the
properties, the highest and best use of the properties is
their current use. Fair values of investment properties
of the Group are generally derived using the direct
comparison method. Significant adjustments are usually
required to allow for any qualitative differences that may
affect the price likely to be achieved by the property
under consideration. The significant unobservable
inputs include market price HK$6,911/sg.m. (2023:
HK$8,962/sq.m.) and adjusted taking into account of
locations and other individual factors such as size of land
and construction in progress and conditions of prices.

An increase in the market price used would result in an
increased in fair value, and vice versa.

@

AEERKEERERE BN RIE
SHETNIEERTE Y FEERT A
AFERNGE  THBEBRAR
DIVEREME - REBIREYME
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BENTEEMERARSINER
ETHHERE  ZZEIEER
EEAEMEREEmEE - B
EHEAREMELENGREER
Nir iR ES c M ER T
“ZF+-B=1+—H ®REYE
AT EASE ZFKEEEA T ER
E-HEZ_MER-_ZT-_=F
+ZA=+—HLFE  WESE—
BHEZEENEYR - B AR
BHEZE -

fHERMEE A FE P AMMEL
WHEESLE - NMEFTWEHRFEE
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #ZE—

SRS HREMIEE

21.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

(o)

©

The investment properties shown above are situated in
Hong Kong and held under medium-term lease.

As at 31 December 2024, properties located in Hong
Kong under medium-term lease with carrying value of
approximately HK$16,000,000 (2023: HK$21,000,000)
have been pledged to secure bank borrowings (Note 31)
granted to the Group.

22.GOODWILL

TEF A=t HIEFE

21. 188

(o)

©

=37 EJ¢))

A EPTRAREFHRERBALR
FEMREYE

RZZE-_WF+—_A=+—8" &k
T 8 #716,000,000/8 T (=& ==
4 21,000,0007 70 ) (L A BB R IE
FHEESENWED TR E
BRE B FTEREITIER(ME3T)
HIFER -

22.H8

HK$'000
TAT

At carrying value: ZIREE :
As at 1 January 2023 R-E-_=F—H—H 2,166
Arising from business combination (Note 38) BEBEHEENZE38) 20,552
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—HRK

—FEoWFE—-—H—H 22,718
Less: Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) B BB AR (MEE39) (2,166)
As at 31 December 2024 RZZEZE+=—A=+—H 20,552
For the purpose of impairment assessment, goodwill set RBEEFGME - LB skEER

out above has been allocated to CGU relating to the (i) retail
services; and (i) online marketing solution services.

Segment

3
PN

The CGUs were identified as follows:

OEERH : ROV ELERATRRE
BRME SELE B -

2024 2023
—EoF —E-=F
HK$'000
FET

HK$°000
TR

WeEEBMETELT
East Shack Ltd. (Disposed on 18 November  Retail services
2024) = 2,166
East Shack Ltd. (R=Z=UF+—A+/\B TERH
HE)
Beijing Jusheng Online marketing solution
services 20,552 20,552
IRER R IR TS R IRTS
20,552 22,718
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZE—ZT_MF+-_A=+—HILFE

22. GOODWILL (continued) 22. B8 #)

Retail services

The recoverable amount of this CGU as at 31 December 2023
has been determined based on a value in use calculation with
reference to a valuation performed by Sinoappraisal Advisory
Limited. The calculation use cash flows projections based on
financial budget approved by management covering 5-years
period and pre-tax discount rate of 14%. Cash flows beyond
the 5-years period have been extrapolated using a steady 2%
growth rate. The growth rate is based on relevant industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. Other key assumptions
for the value in use calculation relate to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows include budgeted sales and gross profit
margin.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, management of the
Group determines that there is no impairment on East Shack
Ltd.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of East Shack Ltd. The Directors believe that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment during the year ended 31 December
2023.

As mentioned in note 39, on 18 November 2024, the Group
disposed of its entire interests in East Shack Ltd, and its
subsidiaries. Accordingly, the goodwill in East Shack Ltd of
HK$2,166,000 is disposed.

Online marketing solution services

The recoverable amount of this CGU as at 31 December
2024 and 2023 has been determined based on a value in by
use calculation with reference to a valuation performed by
Sinoappraisal Advisory Limited. The calculation use cash
flows projections based on financial budget approved by
management covering 5-years period and pre-tax discount rate
of 15% (2023: 44%). Cash flows beyond the 5-years period have
been extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate (2023: 2%).
The growth rate is based on relevant industry growth forecasts
and does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the
relevant industry. Other key assumptions for the value in use
calculation relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows
include budgeted sales and gross profit margin.

BERES

RZZEZ=F+A=+—RH #ZH&
EXELNAIRBEESDENERER
AEUS2EPHETEETERREAR
NREBETHHEMETE - A EHER
ERNEREMLERE L FHNI KA
EHRIR© M E TR A R T ATERIR & 14% ©
HEAAFHNReREETABEE R
2% T A o RERTEPEBITE
BRI RYEBBEBITEN TSR
HiE R K o ﬁﬁijfﬁi//m)\///|bﬂj15u+m
HinEAEEAENTIERRBEEE
HERENE -

BE T -_=%+-_A=+—HI#F
€ NEEMEIEEE FEast Shack Ltd
W FE °

A] Y [B] & B8 K 08 & pAEast Shack Ltd i B

HE #B#E2—ZT-_=F+=-HA=+—H
IEFE  EERAAMNZSEBRENEM
GIEAREEE R T2 EBURE °

AP FE39FTM c M- E - E+— A
+\ B » REEH S H R East Shack Ltd
LENMBARMHZ IR - Ett » East
Shack Ltd&#I 282,166,000/ 08 FHE °

??J:Mﬁﬁﬁ”‘%ﬁ?%ﬂ&ﬁ"‘

RZEZNFR_ZZ=%+=A
_+ El WZREEEEMHITRE S
HRBERBEAENLR2EPHFET
BETEREABRARETHHENE
E o ZETEFERENEREEL & AHSF
W TETEE R AT R 15% (T ==
& 44%) MRS METEN © EBIBSF A
RERENFABEN2% (T _=F :
2% 3G R EEITHELT I REE AR
FWREA - THEAEBEFEFNTER
HERX - FREBEEAENEMERR
FEGEHBESRA S RLER - BIEE
HIHEREREMNE -



B FEFR

AFKEZRERLT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wn © B 5 H R bI 5

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HZ_—ZF

22. GOODWILL (continued)
Online marketing solution services (Continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on Beijing Jusheng.

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying
amount of Beijing Jusheng. The Directors believes that any
reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment.

23.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

—E+Z A=+ —HILER

22. 58 #)
R IEHMERARIRF (&)
BE-_T-_mME&ER-_TE-=4F+_5H

=+ BLEFE AEEEEEEEN
It REABERE -

AlpeRBREeRNItREEANKRES
B EERR EURFRENEAA
BEEREZEOTEEHRE

23 i"‘"ilziﬁﬁlJﬂF]tf'Eﬂbiﬁlﬂ

mNEIENERNEE

2024 2023

—EBolEF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Listed equity investments (Note a) FWRAIEE (Hfita) 3,057 2,957
Unlisted equity investments (Note b) FEETRRAIEE (A7a2D) 8,146 -
11,203 2,957

Notes:

(@  The above equity securities represent ordinary shares of entities
at Taiwan. These investments are not held for trading, instead,
they are held for long-term strategic purposes. The Directors
have elected to designate these investments in financial
assets at FVTOCI as they believe that recognising short-term
fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or loss
would not be consistent with the Group's strategy of holding
these investments for long-term purposes and realising their
performance potential in the long run.

The listed equity securities are determined based on the quoted
market bid prices available on the relevant stock exchange and
categories as level 1 under fair value hierarchy. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the fair value gain of approximately
HK$153,000 (2023: the fair value loss of approximately
HK$200,000) had been recognised in the other comprehensive
income.

Het -

(a) FHRAFBHIELEEBHNLTBA - %
FSREWIEHEEE MR ER AR
Bl - BEFEEBRETZENEREE
ZRERAFEINRLEEMEE K
NERE  RRAHERAEREEANERZ
ERENTFENERRDEAEERE
ZEREBERPENRRREERER
TG N HI RIS —EL -

FEHRAESTVRERERESRZ S
ABHNMZEEAREET  UHEEA
ANFEEBELAE—E HE_ZT-NF
+ZA=+—BIEFE  AFEKED
153,000 T (=B - =4 : AV {EEIE
#9200,00075 7T ) B 74 E fth 2 U s R e

7
o ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

23P“¢EW$IT ifth % mliX

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)  The unlisted equity investments represent the Group’s equity
interests in the unlisted PRC company. The Group holds 2.7027%
equity interest in the unlisted PRC company, which is engaged
in the automotive industry. The Group did not have significant
influence on this invested entity.

The fair value of unlisted equity investments are estimated using
the market approach. The Group determines comparable public
companies based on industry, size, leverage and strategy and
calculates an appropriate price multiple for the comparable
company identified. The valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is available. During the year
ended 31 December 2024, the fair value loss of approximately
HK$2,455,000 (2023: Nil) had been recognised in the other
comprehensive income.

24.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

=mNRIENEREE 2

Biet - (&)

()  FEEMBRAREEAEERIELTHE
NRIAEIE - AEERFFIELTHER
AIHY2.7027% %4 - % A EIEF BT
¥ o AEEHZEREATRITESAY
2 o

IEEMRAREN A FEFRAT S ARG
e REBMBEITE A - Eaf*%&
REEARETAELE TR
.:Jr’%‘E;%EJ‘JéEttf AIMEE FT%

o HERME AR EF A B
Tsﬁﬁmi@—%zﬁ HE-_Z_-_mW+=
A=+—BLFE  AFEEBEYD
24550008 L (ZE =4 : #)BRHE
fh 2 E U P RERR o

24. BT EYIRITEIE S AR

NEMNSE

2024 2023
—EMMEFE —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

Investment in participating life insurance
policies

RAOARENRE

FET T

- 495

In March 2023 and June 2023, the Group's subsidiary, Ta
Yang Silicone Rubber Industrial Limited (“Ta Yang Silicone
Rubber”), entered into two participating life insurance policies
with two insurance companies to insure its employees. Under
both policies, the beneficiaries and the policy holders are Ta
Yang Silicone Rubber. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group paid an upfront premium of approximately
HK$495,000. The Group can terminate the policy at any time
and receive cash back based on the cash value of the policy at
the date of withdrawal (“Cash Value”), which is determined
by the premium amount payment plus accumulated interest
earned minus the accumulated insurance charges and a
specific amount of the surrender charge if the withdrawal is
made before the specified policy year. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the two life insurance policies were
withdrawn. Accordingly, a loss on disposal of approximately
HK$495,000 was recognised.

RZEBE_=ZF=ZART_=FA"
$%EWEQEK#E@PI¥E@
A([ R FEERRB D Rl EmERREA
RN MM DEIRE - BEB TR ° @
BIRE  ImARREBBEABGAKRF
EERB BE_T_—F+A=+—
BIEFE AEEEEXN—FBEHRE
#9495,00078 7T o 2N 5 B 7] BE BF AR I EAR
B UREBREANRDNHBNRESER
((REeEBEDENROE  HIREE
EREHNNRESEN ERFTHRIN
FERBERBRERAREESENRR
%%(m#%*%%if%%ﬁ)ﬁ%
FeoHE_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HIt
FE zﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁeﬁ% H it
EHERR & 518 49495,0008 7T ©
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 HZE—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

25.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 25. RIEENEINES

2024 2023

—E N —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

Unlisted shares, at cost IEETRRD  RARAE 1,740 1,225
Share of loss of associates DL E R F R EE (1,225) (1,225)
Impairment BE (515) -
Details of the associates at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are as R-ZE-_WMEER-_ZE-_=%+_-AH

follows: —t+—HABEQRFEDOT

Form of Place of Proportion of ownership
business incorporation/ Registered/ interest and voting rights

Name of company structure place of business share capital held by the Group  Principal activities
SR ARERENETEEER

INGER $REERS  SEnE RAVA T R E R FEEE
2024 2023
“ECmE —T-=F

BiOcean Holdings Limited ~ Incorporated Hong Kong HK$2,500,000 49% 49% Investment holding
Rl AV B 2,500,000/ 7T 49% 49% HEER

AERH(D8)BERE Incorporated  PRC RMB10,000,000 20% - Trading of medical
BRAR (K¥RR) equipment
(Note a)

AARR(DB)BEMBE Ky HE AKH10,000,0007C 20% - BEERRE
BRI KRR
(Wiita)

MMAFRRREBERER  Incorporated  PRC RMB1,000,000 33% - Inactive
27 ("MK (Note b)

MMREREREEREE SR HE AR ®1,000,0007T 33% - FER

DEI(MNARE]) (H72b)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

25.INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 25. REENBNES =)

Notes: Kt -

(@)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group, together (a) Eki ZHFE+ZA=+—HIEHF
with independent third parties, set up A ¥ B ¥¢ in the PRC, of KE EREBE=FEPBEKL
which the Group holds 20% equity interest of A ¥ B 3¢ . The K?i B EPAE@EIZARFRX
registered capital of X ¥ B 3¢ is RMB10,000,000, of which 20% K AR HE o RIFR KB FMERR
RMB2,000,000 is to be contributed by the Group. During the AR #10,000,0007C © B AREEHE
year ended 31 December 2024, HK$515,000 (equivalent to AR #2,000,0007T c B EZ-ZFTZF
RMB492,000) has been paid for the Group’s portion of capital +TZA=+—HLFE  AEBEHM
contribution. 515,0007% 7t (16 & 7 A K #492,0007T)

ERETESS -

(b)  During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group, together b HEZZ-NF+-A=+—HILF
with an independent third party, set up #% M X 3 in the PRC, e Zx‘éléﬁi?%iﬁﬁiﬁﬁqﬂ EilzavE
of which the Group holds 33% equity interest of # | A 3 . MAF - HRAREERFEIMNAFEIZ%
The registered capital of #7 M A ¥ is RMB1,000,000, of which HIRRHE - UK FERFEMELRBEAR
RMB330,000 is to be contributed by the Group. During the year #1,000,0007C - EHRAREFBEEAR
ended 31 December 2024, none of the Group’s portion of capital #330,0007T - BHE_ZT_MF+=A
contribution has been paid. =t+—HIEFE  AEBREARANSEE

BEH ©

() During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed (€ REEZTZ_=F+-A=+—HLHF
of the interest held in X¥1t5 to an independent third party at B ARENEREHERKFHEREY
no consideration. The Group recognised the loss on disposal of BT —EBBUE =T o AEBERH
approximately HK$4,812,000. Upon the completion of disposal, EE1E 44,812,000 T - HEEHET
FFHE R is no longer an associate of the Group. K& RFEERTBAASENBE A

Ej °
26.INVENTORIES 26.76
2024 2023
—EBoNEF —E=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET AT

Raw materials R 4,687 5,162

Work-in-progress TR 3,971 3,825

Finished goods BURK fh 22,015 29,087

30,673 38,074
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 #HE-Z-_MF+_-_A=+—HAILFE
27. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27. [EWE AR H {th FELULFRIB
2024 2023
—EBoNE - =F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT T
Trade receivables FEUWE SRR
— from third parties —REWE=7 59,610 62,054
Less: Allowance for ECLS A TBAMEEEERE (5,991) (5.747)
53,619 56,307
Prepayment ?EH?XIE 45,257 28,607
Prepayment for purchasing advertising traffic & E & REFEN B 91,141 92,307
Deposits e 32,550 33,644
Other receivables Hith fEUGRIA 90,978 93,174
Less: Allowance for ECLS B TEAMEERERE (11,155) (11,141)
248,771 236,591
302,390 292,898
Presented as: EXd- R
—Non-current assets —EMBEE 16,268 15,927
— Current assets —mENEE 286,122 276,971
302,390 292,898
The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. REEN AR ZF LR EREAD -
The Group normally grants to its customers credit periods REBE—BRETFTEZEFNFI0HENH
ranging from 30 to 90 days which are subject to periodic review 1= EHH ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ BEe T g EBE

by the management. BHY -
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

27.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

In respect of other receivables at 31 December 2024 and
2023, the Group estimated the loss allowance on an individual
basis. During the year ended 31 December 2024, an amount of
approximately HK$1,088,000 (2023: HK$4,482,000) is provided
on individual basis and considered as credited-impaired
due to the long outstanding or of poor credit history. The
loss allowance for the remaining balances of approximately
HK$61,128,000 (2023: HK$66,469,000) are measured
at an amount equal to 12-month ECL of approximately
HK$10,067,000 impairment loss allowances has been provided
at 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$6,659,000), taking into account
the probability of default and loss given default of respective
balances. During the year ended 31 December 2024, other
receivables of approximately HK$13,375,000 were written off
due to the deregistration of certain debtor and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery.

An ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for
ECLs based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

27. [EUY S SRR H {th FEUYSRIA

(%)

MR _E-_WERN T -_=F+_-A8
T —HMEMERFIEmNS  A5E
ZEEEGGTBEERE HE_-Z

“WNE+-—AZ+—HIFE mwa
HAREENTREERS - REAMNE
#hmﬁﬁmﬁm%mn&ﬂ_?_:
F 4,482,000 70)  WHBIEEEE
TE o TR AEER461,128,000/8 TT( — &
T =4 66,469,000 T8 ) B 5 18 B S
REER-_ZE-_NF+=_A=+—HE
sHRREEEEEI2EATEHREEER
B4 FE4910,067,0008 T( Z B - =4 :
6,659,000 7TC) 5= + &P EF REHHEE
MABEEGNENEE B2 T = IY
F+_AZ+—BILFE  HHEWRR
184913,375,00078 LB & T & AGE#E M
By B EERRERIR -

RBEHRR - HBBREEERRER
MR E 5 iR R IR % R B IR BRI DA
L

2024 2023

—E-EF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

0to 90 days 0&90H 41,605 47,138
91 days to 1 year MBE—F 12,014 9,169
53,619 56,307
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27.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

27. [EUY S SRR H {th FEUYSRIA

(Continued) (%)
The movements in the allowance for ECLS of trade receivables is JEWE SRS BHEEBEREE
as follows: N
2024 2023
—E-lmEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
At 1 January n—H—H 5,747 7,718
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed) ERER,(BE)REFE 358 (1,983)
Exchange realignment M 5 SR B (114) 12
At 31 December R+-_A=1+—H 5,991 5,747

The movements in the allowance for ECLs of other receivables

Hip W RIEN AR EEEEREED

is as follows: RN
2024 2023
—E —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
At 1 January n—H—H 11,141 -
Impairment loss recognised ERERREEE 2,013 11,141
Amounts written off as uncollectible W8 A A O R FRIE (1,784) -
Exchange realignment b SR B (215) -
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 11,155 11,141
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

27.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 2

(Continued)

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, the analysis of trade
receivables net of allowance under ECL that are past due but
not impaired are as follows:

Total

#Et
HK$'000
FATT

As at 31 December 2024 R=—ZB=—N%E

+=RA=+—H 53,619

7. [EUY S 3 0R TR % H fth fE U Fh 18
(%)
RZE-_MER_ZT-_=F+=A4
—1+—08 BEAHETERENEKE
SERGIKRIEHEEEERE) O
o

Oover
CONEVES
but less

than 1 year
90H A E
BLR—F
HK$'000
FAT

Neither
past

due nor
impaired
b =36 B 7R
ERE
HK$'000
FAT

Less than
90 days

DR90H
HK$'000
TAT

17,083 24,522 12,014

As at 31 December 2023
56,307

21,924 25,214 9,169

Trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there is no recent
history of default.

Trade receivables that are past due but not impaired relate to
a number of independent customers that have a good track
payment record with the Group.

Included in trade and other receivables are the following
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities to which they relate:

3 48 780 2 71 45 OR1 (B A FE M 5 BR R ER AT
HW EARCENS R EFERH -

B8 B I SR E 7 IR E 5 BR B AR
SEZRARFNACHENBLIER,A
A -

e E 5 B S B FE R IR B 38 T 51
NHEAEEERN I EBEAINNER
FHEMEHE

2024
—E-mE

HK$°000
TR

34,786
68

us$
GBP

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
T

35,927
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28.LOAN RECEIVABLES 28. ESE
2024 2023
—EMF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Loan receivables FEWE R 139,740 124,383
Less: Provision for impairment of loan W EREFURE R
receivables (28,463) (21,980)
111,277 102,403
Presented as: By
- Non-current assets —JERBEE 54,566 52,435
— Current assets —RBEE 56,711 49,968
111,277 102,403
All of the loan receivables bear interest and are repayable FrE R E S AT B I AR BE AR
within the fixed term agreed with the borrowers of 1-2 years. EWETHR—EMFAEE - R=_F
As at 31 December 2024, the average effective interest rate of ZHFE+ZA=+—8  BKERNHTE
the loan receivables was 5.5% t0 12% (2023: 5.5% to 12%) per HEBRINEAETFSSBE12% (T =
annum. F:55%%12%) °
An analysis of the gross amount of loan receivables is as JEWESRBEERDITINT -
follows:

Lifetime Lifetime

ECL ECL

12-month (not-credit (credit
ECL impaired) impaired)

1218 A FEABN FRAEN
BHFEER RUGEER RUGEBR

(URETAE  (RERE) it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T AL A7 A7

2024 —E-MEF 4,662 123,773 11,305 139,740
2023 s 53,652 59,283 11,448 124,383
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)
R

28.LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movements on the Group's impairment of loan receivables are

as follows:

28. BUWSR#)

AEENRKEFTREZLSNT

Loan receivables

EWER
Lifetime Lifetime
ECL ECL
12-month (not-credit (credit
ECL impaired) impaired)
1284 REHEH REHEH
BHGERRE BAGERE EAHEEFA
(EEEERE) (ZERE) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT T
As 1 January 2023 RZZE-_=%—F—H 13,185 6,046 7,560 26,791
Net changes on gross amount LR TE 5116 (5,116) - -
Changes due to financial RZE-=%#—A—H
instruments recognised as ReBTHLEHH
at 1 January 2023: 2%
~Transfer to lifetime —EREFER (7,900) 7,900 - -
- Transfer to lifetime (crediit ~EREFERH
impaired) (FERE) (39) (930) 969 -
(Reversal)/provided for the year (&) /#fE (6,678) (1,052) 2919 4,811)
As at 31 December 2023 and R-Z-=F
1 January 2024 +-A=t-8k
“E-NFE—-A—H 3,684 6,848 11,448 21,980
Changes due to financial RZZE-_mF—A—H
instruments recognised as BACBIABEN
at 1 January 2024: 2% :
~Transfer to lifetime ~EREFERH (3,684) 3,684 - -
Provided for the year EREE 298 6,737 - 7,035
Exchange realignment R (6) (403) (143) (552)
As at 31 December 2024 R-Z_MF
+-A=+—~H 292 16,866 11,305 28,463
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28.LOAN RECEIVABLES (continued)

The management estimates the estimated loss rates of loan
receivables based on historical credit loss experience of the
debtors on individual basis.

For loan receivables that are not credit-impaired without
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
("Stage 1"), ECL is measured at an amount equal to the portion
of lifetime ECL that results from default events possible within
the next 12 months. If a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition is identified (“Stage 2") but not yet deemed
to be credit-impaired, ECL is measured based on lifetime ECL.
If credit-impaired is identified (“Stage 3"), ECL is measured
based on lifetime ECL. In general, when loan receivables and
interest receivables are overdue, there is significant increase in
credit risk.

As at 31 December 2024, the impairment allowance
provided for loan receivables of approximately HK$7,035,000
(2023: reversal of impairment allowance of approximately
HK$4,811,000), was due to change in probability of default and
loss given default during the year.

A maturity profile of the loan receivables at the end of the
reporting period, based on the maturity date, net of impairment
loss allowance under expected credit loss model, is as follows:

28. BUWSFR %)

EEERENEERBEEHANELE
EERERATEKRERNFERBEERE -

B0 BAE ERE A K B V)R FERR LA R
EERRITERZIZM(E R D
BUER BHEEBEENGESHES
RARKI12EA AR EELERENEMNE
HOFERENEREEBRE I
5 MEE B RERREERRBRER
MTE-—EERDERREESEER
B AIBEBREEERREFEDMMNE
HEEREtE  MERESHREE
BME(TE=KEER])  AEREEBEER
BEERRNEREEBEFE - — K

MmE - 2 RKE KBRS
EERREEIEN -

R-Z-—MF+=-A=+—H  :H=E
U B Fh (B B #8E #9 7,035,000/ T (=&
= BB R E B 494,811,000 %
T0)  RERFRELB R KEHEBLD
BT ©

R E R EEERBIBBER - 2
HiH (AR TR E BRI E AR T AR E
BEER)FENT

2024 2023

—E-MEF ZEZ=F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Within one year —F A 56,711 49,968
On the second to fifth year inclusive MEA HBERBERF 54,566 52,435
111,277 102,403
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29. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

At 31 December 2024, included in bank balances consists of no
restricted bank deposits (2023: approximately HK$5,328,000).

At 31 December 2024 and 2023, bank balances and cash held
by the Group at prevailing market rates. The maturities of bank
balances and bank deposits are within three months.

Bank balances and bank deposits carry interest at average
market rates of 0.3% (2023: 0.3%) per annum.

At 31 December 2024, conversion of the Group’s bank
balances and cash denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately RMB3,469,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,696,000) (2023: RMB17,484,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$18,883,000)) into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities denominated to which they relate:

us$ ET
RMB
GBP g

29- iE .--uﬁ#&IQE
RZZE_MNF+-—A=+—8H" ﬁﬁi
BRI FBEIBRGRTER(ZZ ==
1 #95,328,0007T) °

RZEZNFR-_ZZTZ_=F+=A
=+—H BOEHREEAEEREERE
RIS R EMNRE - BITHEH IR
TEZRR =B ARNE -

RITERRBITERIROIE(ZF
F : 03FE)HFIMISFMEGE -

RZZB-_WNE+ZA=+—H  #FX&%
BIAARBFENRITERLRESHA
R #3,469,000 7T (16 & 17 493,696,0008
T ZZE =% AR¥17,484,0007C
(*H”‘ﬁ(\i@w 883,000/8 7T ) ) S ¥ 2 SN
AXPBEIMNEER GO N AEE - EER
NEERMRER -

RITHEBERASERETINEEERE
BOMREEB AN EBTHEN S

2023
—E-=F

HK$'000
TAETT

3,635 1,489
41 35
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30. &[T B AR H fth & {4 3R1A

30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023
—EBoNE - =F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET AT
Trade payables (Note (a)) EREZER (M it@) 54,682 61,967
Accrued expenses FEETFAX 31,037 28,000
Other payables E A RIE 60,800 45,620
Other tax payables EAtbfERTRIE 1,875 755
Deposit received BUIES 96,055 120,223
Contract liabilities (Note (b)) ARaEM D) 82,565 87,715
272,332 282,313
327,014 344,280

Notes: Hit -
(@)  An ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date (@ MWMEHKR BERHESEFREEA

HIBRE AT LT

at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 2023

—E-mEF —E=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Within 30 days or on demand 30H IR EK 11,508 15,294
31to 90 days 31£290H 13,548 12,751
91 days to 1 year 91IRE—F 26,669 29,874
Over 1 year i —F 2,957 4,048
54,682 61,967

The average credit period on purchases of goods is ranging from
30 to 90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies
in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit

timeframe.

BEERNTHEERNFIOHEN
B o REEREMBEREEBR - A
ERATE BN RIEBRNMEE ARSI
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30. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)  30. [E{1 S 3R R H fth [& {4 FRIA

(%)
Notes: (Continued) Bzt : (&)
(@)  (Continued) @ (&)
Included in trade and other payables are the following amounts ERNEZEREEMENFIERE TS
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of AR S EE B BB AN ETE
the relevant group entities to which they relate: TMEREEE -
2023
ZECI=F
HK$'000
FHT
uss$ E = 504
(b)  The Group has recognised the following revenue-related b)) AEEEHERATEESEBENGOE
contract liabilities: & :
2023
ZEC=F
HK$'000
FHT
Sales of silicone rubber and HEERB RIEEER
related products 7,683 946
Online marketing solution services &7 IR R RS 74,882 86,769
82,565 87,715
Contract liabilities as at 1 January 2023 was approximately RIZBZ=F—-A—-HNEHBENAR
HK$1,275,000. Contract liabilities primarily consist of the 1,275,000 7T - A BEEFERERR
unrecognised revenue on online marketing solution services TERTH) 7 & SE AR R 5 RARTS P AR HERR
from the amount prepaid by customers, where there is still an e - BRAWEDBEAREEATRRME
implied obligation to be provided by the Group. R ER -
Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the advance AEENSHABFERERFERS
payments made by customers while the underlying services are BR7% i AR IR UL R TR AT A FRIE ©
yet to be provided.
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities AR B &R W
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised TR RATRE B TR A Yo P B A
in the current reporting period relates to carried-forward BANABEEENSE -

contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised that was included in -~ st A— A —BAKHABEEREN
the contract liabilities balance at 1 January 2 #ERUL S

— Sales of silicone rubber and related —HERRB RAEEES
products 946 911
- Online marketing solution services — R SRR RRTE 86,769 -

87,715 911
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31.BORROWINGS 31. 8%
2024 2023
—ENE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Current B
Unsecured other borrowings I E A R 11,495 16,202
Unsecured bank borrowings EIIRRITE R 22,716 8,910
Secured other borrowings BEPEAMER 103,490 97,739
Secured bank borrowings BEIPIRITHE K 26,691 25,500
164,392 148,351
Non-current E155 80
Unsecured other borrowings EIR R E AL S K 1,069 -
Unsecured bank borrowings ERIRTI TN 15,345 8,505
Secured other borrowings HEPEAMER 1,495 2,255
17,909 10,760
Carrying amounts repayable (based on JEEEMERmMEENRERK
scheduled repayment dates set out WEREtEEZRBH) -
in the loan agreements):
Within 1 year —FR 164,392 148,351
More than 1 year but not more than 2 years —4ELA_F{E BB 4E 2,564 3,130
More than 2 years but not more than 5 years 4 HETBBRE 15,345 -
More than 5 years RENALE - 7,630
182,301 159,111
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31.BORROWINGS (continued) 31. 18R
The effective interest rates on the Group's borrowings ranged REBERNERFRNENT195EE
from 1.95% to 14.00% (2023: 3.00% to 14.00%) per annum. 14.00EB(ZF==%F :3.00EZ14.00E) °
As at 31 December 2024, investment properties located in RZZEZWNE+_A=+—80 " K@
Hong Kong under medium-term lease with carrying value of B 4916,0000008 5L (=T = = F :
approximately HK$16,000,000 (2023: HK$21,000,000) have been 21,000,000 70) fI R & & IR h ERFH &
pledged to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group. BENEEDES FRIF  (EAAEE
FTERRTTE A ELR -
As at 31 December 2024, included in property, plant R-ZE-_WNE+_A=+—H ¥%-
and equipment of approximately HK$31,253,000 (2023: B M % 4931,253,0008 T (ZFE ==
HK$40,019,000) and right-of-use assets of approximately F : 40,019,000 7T ) K {55 A #E & E %Y
HK$43,136,000 (2023: HK$55,237,000) are leasehold land and 43,136,000/ 7T ( ZZF = =4 : 55,237,000
building located in PRC under medium-term lease which have B BEREMAPREEEPHEEREN
been pledged to secure the other borrowings granted to the METHREF HETUER - ER
Group. N B P R A B RV HEAR o
32.LEASE LIABILITIES 32. 5 61&
2023
—E_=F
HK$'000
FAT
Within 1 year —F A 14,151 17,291
Within a period of more than 1year butnot —% M H{BFBBE -F2
exceeding 2 years HAFE N 7,699 14,815
Within a period of more than 2 years butnot —&F M HETBBERFZ
exceeding 5 years HIR 981 22,169
Within a period of more than 5 years AFEL 7 BN - 17,881
22,831 72,156

Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 B ORBBERI2EAR
months shown under current liabilities R HA%EE 2 708 (14,151) (17,291)

Amount due for settlement after 12 months  3ERENE BT 12(E A%

shown under non-current liabilities T HAsEE 2 k1B 8,680 54,865
The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied EAREEA RN INETHIE S ERF
to lease liabilities range from 4.11% to 10.58% (2023: 3.45% t0 EBAN%E10.58%( T = =F : 3.45%
10.58%). £10.58%) °
Lease obligations are denominated in the functional currencies HEEBUEBREEEENEEEE

of the relevant group entities. B -
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33.

34.

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised and issued share capital

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each

TEF A=t HIEFE

33. IRk
ZEERBEETIRIK

Number of shares
REEE

2024

—E-mE
‘000
TR

BREEIATNEER

Share capital

RA
2024
“EoNE
HK$'000
TR

2023
“T-=F
HK$'000
TEL

Authorised: Y
As at 1 January and 31 December M —A—HE+=A

=+—H 20,000,000 20,000,000 20,000,000 20,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BRITREHE
Asat 1 January “—A—H 1,306,767 1,306,767 130,677 130,677
Issue of shares (Note) BIRG (W) 6,700 - 670 -
As at 31 December ®W+-A=+—H 1,313,467 1,306,767 131,347 130,677
Note: On 10 December 2024, the Company issued and allotted a total et - —F-mE+—ATH  ARARR

of 6,700,000 shares of HK$0.1 each in the Company to the
shareholders who elected to receive shares in the Company
in lieu of cash for the corporate services fee pursuant to the
announcement of the Company on 22 November 2024. These
shares rank pari passu in all respects with other shares in issue.

%F?M‘Jﬁf\_q_miJr A=+=
A EREBREARRBRDNRE R
¥RBEERSMBBHTREREHE
6,700,000 % & f% E{E0.178 TR AN A &)
B85 - SR IERTE H EEE M B 5

TR =E RS -
DEFERRED INCOME 34. BIEUW A

2024 2023

—E-EF —E=F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FTHET FHET

At 1 January n—AH—H 1,760 1,890
Exchange realignment b 5 SR (29) 2
Credited to profit or loss FrAEE (130) (132)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H 1,601 1,760
In 2013, the Group received a government grant of RZZE—ZF AEBERBESOHE

approximately HK$2,962,000 from 2 5= ™ & £ £ fif / for
the development of high resolution flexible circuit board
technology. During the year ended 31 December 2024, deferred
income of approximately HK$130,000 (2023: HK$132,000) has
been recognised for this government grant in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

ZUEEBBRRXMEBIR=HRERME
% T 492,962,000 THRF MBI E - &
E-FT_NFEFT_A=+—HLEFE -
BT AKI130,0008 T (Z T =4 :
132,000/ 7T) B Bt BUF B & N ER & 1B

MRFER
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35. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 35. EERIAEE als

The following are the analysis of the deferred tax balances for T AIMEHRE B TRERIELL R
financial reporting purposes: DT
2024 2023
—E-NEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Deferred tax assets RIETIEE B 400 441
Deferred tax liabilities FETIERE (1,959) (2,784)
(1,559) (2,343)
The following are the major deferred tax (assets)/liabilities REENBEFEECHERANTEELR
recognised and movements thereof during the current and HEE) BEREZSHNT :
prior years:

Deferred

Unrealised income
(profits)/ Changein arising from
losson fair value of government

inventories  properties grants

BRfEE

FENRER MEMN EEMN
(&%) B8  AVEED EEBA #@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT TR THT
As at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%—H—H 25 2,784 (473) 2,336
Exchange realignment S n - - (1) (1)
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (FFAB%R) B BEMk (25) - 3 8

As at 31 December 2023 and RZEZ=F+-A=+—H

1 January 2024 k=E-mEF—-A—H - 2,784 (441) 2,343
Exchange realignment P 5 AR - - 9 9
(Credit) charge to profit or loss (T ABm) BEENR - (825) 32 (793)

As at 31 December 2024 RZZE-ME+-A=+—H - 1,959 (400) 1,559
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35.

36.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to the profits of the PRC
subsidiaries amounting to approximately HK$15,664,000 (2023:
approximately HK$12,702,000) as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$388,509,000 (2023:
HK$380,461,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in estimated
unused tax losses are losses of approximately HK$312,430,000
(2023: HK$288,683,000) that will expire in 5 years from the year
of origination in which no estimated unused tax losses expired
during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. Other
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

CONVERTIBLE BOND

On 21 July 2023, the Company and the convertible bondholders
(the “Subscriber”) entered into the subscription agreement
(the “Subscription Agreement”), pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to issue, and the Subscriber
has agreed to subscribe for, the convertible bond (the
“Convertible Bond") in the aggregate principal amount of
HK$40,000,000. The Convertible Bond will be matured on 20
July 2026 (the “Maturity Date”).

Based on the initial Conversion Price of HK$0.257 per
Conversion Share, an aggregate of 155,642,023 Conversion
Shares will be allotted and issued by the Company upon
the exercise in full of the conversion rights attaching to the
Convertible Bond, representing: (a) approximately 11.91%
of the existing issued share capital of the Company; and
(b) approximately 10.64% of the issued share capital of the
Company as enlarged by the issue of the Conversion Shares,
assuming there is no other change in the issued share capital
of the Company between the date of this report and the full
conversion of the Convertible Bond.

35.

36.
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EEfaEE afEw)

RIBEERMEVOE - TEMBRAFH=
TENF-A - HRARAEENE K
M SBATENT - AEEY BERES
B R Rt BB A RN T E L
B BB 1 2 FE £915,664,0008 T (—F
— =% : #912,702,000/ 7T ) FHR BT
TREE - RESAEE R M H 3 e
REZHRNRE BZSEREZHED
RAIBER A R ASIREE M o

RIpEHR - AEERNGEFTARBARE
B8 497/5388,509,0008 T (ZE =4 :
380,461,000 7T ) + AT A 72 8 R O 0k
FI o BB AR 2R A AR A9 ] BRI
M EERECHBEE - ArtRE A
T IH 548 B 95 49312,430,000/8 T ( = =
— =14 : 288,683,000/8 7T ) MR - E ¥
RELEFERASFRER  MBEE_Z
THERZFEZ=FF+A=+T—HL
FEIHEGFTRDARESERR - &
i 598 A] £EBR B A5 S o

o[ iRi&%
NRZZE_=%F+A=-+—8 AQ"FH
AR ESHEEA(RBADRILRE
wE([RBHRE]) - B ARFES
BFKHREBTEAREACRERELRS
488 /40,000,00078 7T B AT IR (E 5 ([ 7]
BBRESR])  c TRBREHFBER_ZT=N
FEAZ+REE(EHA]) -

RIE VR ERE SR ERRH0.257
B REBEBITETRBRESATM®
[tz  RARBEEREITEH
155,642,023 Mt iz fn - HE R : (@7
NEPRBBEEITRAL11.91% Kb
BITEBRMHEREHAAR D EITR
AR#I10.64% (A% B AN SRS HHEAZE AT A%
BEFERHERPHARREETRA
Wi E b)) o
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36. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 36. oJiRlRi&% #)

The initial Conversion Price of HK$0.257 represents: (i) a
premium of 2.8% over the closing price of HK$0.250 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of signing of the
Subscription Agreement; and (ii) the average closing price of
HK$0.257 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the
five trading days immediately prior to the date of signing of the
Subscription Agreement.

The Convertible Bond entitle the holders to convert them
into ordinary shares of the Company as a conversation price
of HK$0.257 per share three months after the date of issue
of the Convertible Bond and up to five Business Days before
the Maturity Date. Unless previously redeemed, converted,
purchase and cancelled, all convertible bond outstanding on
maturity date shall be repaid by the Company at its principal
amount outstanding on Maturity Date plus accrued interest.

The Convertible Bond may not be repaid or redeemed by the
Bondholder before the Maturity Date in any event.

Upon receiving a Conversion Notice by a Bondholder, the
Company shall be entitled by written notice to the Bondholder
to be given within five Business Days of the date of the relevant
Conversion Notice to redeem the Convertible Bond or such
part of the subject of such Conversion Notice rather than to
issue the relevant Shares, the amount payable on redemption
in such case shall be the Conversion Price.

The Convertible Bond shall bear interest at the rate of 10%
per annum from the date of issuance and will be payable by
the Company (a) half-yearly in arrears after the issuance date
of the Convertible Bond; and (b) on the date of redemption,
conversion or maturity. In the event that the Bondholder
has converted part or whole of the principal amount of the
Convertible Bond, the Bondholder shall be entitled to interest
in respect of only such part of the remaining principal amount
of the Convertible Bond for which the Bondholder has not
converted into Conversion Shares.

The Convertible Bond contain two components, liability and
equity component. The effective interest rate of the liability
component is 17.95%.

VIR R(E0257 B THER « ((BEZE
REBWAE AT RE R YT
B0.250/8 04 (B2.8% : () BENAE
% B B AT T8 52 5 A B 22 P P R 15
Wi B REAR0.257 87T

AR E R T RE AR - R A HRAR
BEHFETARR=EARN NI Y AR
ZHEERA - UER0257ETA KB
EBREEBRAARRAE B - RIEEE
B8k BEREHE AR
BBTESN AT BREFGH AR AIE
M B BITEINO A IIERT A BMEE o

EEABRT  EFHEANSESH
B AR s 8 Bl AT R AE 75 o

REEEFFEANLBRBRE - AR
BIAREEERE N R B R A

FAREFKAEAZHEEAMN B[R
AT E SR SRk B A R AL
MmIFBTHBERD - FUBERT - BEE
RS MRS R R L IE -

AR RE 75 B 1T A IR IR 10%H) 7
KEHR - WARARB R (@) A AR E 53
TTEBMEREFF  ROED - ik
Hlz AXfY - EBESFHE AR g
BEEFNBOXEEHAE - AESFR
BAEARMEFFHAARL BB LR
BAn VAT BB S RIS A S ESHE, o

AgkEFESRAERESMERTD
BEBOMERNER17.95%
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36. CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 36. ol{aRGiES #)
The movements of the liability and equity components of the AgmREFzBERER DR @E
convertible bond during the reporting period are set out below: N2 BEBHIINT
Liability Equity
component  component Total
aER? ) Mgt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
As at 1 January 2023 RZTEZ=%—H—H - - -
Issue during the year EREBT 33,463 6,537 40,000
Imputed interest expense (Note 12)  #EFS R (#7212) 1,345 - 1,345
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=%+=ZA=+—H 34,808 6,537 41,345
Imputed interest expense (Note 12)  HEE R S5 (4:7712) 4,222 = 4,222
Interest payable FERTH 2 (4,000) = (4,000)
As at 31 December 2024 RZEZWF+=RA=+—H 35,030 6,537 41,567
No convertible bond were converted into ordinary shares of the HE_T-_NWFRER_T-=F+=A8
Company during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. =+—H JJ:$F‘ AR (E S S5
No redemption, purchase or cancellation by the Company has BANELER BE_T_NFER=
been made in respect of the convertible bond during the years = __E—i— A=+—BLFE  &ARQ

ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. AIBEIED - BEE IR ES
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37.RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows
as cash flows from financing activities.

37. g FMEENaRHE

TRAMFPLAEEREETDHELRE
WEH  BRERENERSEY - GBE
ERELENAEBEARESREELHKRK
RenEgnEaliengxkoER
Fﬂﬁ/ﬁ@)@ifﬂﬁumimﬁ@\ °

Interest
payables
(including in
Convertible other Lease
Borrowings bond payables) liabilities
FEASFIS
(BfEHME
Ay UERESF  EGRE) HEEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT THT TAT FBT THAT
As at 1 January 2023 R-E-=%—HF—H 196,309 - - 64,954 261,263
Financing cash flow BEHRSME (38,188) 40,000 (18,239) (13,422) (29,849)
Acquisition of a subsidiary g — R B A A
(Note 38) (fz#38) - - - 838 838
New lease arrangement FHERH - - - 17,254 17,254
Interest expense incurred BEARSHAY - 1,345 24,838 4,366 30,549
Convertible bond - equity RRES - ERSH
component - (6,537) - - (6,537)
Exchange realignment Ea 990 - (131) (1,834) (975)
Asat31December2023and ~ R-ZT==fF
1 January 2024 +—H‘+ AR
—E-F—-A—H 159,111 34,808 6,468 72,156 272,543
Financing cash flow BEARGRE 25,953 - (8,340) (20,982) (3,369)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39) UBE KB A 7)(#7:239) - - = (42,231) (42,231)
New lease arrangement gL = = = 9,117 9,117
Interest expense incurred BEANSHY - 4,222 20,246 3,813 28,281
Interest payables JEFIFI8 - (4,000) = = (4,000)
Exchange realignment B 5 AR (2,763) - 460 958 (1,345)
As at 31 December 2024 RZTE
+-A=1+—H 182,301 35,030 18,834 22,831 258,996
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38. i —RiliEAS]

38. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

a.

Acquisition of Ekau (UK) Ltd

On 18 November 2024, the Group acquired 100% of the
issued share capital of Ekau (UK) Ltd from independent
third party for consideration of HK$14,989,000 (equivalent
to GBP1,513,000), provided that the loan to independent
third party is waived and discharged in full upon
completion of this acquisition. This acquisition has been
accounted for using the acquisition method. The amount
of gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of a subsidiary
arising as a result of the acquisition was approximately
HK$317,000. Ekau (UK) Ltd is engaged in retail services in
the UK.

The acquisition has been completed on 18 November
2024.

a.

Ix#BEkau (UK) Ltd

RZEBE-_WMF+—A+NAH &
£ B 50578 =7 B Ekau (UK)
Ltd B 100% B BTl A - RE A
14,989,000 7T (A& 71,513,000
) BT EZHIRHNER
RZWESEEXEREEHRE R
fERR o sZ IS BRI R IE AT
SR EIE - WRBEMELMIKEE
—HNB AR FEEERESEY
/317,000 7T © Ekau (UK) Ltd7E 3
B ETERY -

WEEHER_T_ME+—A
TNAHZEX °

HK$'000
FHET
Consideration RE
Consideration transferred, satisfied by waiver of loan BEZER(E @ LWHRERES 14,989

HK$'000
TAT

Fair value of assets and liabilities recognised RUEAHEIANESEREE

at the date of acquisition: DEE
Property, plant and equipment M - B MR 941
Inventories FE 588
Trade and other receivables JE W B 5 BR 50 I LAt FE R R IE 13,579
Bank balances and cash RITEBRRRE 230
Trade and other payables FET B 5 8RR R Bt FE A 5R0B (32)
Total fair value of identifiable net assets acquired i B A B E FE 2 AT E
4BRE 15,306
Goodwill arising on acquisition KEEEEENHE
HKS
BIT
Consideration transferred BEEAE 14,989
Less: net assets acquired B BEREEEESE (15,306)
Gain on bargain purchase on acquisition of a W —HEMEBRRMNRERE NG
subsidiary (317)
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38. iiE—RiMiB ATl 2)

38. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

(Continued)
a. Acquisition of Ekau (UK) Ltd (continued)

Net cashflow inflow on acquisition of Ekau (UK)
Ltd

I88Ekau (UK) Ltd(#)

W BEEkau (UK) LtdBIREFRA
RE

HK$'000
TET

Cash consideration paid ENEeRE

Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired A TREER S KR e SEMER 230

230

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2024, included in
the loss for the year of the Group is an approximate
net profit of HK$569,000 attributable to the additional
business generated by Ekau (UK) Ltd.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2024,
total revenue of the Group for the year would have been
approximately HK$976,504,000, and loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$52,614,000. The pro-
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 January 2024, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and profit of the
Group Ekau (UK) Ltd had been acquired at the beginning
of the current year, the Directors calculated depreciation
of property, plant and equipment based on the
recognised amounts of property, plant and equipment at
the date of the acquisition.

WEBEEEREEEENTE
BE-_Z-_WNF+-_A=+—8HIt
FE - AEBEFANEESEEKau

(UK) Ltd BT 48 & BE 5P X 75 e 1A 4 7
569,000/ 7T

W EEBEER _ZE_NF—A—
A5 - AEBERFRNBKERLD
£976,504,000/8 7T + M F A E G
#9/552,614,000/8 7T ° #=E ExHE
HHR  ABREA T -_NF—
A— Euﬂzﬁ%%IﬁnméZl&E@,\Bﬂ
FEXETS 2 Wias M AR & BB 2 481T
DI %ﬁf’ﬁkx%ﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁu

RETEASBECRAFENKE
Ekau (UK) Ltd&91E 5 T8l 8% J 4k
@R ME - BEERBWERASD

RHME - BEIRESEAE
M BB RREOIE -
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38. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 38. liiE—FMfiE S #)
(Continued)
b. Acquisition of Beijing Jusheng b. WEIRE&
On 1 April 2023, the Group acquired 40% of the issued RZE-_=FMWA—H ' AEEH
share capital of Beijing Jusheng from independent third BUE=FWEILtREE D #T
parties for consideration of HK$15,820,000 (equivalent f& 2 #40% - 1B £ 15,820,000
to RMB14,000,000). This acquisition has been accounted 7T (FEE 7 A R #14,000,0007T) °
for using the acquisition method. The amount of goodwill ZWEEERAWE R EITEEE
arising as a result of the acquisition was approximately 2o WREEBEMEEANEESEY
HK$20,552,000. Beijing Jusheng is engaged in online #20,552,000/ 7 - It REEAHRE
marketing solution services. KR B SHERA T SRARTE o
The acquisition has been completed on 1 April 2023. WEEBER-_TE-_=ZFMA—AH
FERK ©
HK$'000
FAET
Consideration RE
Consideration transferred, satisfied by cash DEERE DRSS 15,820

HK$'000
T

Fair value of assets and liabilities recognised RUEBHHREINEERERS

at the date of acquisition: ATE:
Property, plant and equipment mE - WE MR 232
Right-of-use assets FREEE 833
Prepayment and other receivables TE RIA R L Ath B GR IR 160,029
Bank balances and cash IRITEBRERS 3,070
Contract liabilities ABHBE (121,307)
Other payables E At RIA (53,856)
Lease liabilities HEBE (838)

Total fair value of identifiable net liabilities acquired ~ PRREED Al B &EFEZ AFE

k) (11,831)
Goodwill arising on acquisition KEEEEENEE
HK$'000
FAT
Consideration transferred EEERE 15,820
Add: net liabilities acquired o S aEEE 11,831
Less: non-controlling interest (60% of net assets in W IR ER (RNIEREA
Beijing Jusheng) 60%FEE) (7,099)

Goodwill arising on acquisition WHEEERNEE 20,552
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38. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY 38. IxiE—MEMEAS (#)

(Continued)
b. Acquisition of Beijing Jusheng (continued) b. WEIIREB&#E)

Net cash outflow on acquisition of Beijing Jusheng

WL REENR SR HFE

HK$'000
TET

Cash consideration paid BfRERE (15,820)
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances acquired A TR RIReEEMER 3,070
(12,750)

Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2023, included in
the loss for the year of the Group is an approximate
net profit of HK$6,918,000 attributable to the additional
business generated by Beijing Jusheng.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2023,
total revenue of the Group for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,513,299,000, and loss for the year
would have been approximately HK$86,525,000. The pro
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on
1 January 2023, nor is it intended to be a projection of
future results.

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and profit of
the Group Beijing Jusheng had been acquired at the
beginning of the current year, the Directors calculated
depreciation of property, plant and equipment based
on the recognised amounts of property, plant and
equipment at the date of the acquisition.

WEEEHAREEEENTE
BE-_E-_=F+-_A=+—HIt
FE OAEBFABESEILR
EAFEEBEINETSEESTD
6,918,000/ 7T ©

HKBFERON T -_=F—A—
BTERK - AR5 B0 R A R R 4
7$1,513,299,000/ 7T M F N EHE
1% #) /386,525,000 7T - #EEH
EHEHH  ARBRER_FT_=F
—A-BREBEFETNEAEEE
RERESZWmREEREZHE
132 I BHERIREAE ZTEA -

RETEASECRAFENKE
EREENBERTHMEE Mtk
EAE - EFRREWERCER
WWE - BEMRBTETEY
¥ BEMREHNITE -
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39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEMiE A S)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group disposed HE_Z-_MNMF+_A=+—HIF
of its entire interests in East Shack Ltd. and its subsidiaries to g - REBE R East Shack Ltd. & E
independent third party, which is engaged in retail services in BRAANEZIERELE TELE =7
the UK. BN FE = IR RN EEERT o
The disposal was completed on 18 November 2024, on which HEEHERZZE-_NF+—A+NH
date, control of East Shack Ltd. was passed to independent 5ehk » [B B - East Shack Ltd. B9 HI#EE
third party. The net assets of East Shack Ltd. at the date of B TR = )5 ° East Shack Ltd. A H
disposal are as follows: EHHNEEFENT

HK$'000

FETT

Consideration received: BUERIE -
Cash received BUEIR & 3,053
Consideration receivable FEURAE 97
Total consideration received BUEENRE 3,150

HK$'000
TET

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which REEGHENEEREBED N
control was lost:

Property, plant and equipment Y - BB R E 14,935
Right-of-use assets EREEE 36,180
Goodwill [EES 2,166
Inventories ESS 4,455
Trade and other receivables FEUR B 5 BR 51 I ELAth FE U R IR 6,601
Bank balances and cash RITEBRIR S 4,725
Trade and other payables ERTE SRR R E MR HKIE (13,434)
Lease liabilities HEAE (42,237)

Net assets disposed of EHEEETE 13,397




210 TA YANG GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
RO ISR R MY 5E

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 BE_—Z-MNFE+_A=+—HILFE

39. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 39. HEMiIB S (%)
HK$'000
FiBT
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBQRMNEE :
Consideration received and receivable BYE R R AE 3,150
Less: Net assets disposed of W BN EEEFE (13,397)
Add: Non-controlling interests N SEEARE R 6,708
Add: Cumulative exchange reserve of the N REEWER ARG B B
subsidiaries reclassified from profit or loss on REHDENNBARIRIER
loss on control of the subsidiaries i (2,603)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARMNEE (6,142)
An analysis of net cash inflow of bank balances and cash in BRTEMBRARMNBITEARESH
respect of disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: FREBRADWUOT ¢
HK$'000
FBTT
Cash consideration received BUEESNRE 3,053
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BERERITHEBRERS (4,725)

Net cash inflow of bank balances and cash IRITHEB MRS FRESRA (1,672)
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 40. FERL KR
Compensation of key management personnel FT2EIRASIREN
The emoluments paid to the Directors, who are the key MEZ(MAEEETEEBEAE)ZMNZ
management of the Group, are included in note 18(a). Bl 3 AAFTEE18(a) °

41.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 41. B RIE

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F

HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT

Capital expenditure contracted for butnot 7S IEBHI D FT4E AR
provided for in the consolidated financial e mRBEENER
statements in respect of: FX :
— Acquisition of property, plant and —WEEmE - BE REE
equipment 6,936 5,131
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42.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SRS IR &MEE

OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets ERBEE

42. Kk

2024
—E-lmEF

Notes HK$’'000
Bt FHET

alfVfT FSIRR %=

2023

—E=F

HK$°000
TAT

Plant and equipment W5 K& 1,031 2,219
Right-of-use assets FREEE 4,908 5,377
Investment in subsidiaries RETB AR E 124,170 124,170
130,109 131,766
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b e SR IE 11,863 11,141
Amounts due from subsidiaries ~ FEURHTE A FIFUE ) 141,362 132,512
Bank balances and cash RITHS ﬁ%&iﬁfi\ 330 464
153,555 144,117
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables H A e ERIE 22,395 10,901
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEASH I B A | 50E (a) 5,603 278,053
Lease liabilities HERE 304,309 2,802
332,307 291,756
Net current liabilities mENBEFE (178,752) (147,639)
Total assets less current liabilities &EAZER RSB E (48,643) (15,873)
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share Capital i 131,347 130,677
Reserve (=] () (215,069) (184,209
Total equity ERBE (83,722) (53,532)
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Convertible bond AT AR E 35,030 34,808
Lease liabilities HEaE 49 2,851
Total non-current liabilities FREBAEERE 35,079 37,659
(48,643) (15,873)
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42.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 42. KA SN AR E 2
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

(@) Amounts due from/(to) subsidiaries (@) MU (FERT)FIEBLAIIFRIE
The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and BERBREER  £ERIEEXK
repayable on demand. B -

(b) Reserves (b) &

Capital  Convertible
Share  redemption  bond equity Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total

TR RS
BiEE BARDGE Bk R it
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TiEL

Asat 1 January 2023 R=E-=%-A-H 761380 2420 - (919,575) (155,775)
Loss and total comprehensive expense  FREFERZERTEE

for the year - - - (34.971) (34.971)
Recognition of equity component of EATAREFERTD

convertible bond - - 6,537 - 6,937
As at 31 December 2023 and St

1 January 2024 TZRA=t-AR

“Z2-NE-F-H 761,380 2,420 6,537 (954,546) (184,209)

Loss and total comprehensive expense  EREBRR2ERTEE

for the year - - - (30,860) (30,860)
As at 31 December 2024 R-B-ME

+ZA=1+-H 761,380 2,420 6,537 (985,406) (215,069)
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 43. X EMiE AT
Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company at the RIFEHR - ARFHFAENEEMNER
end of the reporting periods are as follows: RIFFBAT -

Place of
incorporation/ Issued share
establishment Class of capital/registered Attributable equity
Name of subsidiary and operation  shares held capital interest of the Group  Principal activities
HMRL/

RAEK BRTRA/
HEARZHE EEihE Pl 48R HHER AEEEERAER FEEH
2024 2023
—ECME -—T-=F

Ta Yang Silicone Rubber Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Trading of silicone
Industrial Company rubber
Limited

RFEGEBIZERAR  BE Lk 1,000,00057C BEER

Chief Ocean Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100% Provision of

management
services

HABRRLA BA LiEk T REERES

Ta Yang Medical Investment  Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$20,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Limited ("Ta Yang
Medical")

AFBEREERARIKR &F LEk 20,000,000 7T BEER
HERE])

Ta Yang Group Limited BVI/HongKong  Ordinary shares US$11,930,811 100% 100% Investment holding

AFEEBRAA RERLBE/ LRk 11930811 BEER

Top View Investment BVI/HongKong  Ordinary shares US$1 100% 100% Investment holding
Holdings Limited

ERREZRERAA RBRRES/ LAR (E BEER

Dongguan Ta Yang Silicone  The PRC (note i) Contributed capital HK$86,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of
Rubber Industrial silicone rubber
Company Limited

RENFHBRRERAR  RE(HiL) HABR 86,000,00057C SEER

Huzhou Ta Yang Electronic ~ The PRC (note i) - Contributed capital US$38,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of
Technology Company silicone rubber
Limited

WMKFETRRARAR PEMZ)  BAEK 38,000,000% 7T RERR
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEAREE

Dongguan Tai Yang Rubber
Plastic Company Limited
("Dongguan Tai Yang")

RERNFRERRBRAR
(E-Ev:3))

RE(BE)REEXERA
RAA

=HARRBEARAR

EREEMBEARAR

WTS 2020 Limited

RAFERL (1)

ERARAT

East Shack Ltd.

Notes:

Place of
incorporation/
establishment
and operation
R
KR
B

The PRC (note i)

RE(Hrti)

The PRC (note i)
RE(Hrati)

The PRC (note ii)
B (Hii)

The PRC

(note iif, iv)
R B (i~ v)
United Kingdom
RE
The PRC

(Note i)
B (Hiatii)
United Kingdom

++@

Class of
shares held

Frs R &R

Contributed capital

BAEK

Contributed capital
NN

Contributed capital
BAER

Contributed capital
BAER
Contributed capital
BAER
Contributed capital
YNV
Contributed capital

CUN-UN

43. X BB =)

Issued share
capital/registered
capital

BERTRA/
HEA

HK$130,000,000

130,000,000/ 7T

RMB150,000,000
A #150,000,0007

RMB50,000,000
ARH50,000,0007C

RMB16,666,600
NEH16,666,6007
GBP1,001
1001548
US$$20,000,000
20,000,000%7%
GBP40,000

60,0005

(i) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affect the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

(i

(iif)

The subsidiary is a wholly-domestic owned enterprise.

The subsidiaries are wholly-owned foreign enterprise in the PRC.

Attributable equity
interest of the Group  Principal activities

TERE

Manufacturing of
silicone rubber

RERR

Healthcare service
BERERE

Hotel service
BIERE

Online marketing
solution service

5 L EHBATRRE

Trading of silicone
rubber

BERR

Investment holding

REER

Retalil service

TERS

FRINTEFRRIEXEREHNRE
KEENAKENBE LR - EERRF
FIE ML B QR BN &R ERENIT

EMBARARETENIIEEE D

AEBELRAER
2024 2023
—E-NE -—T-=F
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
40% 40%
100% 100%
100% -
(Note vi)
(Hratvi)
- 60%
(Note v)
(Hrztv)
st -
(i)
ﬁ °
iy &%
ES
@iy ZMBARARNEBENRE -

215
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43. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. F EiB LS (#)
Notes: (Continued) BiaE - (&)

(iv)

Vi)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered
into an investment agreement to acquire 40% equity interest
in Beijing Jusheng. Pursuant to the agreement, Beijing Jusheng
maintained a board composition of five directors and the Group
appointed three members to the board of directors of Beijing
Jusheng. The Group had obtained control over Beijing Jusheng is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with Beijing Jusheng and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over Beijing Jusheng. The Directors considered
it is appropriate to account for Beijing Jusheng as a subsidiary of
the Group.

The subsidiary was disposed of on 18 November 2024.

The subsidiary was established during the year ended 31
December 2024.

vy BE-_FT-_—"F+_A-+—HItF
[ - AREIIIRE W - WEILRE
HA0%RHE - IR F - L RBEMBE
RAZESMENNESE MAKEAY
ZE=ZBEKEMALREREEE - K
SEEREHILRER MG - kE
S 8IE R E R X M A R A S ]
BOE - WEENEBEHIEREAN
AR EZZOH - EEZRA > LR
EAERASENBARARBEE

v) ZMBRFER-_ZE-_MFE+—AF+N
AHE -

vy ZMBARIREBEZ-_T-_WM&F+=-A
=+ —HIEFERKTL °

44. FERIES

Bl B KRR E R A B A A
HS

44.NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material
non-controlling interests:

Proportion of ownership

interests and voting Profits (losses)
Place of rights held by non- allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary incorporation controlling interests  non-controlling interests  controlling interests
FERESTEERTA PEFFERESN
WEAR AR AR E L3t 2 B RRZRELA Al (B8) AR ER
2024 2023 2024 2024 2023
ZE-ME —T--F ZZC@EE - ZE_NFE C—T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Beijing Jusheng The PRC 60% 60% 2,276 4,151 (676) 2,951)
IRE% H
Individually immaterial 10,339 (2,825) (273) (3,905)
subsidiaries with (Note)
non-controlling interests (H=E)

AR ARl AN B AR

12,615 1,326 (949) (6,856)
Note: The profit allocated to non-controlling interests was mainly FMiaE B T IEIE IR 25 /90 F1) 3 2 2R B East

Shack Ltd. * EER == F+—A
+ N\ B & (MFE39) °

contributed by East Shack Ltd., which was disposed on 18
November 2024 (Note 39).

AREERAEE TR ELD - HiE5A
AR o LN a 4R & Bt
BERRKREERBHEAMNESER -

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of
Beijing Jusheng, which has material non-controlling interests
is set out below. The summarised consolidated financial
information below represents amounts before intergroup
elimination.
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44.NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

(Continued)

44. JEizhRiE

tREE

Beijing Jusheng

>z .
m(E)

From 1 January From 1 April
2024 to 2023 to
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
B=Z-lWFE BT _=F
—A—HEE WHR—RBRE
“ENEF —EC=F
+=A=+—-H +=A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Revenue Wz 627,161 912,058
Profit for the year FRE A 3,781 6,913
Total comprehensive income SHKZREE 3,793 6,918
Total comprehensive income allocated to DECE IR
non-controlling interests FHEWRERE 2,276 4,151
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests B IR RS AR S = -
Cash generated from (used in) operating LETEEMS(ATA) RS
activities 338 (16,528)
Cash used in investing activities KREESARS (31) -
Cash generated from financing activities BEEBFTSIRE 3,514 16,338
Net cash inflows (outflows) FIREMACEL) 3,821 (190)
As at 31 December ®+=A=+—H
Current assets MENEE 95,442 123,080
Non-current assets ERBEE 113 590
Current liabilities mEAE (96,681) (128,589)
Net liabilities BEFE (1,126) (4,919)
Accumulated non-controlling interests 2Ft IR ER (676) (2,951)




Financial Summary
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A summary of the results, and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited consolidated financial statements is set out below:
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AT BREEZG AU BHRRNAEEB
EREAVBRFENEEUREEREBERES
FIEAT

RESULTS E 37
Year ended Year ended Year ended Yearended  Year ended
31December  31December  31December 31 December 31 December
2023 2024
BE Bz
St S —E-ME
t=A=+-8 t=BR=+-A
IHFE ILEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TAr TEL TAr TET
Revenue Wz 354,190 362,528 343 541 1,213,830 970,061
Loss for the year/period F/HNER (95,825) (85,769) (98,904) (85,709) (53,139)
Attributable to: AL :
- owners of the Company RVAYNGIEZ 7PN (95,822) (84,901) (98,063) (88,035 (63,632)
- non-controlling interests —FEkER )] (867) (841) 2,326 10,493
(95,825) (85,768) (98,904) (85,709) (53,139)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ==

Asat As at Asat As at

31December 31 December 31December 31 December

2020 2024

S - Sl L1E2

/ tZA=t1-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET T T BT TET

Total assets BERE 786,340 783,449 641,517 699,186 616,021
Total liabilities BEES (508,138) (546,511) (505,137) 631,610) (585,622)
Total equity EaiEE 278202 241,938 136,380 67,576 30,399

Equity attributable to: ATATEGRES :

owners of the Company /NG 2N 275,060 242,460 137,463 74432 31,348
non-controlling interests FERER 3,142 (522) (1,083) (6,85) (949)
Total equity ERzeE 278,202 241,938 136,380 67576 30,399
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“Board”
[EF= ]

“Chairlady”
[ EFE ]

“Chief Executive Officer/CEQ”
(1T ]

“"Company”

EVNCIN

Z

“connected person(s)
“percentage ratio(s)’
“subsidiary(ies)”

[BEAT] [BoEIR
[ Ff A7)

and

“Directors”
[E%]

“Group”
[ZREH |

"HKS" “"HKD"
[Tl

“Hong Kong"
[&B]

“Listing Rules”
[ AR Al

“Model Code”
[E%esra )
“PRC”

(B

e
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the board of Directors of the Company
RRREEG

chairlady of the Board
EFgTE

chief executive officer of the Company
RRABHTHARE

Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability, whose Shares are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange

RNELREZBRARAF - —HRASESTMAZNBRAR - ERMH A
REFER LT

each has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

FEHAB LMARRIE T 2 RE

the directors of the Company
RARES

the Company and its subsidiaries
RAARREMEAF

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEEEEY

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
REEB TR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
B X PreE o5 AR Al

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
stated in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
LETRBIERCIFTHC LM BT AZEFTEITELFRR HHEESTR)

the People’s Republic of China (for the purpose of this report, excluding
Hong Kong, Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan)
FEARKMNE  BAFREME - TEEES  BPYSFIITHEREE
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“RMB”, “"Renminbi”

AR
“SFO"
[FE7 R EERA

“Shareholder(s)”
[ &R |

“Shares”
[ A&7 ]

“Stock Exchange”
[ B2 P

“the year”
[Fr]

noy
(%]
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Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
AR¥ - PEVEEEHY

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended or supplemented from time to time
BBEDIBST1EE 7 KB RD (T REET )

holder(s) of the Shares
B A

ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company
RABIRAR AR EEO. 1078 7T 8 BB AR

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BABERZFER AT

the year ended 31 December 2024
HE_Z-NME+_-_A=1+—HIFE

per cent
Bk
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